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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

TEXTRON INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions, except per share amounts)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Revenues
Manufacturing product revenues $ 2,608 $ 2,551 $ 7,745 $ 7,620 
Manufacturing service revenues 459 428 1,447 1,402 
Finance revenues 11 11 41 38 

Total revenues 3,078 2,990 9,233 9,060 
Costs, expenses and other
Cost of products sold 2,243 2,173 6,616 6,505 
Cost of services sold 341 313 1,101 1,041 
Selling and administrative expense 258 283 841 895 
Interest expense 31 33 96 109 
Non-service components of pension and postretirement income, net (59) (40) (180) (119)
Special charges — 10 — 20 
Gain on business disposition — — — (17)

Total costs, expenses and other 2,814 2,772 8,474 8,434 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 264 218 759 626 
Income tax expense 39 33 123 86 
Income from continuing operations 225 185 636 540 
Loss from discontinued operations — — (1) (1)
Net income $ 225 $ 185 $ 635 $ 539 
Basic Earnings per share
Continuing operations $ 1.06 $ 0.83 $ 2.96 $ 2.39 
Diluted Earnings per share
Continuing operations $ 1.06 $ 0.82 $ 2.94 $ 2.37 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TEXTRON INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Net income $ 225 $ 185 $ 635 $ 539 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Pension and postretirement benefits adjustments, net of reclassifications 18 30 52 90 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of reclassifications (97) (19) (201) (22)
Deferred gains (losses) on hedge contracts, net of reclassifications (8) (5) (4) 1 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (87) 6 (153) 69 
Comprehensive income $ 138 $ 191 $ 482 $ 608 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TEXTRON INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Assets
Manufacturing group
Cash and equivalents $ 1,817 $ 1,922 
Accounts receivable, net 836 838 
Inventories 3,817 3,468 
Other current assets 943 1,018 

Total current assets 7,413 7,246 
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation
   and amortization of $4,972 and $4,888, respectively 2,443 2,538 
Goodwill 2,262 2,149 
Other assets 3,173 3,027 

Total Manufacturing group assets 15,291 14,960 
Finance group
Cash and equivalents 67 195 
Finance receivables, net 566 605 
Other assets 32 67 

Total Finance group assets 665 867 

Total assets $ 15,956 $ 15,827 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Manufacturing group
Current portion of long-term debt $ 7 $ 6 
Accounts payable 887 786 
Other current liabilities 2,733 2,344 
Total current liabilities 3,627 3,136 
Other liabilities 1,930 2,005 
Long-term debt 3,176 3,179 
Total Manufacturing group liabilities 8,733 8,320 
Finance group
Other liabilities 81 110 
Debt 380 582 

Total Finance group liabilities 461 692 

Total liabilities 9,194 9,012 
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock 28 28 
Capital surplus 1,980 1,863 
Treasury stock (796) (157)
Retained earnings 6,492 5,870 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (942) (789)

Total shareholders’ equity 6,762 6,815 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 15,956 $ 15,827 

Common shares outstanding (in thousands) 209,067 216,935 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TEXTRON INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

For the Nine Months Ended October 1, 2022 and October 2, 2021, respectively

Consolidated

(In millions) 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Income from continuing operations $ 636 $ 540 
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to
   net cash provided by operating activities:

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization 288 285 
Deferred income taxes (183) 7 
Gain on business disposition — (17)
Other, net 77 85 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (23) 8 
Inventories (353) (164)
Other assets 105 (11)
Accounts payable 116 1 
Other liabilities 344 323 
Income taxes, net 44 26 
Pension, net (123) (62)
Captive finance receivables, net 29 152 

Other operating activities, net 6 1 

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations 963 1,174 
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations (2) (1)

Net cash provided by operating activities 961 1,173 
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (192) (204)
Net cash used in business acquisitions (201) — 
Net proceeds from corporate-owned life insurance policies 23 — 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 21 3 
Net proceeds from business disposition — 38 
Finance receivables repaid 21 19 
Other investing activities, net 44 17 
Net cash used in investing activities (284) (127)
Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in short-term debt (15) — 
Principal payments on long-term debt and nonrecourse debt (227) (615)
Purchases of Textron common stock (639) (586)
Dividends paid (13) (14)
Proceeds from options exercised 36 105 
Other financing activities, net (3) (2)

Net cash used in financing activities (861) (1,112)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents (49) (6)

Net decrease in cash and equivalents (233) (72)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 2,117 2,254 

Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 1,884 $ 2,182 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TEXTRON INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) (Continued)

For the Nine Months Ended October 1, 2022 and October 2, 2021, respectively

Manufacturing Group Finance Group

(In millions) 2022 2021 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Income from continuing operations $ 615 $ 537 $ 21 $ 3 
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to
   net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization 287 277 1 8 
Deferred income taxes (168) 9 (15) (2)
Gain on business disposition — (17) — — 
Other, net 85 93 (8) (8)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net (23) 8 — — 
Inventories (353) (164) — — 
Other assets 105 (10) — (1)
Accounts payable 116 1 — — 
Other liabilities 356 323 (12) — 
Income taxes, net 42 16 2 10 
Pension, net (123) (62) — — 

Other operating activities, net 6 1 — — 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of continuing operations 945 1,012 (11) 10 
Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations (2) (1) — — 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 943 1,011 (11) 10 
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (192) (204) — — 
Net cash used in business acquisitions (201) — — — 
Net proceeds from corporate-owned life insurance policies 23 — — — 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 21 3 — — 
Net proceeds from business disposition — 38 — — 
Finance receivables repaid — — 108 205 
Finance receivables originated — — (58) (34)
Other investing activities, net — — 44 17 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (349) (163) 94 188 
Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in short-term debt (15) — — — 
Principal payments on long-term debt and nonrecourse debt (16) (522) (211) (93)
Purchases of Textron common stock (639) (586) — — 
Dividends paid (13) (14) — — 
Proceeds from options exercised 36 105 — — 
Other financing activities, net (3) (2) — — 
Net cash used in financing activities (650) (1,019) (211) (93)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents (49) (6) — — 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (105) (177) (128) 105 
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 1,922 2,146 195 108 
Cash and equivalents at end of period $ 1,817 $ 1,969 $ 67 $ 213 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TEXTRON INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Textron Inc. (Textron) and its majority-owned subsidiaries.  We have prepared these unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. for interim financial
information.  Accordingly, these interim financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. for complete financial statements.  The consolidated interim financial statements included in this quarterly
report should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 1, 2022.  In the opinion of management, the interim financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments) that are necessary for the fair presentation of our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Our financings are conducted through two separate borrowing groups.  The Manufacturing group consists of Textron consolidated with its majority-owned subsidiaries that operate in the Textron Aviation, Bell, Textron Systems and Industrial segments, and our new reporting segment,
Textron eAviation, formed in the second quarter of 2022. Textron eAviation includes the operating results of Pipistrel, a manufacturer of electrically powered aircraft acquired on April 15, 2022, as discussed in Note 2, along with other research and development initiatives related to
sustainable aviation solutions. The Finance group, which also is the Finance segment, consists of Textron Financial Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. We designed this framework to enhance our borrowing power by separating the Finance group. Our Manufacturing group
operations include the development, production and delivery of tangible goods and services, while our Finance group provides financial services. Due to the fundamental differences between each borrowing group’s activities, investors, rating agencies and analysts use different measures
to evaluate each group’s performance.  To support those evaluations, we present balance sheet and cash flow information for each borrowing group within the Consolidated Financial Statements.  All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated from the Consolidated Financial
Statements, including retail financing activities for inventory sold by our Manufacturing group and financed by our Finance group.

Use of Estimates
We prepare our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. Our estimates and
assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of changes, if any, are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period that they are determined.

Contract Estimates
For contracts where revenue is recognized over time, we recognize changes in estimated contract revenues, costs and profits using the cumulative catch-up method of accounting. This method recognizes the cumulative effect of changes on current and prior periods with the impact of the
change from inception-to-date recorded in the current period.  Anticipated losses on contracts are recognized in full in the period in which the losses become probable and estimable.  

In the third quarter of 2022, our cumulative catch-up adjustments decreased segment profit by $3 million and net income by $2 million, $0.01 per diluted share. In the third quarter of 2021, our cumulative catch-up adjustments increased segment profit by $25 million and net income by
$19 million, $0.08 per diluted share. Gross favorable profit adjustments totaled $25 million and $43 million in the third quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and gross unfavorable profit adjustments totaled $28 million and $18 million, respectively. We reduced revenues by $2 million
and recognized revenues of $27 million in the third quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively, from performance obligations satisfied in prior periods that related to changes in profit booking rates.

In the first nine months of 2022, our cumulative catch-up adjustments decreased segment profit by $24 million and net income by $18 million, $0.08 per diluted share. In the first nine months of 2021, our cumulative catch-up adjustments increased segment profit by $54 million and net
income by $41 million, $0.18 per diluted share. Gross favorable profit adjustments totaled $66 million and $119 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and gross unfavorable profit adjustments totaled $90 million and $65 million, respectively. We reduced
revenues by $35 million and recognized revenues of $65 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, from performance obligations satisfied in prior periods that related to changes in profit booking rates.
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Note 2. Business Acquisition

On April 15, 2022, we acquired Pipistrel, a manufacturer of electrically powered aircraft, for a cash purchase price of $239 million, which included the assumption of $35 million of debt and other contractual obligations under the agreement and a final fixed payment of $21 million due in
2024. Beginning in the second quarter of 2022, this business is included in a new reporting segment, Textron eAviation, which combines the operating results of Pipistrel along with other research and development initiatives related to sustainable aviation solutions.

We allocated the purchase price for this business to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date and recorded $141 million in goodwill, related to expected synergies and the value of the assembled workforce, and $76 million in
intangible assets, primarily developed technologies. The intangible assets were primarily valued using the relief-from-royalty method. This method utilizes significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs, as defined by the fair value hierarchy and requires us to make estimates and
assumptions about sales, growth rates, royalty rates and discount rates based on marketplace data.

Note 3. Accounts Receivable and Finance Receivables

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable is composed of the following:

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Commercial $ 778 $ 704 
U.S. Government contracts 82 158 

860 862 
Allowance for credit losses (24) (24)
Total accounts receivable, net $ 836 $ 838 

Finance Receivables
Finance receivables are presented in the following table:

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Finance receivables $ 590 $ 630 
Allowance for credit losses (24) (25)

Total finance receivables, net $ 566 $ 605 

Finance Receivable Portfolio Quality
We internally assess the quality of our finance receivables based on a number of key credit quality indicators and statistics such as delinquency, loan balance to estimated collateral value and the financial strength of individual borrowers and guarantors.  Because many of these indicators
are difficult to apply across an entire class of receivables, we evaluate individual loans on a quarterly basis and classify these loans into three categories based on the key credit quality indicators for the individual loan. These three categories are performing, watchlist and nonaccrual.

We classify finance receivables as nonaccrual if credit quality indicators suggest full collection of principal and interest is doubtful. In addition, we automatically classify accounts as nonaccrual once they are contractually delinquent by more than three months unless collection of
principal and interest is not doubtful. Accounts are classified as watchlist when credit quality indicators have deteriorated as compared with typical underwriting criteria, and we believe collection of full principal and interest is probable but not certain. All other finance receivables that do
not meet the watchlist or nonaccrual categories are classified as performing.

We measure delinquency based on the contractual payment terms of our finance receivables.  In determining the delinquency aging category of an account, any/all principal and interest received is applied to the most past-due principal and/or interest amounts due. If a significant portion
of the contractually due payment is delinquent, the entire finance receivable balance is reported in accordance with the most past-due delinquency aging category.
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Finance receivables categorized based on the credit quality indicators and by the delinquency aging category are summarized as follows:

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Performing $ 540 $ 536
Nonaccrual 50 94
Nonaccrual as a percentage of finance receivables 8.47% 14.92%
Current and less than 31 days past due $ 580 $ 624
31-60 days past due 5 5
61-90 days past due 4 —
Over 90 days past due 1 1
60+ days contractual delinquency as a percentage of finance receivables 0.85% 0.16%

At October 1, 2022, 43% of our performing finance receivables were originated since the beginning of 2020 and 25% were originated from 2017 to 2019. For finance receivables categorized as nonaccrual, 80% were originated from 2017 to 2019.

On a quarterly basis, we evaluate individual larger balance accounts for impairment. A finance receivable is considered impaired when it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement based on our review of the credit
quality indicators described above. Impaired finance receivables include both nonaccrual accounts and accounts for which full collection of principal and interest remains probable, but the account’s original terms have been, or are expected to be, significantly modified. If the
modification specifies an interest rate equal to or greater than a market rate for a finance receivable with comparable risk, the account is not considered impaired in years subsequent to the modification.

A summary of finance receivables and the allowance for credit losses, based on the results of our impairment evaluation, is provided below. The finance receivables included in this table specifically exclude leveraged leases in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Finance receivables evaluated collectively $ 454 $ 441 
Finance receivables evaluated individually 50 94 
Allowance for credit losses based on collective evaluation 21 21 
Allowance for credit losses based on individual evaluation 3 4 
Impaired finance receivables with specific allowance for credit losses $ 17 $ 33 
Impaired finance receivables with no specific allowance for credit losses 33 61 
Unpaid principal balance of impaired finance receivables 64 109 
Allowance for credit losses on impaired finance receivables 3 4 
Average recorded investment of impaired finance receivables 72 117 

Note 4. Inventories

Inventories are composed of the following:

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Finished goods $ 1,084 $ 1,071 
Work in process 1,754 1,548 
Raw materials and components 979 849 
Total inventories $ 3,817 $ 3,468 
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Note 5. Warranty Liability

Changes in our warranty liability are as follows:

Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Beginning of period $ 127 $ 119 
Provision 51 49 
Settlements (46) (52)
Adjustments* 11 5 
End of period $ 143 $ 121 

* Adjustments include changes to prior year estimates, new issues on prior year sales, acquisitions and currency translation adjustments.

Note 6. Leases

We primarily lease certain manufacturing plants, offices, warehouses, training and service centers at various locations worldwide through operating leases. Our operating leases have remaining lease terms up to 26 years, which include options to extend the lease term for periods up to 25
years when it is reasonably certain the option will be exercised. Operating lease cost totaled $17 million and $17 million in the third quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $51 million and $49 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively. Variable and short-term
lease costs were not significant. Cash paid for operating leases totaled $51 million and $49 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is classified in cash flows from operating activities. Noncash transactions totaled $34 million and $81 million in the first nine
months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, reflecting the recognition of operating lease assets and liabilities for new or extended leases.

Balance sheet and other information related to our operating leases is as follows:

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Other assets $ 360 $ 374
Other current liabilities 56 56
Other liabilities 311 325
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 10.1 10.5
Weighted-average discount rate 3.64% 3.19%

At October 1, 2022, maturities of our operating lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis totaled $18 million for the remainder of 2022, $67 million for 2023, $57 million for 2024, $49 million for 2025, $37 million for 2026 and $228 million thereafter.

Note 7. Derivative Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value at the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  We prioritize the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability into a
three-tier fair value hierarchy. This fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority (Level 1) to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority (Level 3) to unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exist, requiring companies to develop
their own assumptions. Observable inputs that do not meet the criteria of Level 1, which include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, are categorized as Level 2. Level 3 inputs are
those that reflect our estimates about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. Valuation techniques for assets and liabilities measured using Level 3 inputs may include methodologies such
as the market approach, the income approach or the cost approach and may use unobservable inputs such as projections, estimates and management’s interpretation of current market data. These unobservable inputs are utilized only to the extent that observable inputs are not available or
cost effective to obtain.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world, and, therefore, we are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates. We primarily utilize foreign currency exchange contracts with maturities of no more than three years to manage this
volatility. These contracts qualify as cash flow hedges and are intended to offset the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted sales, inventory purchases and overhead expenses. Net gains and losses recognized in earnings and Accumulated other comprehensive loss on cash flow
hedges, including gains and losses related to hedge ineffectiveness, were not significant in the periods presented.
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Our foreign currency exchange contracts are measured at fair value using the market method valuation technique. The inputs to this technique utilize current foreign currency exchange forward market rates published by third-party leading financial news and data providers. These are
observable data that represent the rates that the financial institution uses for contracts entered into at that date; however, they are not based on actual transactions, so they are classified as Level 2.  At October 1, 2022 and January 1, 2022, we had foreign currency exchange contracts with
notional amounts upon which the contracts were based of $327 million and $272 million, respectively. At October 1, 2022, the fair value amounts of our foreign currency exchange contracts were a $2 million asset and a $15 million liability. At January 1, 2022, the fair value amounts of
our foreign currency exchange contracts were a $4 million asset and a $3 million liability.

Our Finance group enters into interest rate swap agreements to mitigate certain exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. By using these contracts, we are able to convert floating-rate cash flows to fixed-rate cash flows. These agreements are designated as cash flow hedges. At October 1,
2022, we had a swap agreement for a notional amount of $272 million with a maturity of August 2023, and a swap agreement for a notional amount of $25 million, maturing in June 2025, with a combined fair value of a $9 million asset. At January 1, 2022, we had a swap agreement for a
notional amount of $289 million with a maturity of August 2023 and an insignificant fair value. The fair value of these swap agreements is determined using values published by third-party leading financial news and data providers. These values are observable data that represent the
value that financial institutions use for contracts entered into at that date, but are not based on actual transactions, so they are classified as Level 2.

Assets and Liabilities Not Recorded at Fair Value
The carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments that are not reflected in the financial statements at fair value are as follows:

October 1, 2022 January 1, 2022

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
(In millions) Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Manufacturing group
Debt, excluding leases $ (3,177) $ (2,826) $ (3,181) $ (3,346)
Finance group
Finance receivables, excluding leases 391 363 413 444 
Debt (380) (294) (582) (546)

Fair value for the Manufacturing group debt is determined using market observable data for similar transactions (Level 2).  The fair value for the Finance group debt was determined primarily based on discounted cash flow analyses using observable market inputs from debt with similar
duration, subordination and credit default expectations (Level 2). Fair value estimates for finance receivables were determined based on internally developed discounted cash flow models primarily utilizing significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), which include estimates of the rate of
return, financing cost, capital structure and/or discount rate expectations of current market participants combined with estimated loan cash flows based on credit losses, payment rates and expectations of borrowers’ ability to make payments on a timely basis.
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Note 8. Shareholders’ Equity

A reconciliation of Shareholders’ equity is presented below:

(In millions)
Common

Stock
Capital
Surplus

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Shareholders'

Equity

Three months ended October 1, 2022

Beginning of period $ 28 $ 1,953 $ (596) $ 6,271 $ (855) $ 6,801 
Net income — — — 225 — 225 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (87) (87)
Share-based compensation activity — 27 — — — 27 
Dividends declared — — — (4) — (4)
Purchases of common stock — — (200) — — (200)
End of period $ 28 $ 1,980 $ (796) $ 6,492 $ (942) $ 6,762 
Three months ended October 2, 2021

Beginning of period $ 29 $ 1,920 $ (490) $ 6,318 $ (1,676) $ 6,101 
Net income — — — 185 — 185 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 6 6 
Share-based compensation activity — 49 — — — 49 
Dividends declared — — — (5) — (5)
Purchases of common stock — — (299) — — (299)
End of period $ 29 $ 1,969 $ (789) $ 6,498 $ (1,670) $ 6,037 
Nine months ended October 1, 2022

Beginning of period $ 28 $ 1,863 $ (157) $ 5,870 $ (789) $ 6,815 
Net income — — — 635 — 635 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (153) (153)
Share-based compensation activity — 117 — — — 117 
Dividends declared — — — (13) — (13)
Purchases of common stock — — (639) — — (639)
End of period $ 28 $ 1,980 $ (796) $ 6,492 $ (942) $ 6,762 
Nine months ended October 2, 2021

Beginning of period $ 29 $ 1,785 $ (203) $ 5,973 $ (1,739) $ 5,845 
Net income — — — 539 — 539 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 69 69 
Share-based compensation activity — 184 — — — 184 
Dividends declared — — — (14) — (14)
Purchases of common stock — — (586) — — (586)
End of period $ 29 $ 1,969 $ (789) $ 6,498 $ (1,670) $ 6,037 

Dividends per share of common stock were $0.02 for both the third quarter of 2022 and 2021 and $0.06 for both the first nine months of 2022 and 2021.

Earnings Per Share
We calculate basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) based on net income, which approximates income available to common shareholders for each period.  Basic EPS is calculated using the two-class method, which includes the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period and restricted stock units to be paid in stock that are deemed participating securities as they provide nonforfeitable rights to dividends. Diluted EPS considers the dilutive effect of all potential future common stock, including stock options.  

The weighted-average shares outstanding for basic and diluted EPS are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In thousands)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 211,307 223,663 214,301 225,545 
Dilutive effect of stock options 1,833 2,827 2,167 2,250 
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 213,140 226,490 216,468 227,795 
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For both the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, stock options to purchase 1.0 million shares of common stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. For the first nine months of 2021, stock
options to purchase 1.4 million shares of common stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The components of Accumulated other comprehensive loss are presented below:

(In millions)

Pension and
Postretirement

Benefits
Adjustments

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Deferred
Gains (Losses)

on Hedge
Contracts

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Balance at January 1, 2022 $ (799) $ 9 $ 1 $ (789)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications — (201) (4) (205)
Reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss 52 — — 52 
Balance at October 1, 2022 $ (747) $ (192) $ (3) $ (942)

Balance at January 2, 2021 $ (1,780) $ 42 $ (1) $ (1,739)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications — (36) 2 (34)
Reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss 90 14 (1) 103 
Balance at October 2, 2021 $ (1,690) $ 20 $ — $ (1,670)

The before and after-tax components of Other comprehensive income (loss) are presented below:

October 1, 2022 October 2, 2021

(In millions)
Pre-Tax
Amount

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit
After-tax
Amount

Pre-Tax
Amount

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit
After-tax
Amount

Three Months Ended

Pension and postretirement benefits adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial loss* $ 21 $ (4) $ 17 $ 38 $ (9) $ 29 
Amortization of prior service cost* 2 (1) 1 2 (1) 1 

Pension and postretirement benefits adjustments, net 23 (5) 18 40 (10) 30 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (97) — (97) (19) — (19)
Deferred losses on hedge contracts:

Current deferrals (11) 3 (8) (6) 2 (4)
Reclassification adjustments — — — (1) — (1)

Deferred losses on hedge contracts, net (11) 3 (8) (7) 2 (5)
Total $ (85) $ (2) $ (87) $ 14 $ (8) $ 6 
Nine Months Ended

Pension and postretirement benefits adjustments:
Amortization of net actuarial loss* $ 63 $ (15) $ 48 $ 114 $ (27) $ 87 
Amortization of prior service cost* 6 (2) 4 6 (3) 3 

Pension and postretirement benefits adjustments, net 69 (17) 52 120 (30) 90 
Foreign currency translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments (201) — (201) (36) — (36)
Business disposition — — — 14 — 14 

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net (201) — (201) (22) — (22)
Deferred gains (losses) on hedge contracts:

Current deferrals (6) 2 (4) 1 1 2 
Reclassification adjustments — — — (1) — (1)

Deferred gains (losses) on hedge contracts, net (6) 2 (4) — 1 1 
Total $ (138) $ (15) $ (153) $ 98 $ (29) $ 69 

*These components of other comprehensive income (loss) are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost (income). See Note 15 of our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Note 9. Segment Information

Through the first quarter of 2022, we operated in, and reported financial information for, the following five business segments: Textron Aviation, Bell, Textron Systems, Industrial and Finance. Beginning in the second quarter of 2022, we formed a new reporting segment within the
Manufacturing group, Textron eAviation, which includes the operating results of Pipistrel, a
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manufacturer of electrically powered aircraft that we acquired on April 15, 2022, as discussed in Note 2, along with other research and development initiatives related to sustainable aviation solutions. Segment profit is an important measure used for evaluating performance and for
decision-making purposes. Segment profit for the manufacturing segments includes non-service components of net periodic benefit cost/(income) and excludes interest expense, certain corporate expenses, gains/losses on major business dispositions and special charges. The measurement
for the Finance segment includes interest income and expense along with intercompany interest income and expense.

Our revenues by segment, along with a reconciliation of segment profit to income from continuing operations before income taxes, are included in the table below:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Revenues
Textron Aviation $ 1,167 $ 1,181 $ 3,491 $ 3,207 
Bell 754 769 2,275 2,506 
Textron Systems 292 299 858 960 
Industrial 849 730 2,558 2,349 
Textron eAviation 5 — 10 — 
Finance 11 11 41 38 
Total revenues $ 3,078 $ 2,990 $ 9,233 $ 9,060 
Segment Profit
Textron Aviation $ 139 $ 98 $ 415 $ 241 
Bell 85 105 246 320 
Textron Systems 37 45 112 144 
Industrial 39 23 123 102 
Textron eAviation (8) — (16) — 
Finance 7 8 26 17 
Segment profit 299 279 906 824 
Corporate expenses and other, net (14) (23) (70) (100)
Interest expense, net for Manufacturing group (21) (28) (77) (95)
Special charges — (10) — (20)
Gain on business disposition — — — 17 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 264 $ 218 $ 759 $ 626 

Note 10. Revenues

Disaggregation of Revenues
Our revenues disaggregated by major product type are presented below:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Aircraft $ 733 $ 814 $ 2,235 $ 2,146 
Aftermarket parts and services 434 367 1,256 1,061 
Textron Aviation 1,167 1,181 3,491 3,207 
Military aircraft and support programs 376 488 1,375 1,637 
Commercial helicopters, parts and services 378 281 900 869 
Bell 754 769 2,275 2,506 
Textron Systems 292 299 858 960 
Fuel systems and functional components 436 382 1,335 1,319 
Specialized vehicles 413 348 1,223 1,030 
Industrial 849 730 2,558 2,349 
Textron eAviation 5 — 10 — 
Finance 11 11 41 38 
Total revenues $ 3,078 $ 2,990 $ 9,233 $ 9,060 
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Our revenues for our segments by customer type and geographic location are presented below:

(In millions)
Textron

Aviation Bell
Textron
Systems Industrial Textron eAviation Finance Total

Three months ended October 1, 2022

Customer type:
Commercial $ 1,134 $ 362 $ 70 $ 849 $ 5 $ 11 $ 2,431 
U.S. Government 33 392 222 — — — 647 
Total revenues $ 1,167 $ 754 $ 292 $ 849 $ 5 $ 11 $ 3,078 
Geographic location:
United States $ 872 $ 534 $ 261 $ 470 $ 3 $ 3 $ 2,143 
Europe 93 47 10 153 1 1 305 
Other international 202 173 21 226 1 7 630 
Total revenues $ 1,167 $ 754 $ 292 $ 849 $ 5 $ 11 $ 3,078 
Three months ended October 2, 2021

Customer type:
Commercial $ 1,149 $ 278 $ 62 $ 730 $ — $ 11 $ 2,230 
U.S. Government 32 491 237 — — — 760 
Total revenues $ 1,181 $ 769 $ 299 $ 730 $ — $ 11 $ 2,990 
Geographic location:
United States $ 915 $ 569 $ 266 $ 377 $ — $ 7 $ 2,134 
Europe 97 48 10 160 — — 315 
Other international 169 152 23 193 — 4 541 
Total revenues $ 1,181 $ 769 $ 299 $ 730 $ — $ 11 $ 2,990 
Nine months ended October 1, 2022

Customer type:
Commercial $ 3,408 $ 875 $ 201 $ 2,549 $ 10 $ 41 $ 7,084 
U.S. Government 83 1,400 657 9 — — 2,149 
Total revenues $ 3,491 $ 2,275 $ 858 $ 2,558 $ 10 $ 41 $ 9,233 
Geographic location:
United States $ 2,380 $ 1,708 $ 775 $ 1,362 $ 4 $ 13 $ 6,242 
Europe 451 118 28 528 4 2 1,131 
Other international 660 449 55 668 2 26 1,860 
Total revenues $ 3,491 $ 2,275 $ 858 $ 2,558 $ 10 $ 41 $ 9,233 
Nine months ended October 2, 2021

Customer type:
Commercial $ 3,122 $ 894 $ 187 $ 2,337 $ — $ 38 $ 6,578 
U.S. Government 85 1,612 773 12 — — 2,482 
Total revenues $ 3,207 $ 2,506 $ 960 $ 2,349 $ — $ 38 $ 9,060 
Geographic location:
United States $ 2,409 $ 1,862 $ 852 $ 1,161 $ — $ 21 $ 6,305 
Europe 303 131 29 588 — 1 1,052 
Other international 495 513 79 600 — 16 1,703 
Total revenues $ 3,207 $ 2,506 $ 960 $ 2,349 $ — $ 38 $ 9,060 

Remaining Performance Obligations
Our remaining performance obligations, which is the equivalent of our backlog, represent the expected transaction price allocated to our contracts that we expect to recognize as revenues in future periods when we perform under the contracts.  These remaining obligations exclude
unexercised contract options and potential orders under ordering-type contracts such as Indefinite Delivery, Indefinite Quantity contracts. At October 1, 2022, we had $13.2 billion in remaining performance obligations of which we expect to recognize revenues of approximately 70%
through 2023, an additional 26% through 2025, and the balance thereafter.  
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Contract Assets and Liabilities
Assets and liabilities related to our contracts with customers are reported on a contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. At October 1, 2022 and January 1, 2022, contract assets totaled $636 million and $717 million, respectively, and contract liabilities totaled $1.7
billion and $1.2 billion, respectively, reflecting timing differences between revenues recognized, billings and payments from customers. We recognized revenues of $130 million and $51 million in the third quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $629 million and $499 million in the
first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, that were included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of each year.

Note 11. Retirement Plans

We provide defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefits to eligible employees.  The components of net periodic benefit income for these plans are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Pension Benefits
Service cost $ 27 $ 29 $ 81 $ 87 
Interest cost 69 62 205 188 
Expected return on plan assets (152) (143) (458) (431)
Amortization of net actuarial loss 22 39 66 116 
Amortization of prior service cost 3 4 9 10 
Net periodic benefit income* $ (31) $ (9) $ (97) $ (30)
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
Service cost $ 1 $ 1 $ 2 $ 2 
Interest cost 1 1 4 4 
Amortization of net actuarial gain (1) (1) (3) (2)
Amortization of prior service credit (1) (2) (3) (4)
Net periodic benefit income $ — $ (1) $ — $ — 

* Excludes the cost associated with the defined contribution component, included in certain of our U.S.-based defined benefit pension plans, that totaled $2 million and $2 million in the third quarter of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $9 million and $8 million for the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 12. Special Charges

In the third quarter and first nine months of 2021, we recognized special charges of $10 million and $20 million, respectively, related to a restructuring plan initiated in 2020 in response to the economic challenges and uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. There were no
special charges recorded in the third quarter and first nine months of 2022.

Our restructuring reserve activity is summarized below:

(In millions)
Severance

Costs

Contract
Terminations

and Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 19 $ 9 $ 28 
Cash paid (11) (2) (13)
Foreign currency translation (2) — (2)
Balance at October 1, 2022 $ 6 $ 7 $ 13 

The majority of the remaining cash outlays of $13 million is expected to be paid in the next six months.

Note 13. Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate for the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 was 14.8% and 16.2%, respectively. In the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, the effective tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21%, largely due to the favorable impact of research and
development credits and tax deductions for foreign derived intangible income. In the third quarter of 2022, these benefits were partially offset by a $13 million provision for withholding taxes due to the planned repatriation of cash related to a non-U.S. jurisdiction.

Our effective tax rate for the third quarter and first nine months of 2021 was 15.1% and 13.7%, respectively. In the third quarter and first nine months of 2021, the effective tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21%, largely due to the favorable impact of research and
development credits. In the first nine months of 2021, the effective tax rate also included a $12 million benefit recognized for additional research and development credits related to prior years.
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Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to legal proceedings and other claims arising out of the conduct of our business, including proceedings and claims relating to commercial and financial transactions; government contracts; alleged lack of compliance with applicable laws and regulations; production
partners; product liability; patent and trademark infringement; employment disputes; and environmental, safety and health matters. Some of these legal proceedings and claims seek damages, fines or penalties in substantial amounts or remediation of environmental contamination. As a
government contractor, we are subject to audits, reviews and investigations to determine whether our operations are being conducted in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. Under federal government procurement regulations, certain claims brought by the U.S.
Government could result in our suspension or debarment from U.S. Government contracting for a period of time. On the basis of information presently available, we do not believe that existing proceedings and claims will have a material effect on our financial position or results of
operations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Consolidated Results of Operations

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change

Revenues $ 3,078 $ 2,990 3% $ 9,233 $ 9,060 2%
Cost of sales 2,584 2,486 4% 7,717 7,546 2%
Gross margin as a % of Manufacturing revenues 15.7% 16.5% 16.0% 16.4%
Selling and administrative expense 258 283 (9)% 841 895 (6)%

During the first nine months of 2022, all of our manufacturing segments were impacted by labor shortages and ongoing global supply chain shortages and delays resulting from the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine. While our businesses are managing
through these challenges, in some cases they have caused, and we expect will continue to cause, some manufacturing inefficiencies and delays in delivery of certain of our products to customers.

An analysis of our consolidated operating results is set forth below. A more detailed analysis of our segments’ operating results is provided in the Segment Analysis section on pages 20 to 25.

Revenues
Revenues increased $88 million, 3%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021. The revenue increase primarily included the following factors:

• Higher Industrial revenues of $119 million due to higher volume and mix of $95 million, largely in the Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line, and a favorable impact from pricing of $58 million, principally in the Specialized Vehicles product line, partially offset
by an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange rate fluctuations of $34 million.

• Lower Bell revenues of $15 million due to lower military revenues of $112 million, primarily in the H-1 program due to lower aircraft and spares production volume, reflecting lower demand, partially offset by higher commercial revenues of $97 million, primarily due to higher
volume and mix.

• Lower Textron Aviation revenues of $14 million, reflecting lower volume and mix of $73 million, partially offset by higher pricing of $59 million.
• Lower Textron Systems revenues of $7 million, largely due to lower volume of $13 million, which included a $15 million decrease from our Afghanistan fee-for-service and aircraft support contracts.

Revenues increased $173 million, 2%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021. The revenue increase primarily included the following factors:

• Higher Textron Aviation revenues of $284 million, reflecting higher volume and mix of $148 million and higher pricing of $136 million.
• Higher Industrial revenues of $209 million due to a favorable impact from pricing of $168 million, principally in the Specialized Vehicles product line, and higher volume and mix of $108 million in both product lines, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from exchange rate

fluctuations of $67 million.
• Lower Bell revenues of $231 million due to lower military revenues of $262 million, primarily in the H-1 program due to lower aircraft and spares production volume, reflecting lower demand, partially offset by higher commercial revenues of $31 million, primarily due to

higher pricing.
• Lower Textron Systems revenues of $102 million, largely due to lower volume of $116 million, which included a $83 million decrease from our Afghanistan fee-for-service and aircraft support contracts.

Cost of Sales and Selling and Administrative Expense
Cost of sales increased $98 million, 4%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, largely due to inflation of $93 million, principally reflecting higher material cost in the Industrial and Textron Aviation segments. Gross margin as a percentage of Manufacturing
revenues decreased 80 basis points in the third quarter of 2022 as higher margin at the Textron Aviation segment, largely reflecting favorable pricing, was more than offset by lower margin at the other Manufacturing segments, primarily at the Bell and Textron Systems segments,
reflecting lower volume and mix.

Cost of sales increased $171 million, 2%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, largely due to inflation of $274 million, principally reflecting higher material cost in the Industrial and Textron Aviation segments, partially offset by lower net volume
and mix. Gross margin as a percentage of Manufacturing revenues decreased 40 basis points in the first nine months of 2022 as higher margin at the Textron Aviation segment, reflecting higher volume and mix and pricing, was more than offset by lower margin at the other Manufacturing
segments.
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Selling and administrative expense decreased $25 million, 9%, and $54 million, 6%, in the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, respectively, compared with the corresponding periods in 2021, primarily reflecting lower share-based compensation expense.

Non-service components of pension and postretirement income, net
In the third quarter of 2022, non-service components of pension and postretirement income, net increased by $19 million, 48%, to $59 million. In the first nine months of 2022, non-service components of pension and postretirement income, net increased by $61 million, 51%, to $180
million. The increase in both periods is based on our annual valuation at the end of 2021 and is primarily driven by an increase in the discount rate utilized for our domestic qualified pension plans and the impact of actual pension asset returns that exceeded our expected return on plan
assets.

Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate for the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 was 14.8% and 16.2%, respectively. In the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, the effective tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21%, largely due to the favorable impact of research and
development credits and tax deductions for foreign derived intangible income. In the third quarter of 2022, these benefits were partially offset by a $13 million provision for withholding taxes due to the planned repatriation of cash related to a non-U.S. jurisdiction.

Our effective tax rate for the third quarter and first nine months of 2021 was 15.1% and 13.7%, respectively. In the third quarter and first nine months of 2021, the effective tax rate was lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21%, largely due to the favorable impact of research and
development credits. In the first nine months of 2021, the effective tax rate also included a $12 million benefit recognized for additional research and development credits related to prior years.

Backlog
Our backlog is summarized below:

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Textron Aviation $ 6,354 $ 4,120 
Bell 4,872 3,871 
Textron Systems 2,018 2,144 
Total backlog $ 13,244 $ 10,135 

Textron Aviation's backlog increased $2.2 billion, 54%, in the first nine months of 2022, reflecting orders in excess of deliveries. Backlog at Bell increased $1.0 billion, 26%, largely due to new orders in excess of deliveries and revenues recognized. Bell was awarded a $1.4 billion 5-year
contract with the U.S. Government for spares and logistic support for the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft in the first quarter of 2022.

Segment Analysis
Through the first quarter of 2022, we operated in, and reported financial information for, the following five business segments: Textron Aviation, Bell, Textron Systems, Industrial and Finance. Beginning in the second quarter of 2022, we formed a new reporting segment within the
Manufacturing group, Textron eAviation. This new segment includes the operating results of Pipistrel, a manufacturer of electrically powered aircraft that we acquired on April 15, 2022, as discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, along with other research and
development initiatives related to sustainable aviation solutions.

Segment profit is an important measure used for evaluating performance and for decision-making purposes. Segment profit for the manufacturing segments excludes interest expense, certain corporate expenses, gains/losses on major business dispositions and special charges. The
measurement for the Finance segment includes interest income and expense along with intercompany interest income and expense. Operating expenses for the Manufacturing segments include cost of sales, selling and administrative expense and non-service components of net periodic
benefit cost/(income), and exclude certain corporate expenses and special charges.

In our discussion of comparative results for the Manufacturing group, changes in revenues and segment profit for our commercial businesses typically are expressed in terms of volume and mix, pricing, foreign exchange, acquisitions and dispositions, inflation and performance. For
revenues, volume and mix represents changes in revenues from increases or decreases in the number of units delivered or services provided and the composition of products and/or services sold. For segment profit, volume and mix represents a change due to the number of units delivered
or services provided and the composition of products and/or services sold at different profit margins. Pricing represents changes in unit pricing. Foreign exchange is the change resulting from translating foreign-denominated amounts into U.S. dollars at exchange rates that are different
from the prior period. Revenues generated by acquired businesses are reflected in Acquisitions for a twelve-month period, while reductions in revenues and segment profit from the sale of businesses are reflected as Dispositions.  Inflation represents higher material, wages, benefits,
pension service cost or other costs. Performance reflects an increase or decrease in research and development, depreciation, selling and administrative costs,
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warranty, product liability, quality/scrap, labor efficiency, overhead, non-service pension cost/(income), product line profitability, start-up, ramp up and cost-reduction initiatives or other manufacturing inputs.

Approximately 26% of our 2021 revenues were derived from contracts with the U.S. Government, including those under the U.S. Government-sponsored foreign military sales program.  For our segments that contract with the U.S. Government, changes in revenues related to these
contracts are expressed in terms of volume.  Changes in segment profit for these contracts are typically expressed in terms of volume and mix and performance; these include cumulative catch-up adjustments associated with a) revisions to the transaction price that may reflect contract
modifications or changes in assumptions related to award fees and other variable consideration or b) changes in the total estimated costs at completion due to improved or deteriorated operating performance.

Textron Aviation

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change

Revenues:
Aircraft $ 733 $ 814 (10)% $ 2,235 $ 2,146 4%
Aftermarket parts and services 434 367 18% 1,256 1,061 18%
Total revenues 1,167 1,181 (1)% 3,491 3,207 9%
Operating expenses 1,028 1,083 (5)% 3,076 2,966 4%
Segment profit $ 139 $ 98 42% $ 415 $ 241 72%
Profit margin 11.9% 8.3% 11.9% 7.5%

Textron Aviation Revenues and Operating Expenses
The following factors contributed to the change in Textron Aviation’s revenues for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ (73) $ 148 
Pricing 59 136 
Total change $ (14) $ 284 

Textron Aviation’s revenues decreased $14 million in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, reflecting lower volume and mix of $73 million, partially offset by higher pricing of $59 million. The decrease in volume and mix was largely due to lower Citation jet
and pre-owned volume, partially offset by higher aftermarket volume, reflecting increased aircraft utilization. We delivered 39 Citation jets and 33 commercial turboprops in the third quarter of 2022, compared with 49 Citation jets and 35 commercial turboprops in the third quarter of
2021.

Textron Aviation’s revenues increased $284 million, 9%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, reflecting higher volume and mix of $148 million and higher pricing of $136 million. The increase in volume and mix was largely due to higher
aftermarket, Citation jet and commercial turboprop volume, partially offset by lower pre-owned volume. The higher aftermarket volume reflected increased aircraft utilization. We delivered 126 Citation jets and 99 commercial turboprops in the first nine months of 2022, compared with
121 Citation jets and 82 commercial turboprops in the first nine months of 2021.

Textron Aviation’s operating expenses decreased $55 million, 5%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, largely due to lower volume and mix described above, partially offset by inflation of $28 million.

Textron Aviation’s operating expenses increased $110 million, 4%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, largely due to inflation of $74 million and higher volume and mix described above.
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Textron Aviation Segment Profit
The following factors contributed to the change in Textron Aviation’s segment profit for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ 2 $ 82 
Pricing, net of inflation 31 62 
Performance 8 30 
Total change $ 41 $ 174 

Segment profit at Textron Aviation increased $41 million, 42%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, largely due to favorable pricing, net of inflation of $31 million.

Segment profit at Textron Aviation increased $174 million, 72%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, largely due to the impact from higher volume and mix described above, favorable pricing, net of inflation of $62 million and a favorable impact
from performance of $30 million.

Bell

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change

Revenues:
Military aircraft and support programs $ 376 $ 488 (23)% $ 1,375 $ 1,637 (16)%
Commercial helicopters, parts and services 378 281 35% 900 869 4%
Total revenues 754 769 (2)% 2,275 2,506 (9)%
Operating expenses 669 664 1% 2,029 2,186 (7)%
Segment profit $ 85 $ 105 (19)% $ 246 $ 320 (23)%
Profit margin 11.3% 13.7% 10.8% 12.8%

Bell’s major U.S. Government programs at this time are the V-22 tiltrotor aircraft and the H-1 helicopter platforms, which are both in the production and support stage and represent a significant portion of Bell’s revenues from the U.S. Government. Both programs with the U.S.
Government are transitioning from the production stage to the support stage over the next several years with H-1 production expected to end in 2023.

Bell Revenues and Operating Expenses
The following factors contributed to the change in Bell’s revenues for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ (30) $ (270)
Pricing 15 39 
Total change $ (15) $ (231)

Bell’s revenues decreased $15 million in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021. Military revenues decreased $112 million, primarily in the H-1 program due to lower aircraft and spares production volume, reflecting lower demand. Commercial revenues
increased $97 million, primarily due to higher volume and mix. We delivered 49 commercial helicopters in the third quarter of 2022, compared with 33 commercial helicopters in the third quarter of 2021.  

Bell’s revenues decreased $231 million, 9%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, largely due to lower military revenues of $262 million, primarily in the H-1 program due to lower aircraft and spares production volume, reflecting lower demand.
Commercial revenues increased $31 million, primarily due to higher pricing. We delivered 108 commercial helicopters in the first nine months of 2022, compared with 97 commercial helicopters in the first nine months of 2021. 

Bell’s operating expenses increased $5 million in the third quarter of 2022, and decreased $157 million, 7% in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the corresponding periods of 2021. The decrease in the first nine months of 2022 was primarily due to lower volume and mix
described above.
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Bell Segment Profit
The following factors contributed to the change in Bell’s segment profit for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ (26) $ (98)
Performance 1 23 
Pricing, net of inflation 5 1 
Total change $ (20) $ (74)

Bell’s segment profit decreased $20 million, 19%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, primarily reflecting lower volume and mix as described above, partially offset by favorable pricing, net of inflation of $5 million. Performance included lower pension
costs, selling and administrative expense and research and development costs of $23 million, which was mostly offset by an unfavorable change in net program adjustments.

Bell’s segment profit decreased $74 million, 23%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, primarily reflecting lower volume and mix described above, partially offset by a favorable impact from performance of $23 million. Performance included
lower research and development costs, pension costs and selling and administrative expense of $80 million, partially offset by an unfavorable change in net program adjustments.

Textron Systems

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change

Revenues $ 292 $ 299 (2)% $ 858 $ 960 (11)%
Operating expenses 255 254 —% 746 816 (9)%
Segment profit $ 37 $ 45 (18)% $ 112 $ 144 (22)%
Profit margin 12.7% 15.1% 13.1% 15.0%

Textron Systems Revenues and Operating Expenses
The following factors contributed to the change in Textron Systems’ revenues for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume $ (13) $ (116)
Pricing 6 14 
Total change $ (7) $ (102)

Textron Systems' revenues decreased $7 million, 2%, and $102 million, 11%, in the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, respectively, compared with the corresponding periods of 2021. Lower volume in the third quarter and first nine months of 2022 included a decrease of $15
million and $83 million, respectively, from our Afghanistan fee-for-service and aircraft support contracts, primarily reflecting the impact from the U.S. Army’s withdrawal from Afghanistan.

Textron Systems’ operating expenses increased $1 million, in the third quarter of 2022, and decreased $70 million, 9%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the corresponding periods of 2021. The decrease in the first nine months of 2022 was primarily related to lower net
volume described above.

Textron Systems Segment Profit
The following factors contributed to the change in Textron Systems’ segment profit for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ (9) $ (24)
Performance — (13)
Pricing, net of inflation 1 5 
Total change $ (8) $ (32)
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Textron Systems’ segment profit decreased $8 million, 18%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, primarily due to lower volume and mix of $9 million.

Textron Systems’ segment profit decreased $32 million, 22%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, primarily due to lower volume and mix of $24 million described above and an unfavorable impact from performance of $13 million.

Industrial

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021 % Change

Revenues:
Fuel systems and functional components $ 436 $ 382 14% $ 1,335 $ 1,319 1%
Specialized vehicles 413 348 19% 1,223 1,030 19%
Total revenues 849 730 16% 2,558 2,349 9%
Operating expenses 810 707 15% 2,435 2,247 8%
Segment profit $ 39 $ 23 70% $ 123 $ 102 21%
Profit margin 4.6% 3.2% 4.8% 4.3%

Industrial Revenues and Operating Expenses
The following factors contributed to the change in Industrial’s revenues for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Pricing $ 58 $ 168 
Volume and mix 95 108 
Foreign exchange (34) (67)
Total change $ 119 $ 209 

Industrial segment revenues increased $119 million, 16%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, due to higher volume and mix of $95 million, largely in our Fuel Systems and Functional Components product line, and a $58 million favorable impact from
pricing, principally in the Specialized Vehicles product line, partially offset by an unfavorable impact of $34 million from foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Industrial segment revenues increased $209 million, 9%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, primarily due to a $168 million favorable impact from pricing, principally in the Specialized Vehicles product line, and higher volume and mix of $108
million in both product lines, partially offset by an unfavorable impact of $67 million from foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Industrial's operating expenses increased $103 million, 15%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, primarily reflecting the impact of higher volume and mix described above, and inflation of $56 million, largely in material costs, partially offset by a
favorable impact of $29 million from foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Industrial's operating expenses increased $188 million, 8%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, primarily reflecting inflation of $171 million, largely in material costs, and the impact of higher volume and mix described above, partially offset by
a favorable impact of $59 million from foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Industrial Segment Profit
The following factors contributed to the change in Industrial’s segment profit for the periods:

(In millions)

Q3 2022
versus

Q3 2021

YTD 2022
versus

YTD 2021

Volume and mix $ 24 $ 29 
Performance (5) 3 
Foreign exchange (5) (8)
Inflation, net of pricing 2 (3)
Total change $ 16 $ 21 
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Segment profit for the Industrial segment increased $16 million, 70%, in the third quarter of 2022, compared with the third quarter of 2021, primarily due to higher volume and mix of $24 million described above, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from performance of $5 million
and foreign exchange rate fluctuations of $5 million.

Segment profit for the Industrial segment increased $21 million, 21%, in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the first nine months of 2021, primarily due to higher volume and mix of $29 million described above, partially offset by an unfavorable impact from foreign exchange
rate fluctuations of $8 million.

Textron eAviation
In the third quarter and first nine months of 2022, Textron eAviation segment revenues totaled $5 million and $10 million, respectively, and segment loss totaled $8 million and $16 million, respectively. These segment results reflected the operating results of Pipistrel, along with research
and development costs for initiatives related to the development of sustainable aviation solutions.

Finance

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Revenues $ 11 $ 11 $ 41 $ 38 
Segment profit 7 8 26 17 

Finance segment revenues were unchanged in the third quarter of 2022 and increased $3 million in the first nine months of 2022, compared with the corresponding periods of 2021. Segment profit decreased $1 million and increased $9 million, in the third quarter and first nine months of
2022, respectively, compared with the corresponding periods of 2021. The following table reflects information about the Finance segment’s credit performance related to finance receivables.

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Finance receivables $ 590 $ 630 
Allowance for credit losses 24 25 
Ratio of allowance for credit losses to finance receivables 4.07% 3.97%
Nonaccrual finance receivables 50 94 
Ratio of nonaccrual finance receivables to finance receivables 8.47% 14.92%
60+ days contractual delinquency 5 1 
60+ days contractual delinquency as a percentage of finance receivables 0.85% 0.16%

We believe our allowance for credit losses adequately covers our exposure on these loans as our estimated collateral values largely exceed the outstanding loan amounts. Key portfolio quality indicators are discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our financings are conducted through two separate borrowing groups.  The Manufacturing group consists of Textron consolidated with its majority-owned subsidiaries that operate in the Textron Aviation, Bell, Textron Systems and Industrial segments along with Textron eAviation, a new
segment formed at the beginning of the second quarter of 2022. The Finance group, which also is the Finance segment, consists of Textron Financial Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. We designed this framework to enhance our borrowing power by separating the Finance
group.  Our Manufacturing group operations include the development, production and delivery of tangible goods and services, while our Finance group provides financial services. Due to the fundamental differences between each borrowing group’s activities, investors, rating agencies
and analysts use different measures to evaluate each group’s performance.  To support those evaluations, we present balance sheet and cash flow information for each borrowing group within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Key information that is utilized in assessing our liquidity is summarized below:

(Dollars in millions)
October 1,

2022
January 1,

2022

Manufacturing group
Cash and equivalents $ 1,817 $ 1,922
Debt 3,183 3,185
Shareholders’ equity 6,762 6,815
Capital (debt plus shareholders’ equity) 9,945 10,000
Net debt (net of cash and equivalents) to capital 17% 16%
Debt to capital 32% 32%
Finance group
Cash and equivalents $ 67 $ 195
Debt 380 582

We believe that our calculations of debt to capital and net debt to capital are useful measures as they provide a summary indication of the level of debt financing (i.e., leverage) that is in place to support our capital structure, as well as to provide an indication of the capacity to add further
leverage. We expect to have sufficient cash to meet our needs based on our existing cash balances, the cash we expect to generate from our manufacturing operations and the availability of our existing credit facility.

Credit Facilities and Other Sources of Capital
On October 21, 2022, Textron entered into a senior unsecured revolving credit facility for an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion, of which up to $100 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. We may elect to increase the aggregate amount of commitments under the
facility to up to $1.3 billion by designating an additional lender or by an existing lender agreeing to increase its commitment. The facility expires in October 2027, subject to up to two one-year extensions at our option with the consent of lenders representing a majority of the
commitments under the facility. This new facility replaces the existing 5-year facility, which was scheduled to expire in October 2024. There were no amounts borrowed against either facility and there were $9 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the prior facility at both
October 1, 2022 and January 1, 2022.

We also maintain an effective shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission that allows us to issue an unlimited amount of public debt and other securities.

Manufacturing Group Cash Flows
Cash flows for the Manufacturing group as presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Operating activities $ 945 $ 1,012 
Investing activities (349) (163)
Financing activities (650) (1,019)

In the first nine months of 2022, cash flows from operating activities decreased $67 million to $945 million, compared with $1,012 million in the first nine months of 2021, primarily due to an increase in income tax payments of $197 million, largely resulting from a change in tax
legislation, partially offset by higher earnings. Effective at the beginning of 2022, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 eliminated the option to deduct research and development expenditures immediately in the year incurred and requires taxpayers to amortize such expenditures over five
years. Without the option to deduct these expenses in the year incurred, our tax payments are expected to increase by approximately $300 million for the full year of 2022, depending on the final amount of research and development expenses incurred during the year.
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Cash flows used in investing activities in the first nine months of 2022 included $201 million of net cash paid for business acquisitions, largely related to the Pipistrel acquisition discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, and $192 million of capital expenditures.
Investing activities in the first nine months of 2021 included $204 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by $38 million of net proceeds from the disposition of TRU Simulation + Training Canada Inc.

Cash flows used in financing activities in the first nine months of 2022 included $639 million of cash paid to repurchase an aggregate of 9.8 million shares of our common stock. In the first nine months of 2021, cash flows used in financing activities included $586 million of cash paid to
repurchase an aggregate of 9.0 million shares of our common stock and $522 million of payments on long-term debt.

On January 25, 2022, we announced the authorization of the repurchase of up to 25 million shares of our common stock. This plan allows us to continue our practice of repurchasing shares to offset the impact of dilution from stock-based compensation and benefit plans and for
opportunistic capital management purposes. The 2022 plan has no expiration date and replaced the prior 2020 share repurchase authorization.

Finance Group Cash Flows
Cash flows for the Finance group as presented in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Operating activities $ (11) $ 10 
Investing activities 94 188 
Financing activities (211) (93)

In the first nine months of 2022, the net cash outflow from operating activities was $11 million, compared with a net cash inflow of $10 million in the first nine months of 2021. The year-over-year decrease in cash flows was primarily due to an increase in income tax payments of $12
million.

The Finance group’s cash flows from investing activities included collections on finance receivables totaling $108 million and $205 million in the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, respectively, and finance receivable originations of $58 million and $34 million, respectively. Cash
flows provided by investing activities in the first nine months of 2022 also included $44 million of other investing activities, largely related to proceeds from the sale of operating lease assets.  In the first nine months of 2022 and 2021, financing activities included payments on long-term
and nonrecourse debt of $211 million and $93 million, respectively.  

Consolidated Cash Flows
The consolidated cash flows after elimination of activity between the borrowing groups, are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Operating activities $ 963 $ 1,174 
Investing activities (284) (127)
Financing activities (861) (1,112)

In the first nine months of 2022, cash flows from operating activities decreased $211 million to $963 million, compared with $1,174 million in the first nine months of 2021. The decrease in cash flows was primarily due to an increase in income tax payments of $209 million, largely
resulting from a change in tax legislation discussed above, and a decrease in cash inflows from captive finance receivables of $123 million, partially offset by higher earnings.

Cash flows used in investing activities in the first nine months of 2022 included $201 million of net cash paid for business acquisitions, largely related to the Pipistrel acquisition, and $192 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by $44 million of other investing activities, which
included proceeds from the sale of operating lease assets. Investing activities in the first nine months of 2021 included $204 million of capital expenditures, partially offset by $38 million of net proceeds from the disposition of TRU Simulation + Training Canada Inc.

Cash flows used in financing activities in the first nine months of 2022 included $639 million of cash paid to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock and $227 million of payments on long-term debt. In the first nine months of 2021, cash flows used in financing activities
included $615 million of payments on long-term debt and $586 million of cash paid to repurchase shares of our outstanding common stock.
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Captive Financing and Other Intercompany Transactions
The Finance group provides financing primarily to purchasers of new and pre-owned Textron Aviation aircraft and Bell helicopters manufactured by our Manufacturing group, otherwise known as captive financing.  In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cash received from
customers is reflected as operating activities when received from third parties.  However, in the cash flow information provided for the separate borrowing groups, cash flows related to captive financing activities are reflected based on the operations of each group.  For example, when
product is sold by our Manufacturing group to a customer and is financed by the Finance group, the origination of the finance receivable is recorded within investing activities as a cash outflow in the Finance group’s statement of cash flows.  Meanwhile, in the Manufacturing group’s
statement of cash flows, the cash received from the Finance group on the customer’s behalf is recorded within operating cash flows as a cash inflow.  Although cash is transferred between the two borrowing groups, there is no cash transaction reported in the consolidated cash flows at the
time of the original financing.  These captive financing activities, along with all significant intercompany transactions, are reclassified or eliminated from the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Reclassification adjustments included in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Reclassification adjustments from investing activities to operating activities:
Cash received from customers $ 87 $ 186 
Finance receivable originations for Manufacturing group inventory sales (58) (34)

Total reclassification adjustments from investing activities to operating activities $ 29 $ 152 

Critical Accounting Estimates Update

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. The accounting estimates that we believe are most
critical to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations are reported in Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 1, 2022. The following section provides an update of the year-end disclosure.

Revenue Recognition
A substantial portion of our revenues is related to long-term contracts with the U.S. Government, including those under the U.S. Government-sponsored foreign military sales program, for the design, development, manufacture or modification of aerospace and defense products as well as
related services. We generally use the cost-to-cost method to measure progress for these contracts because it best depicts the transfer of control to the customer that occurs as we incur costs on our contracts.  Under this measure, the extent of progress towards completion is measured based
on the ratio of costs incurred to date to the estimated costs at completion of the performance obligation, and revenue is recorded proportionally as costs are incurred.

Changes in our estimate of the total expected cost or in the transaction price for a contract typically impact our profit booking rate. We utilize the cumulative catch-up method of accounting to recognize the impact of these changes on our profit booking rate for a contract. Under this
method, the inception-to-date impact of a profit adjustment on a contract is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified. The impact of our cumulative catch-up adjustments on segment profit recognized in prior periods is presented below:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

(In millions)
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021
October 1,

2022
October 2,

2021

Gross favorable $ 25 $ 43 $ 66 $ 119 
Gross unfavorable (28) (18) (90) (65)
Net adjustments $ (3) $ 25 $ (24) $ 54 
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Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and other oral and written statements made by us from time to time are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements, which may
describe strategies, goals, outlook or other non-historical matters, or project revenues, income, returns or other financial measures, often include words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “guidance,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “will,” “should,”
“could,” “likely” or “may” and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements.  In addition to those factors described in our 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Risk Factors,” among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from past and projected future results are the following:

• Interruptions in the U.S. Government’s ability to fund its activities and/or pay its obligations;
• Changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. Government defense budget, including those related to military operations in foreign countries;
• Our ability to perform as anticipated and to control costs under contracts with the U.S. Government;
• The U.S. Government’s ability to unilaterally modify or terminate its contracts with us for the U.S. Government’s convenience or for our failure to perform, to change applicable procurement and accounting policies, or, under certain circumstances, to withhold payment or

suspend or debar us as a contractor eligible to receive future contract awards;
• Changes in foreign military funding priorities or budget constraints and determinations, or changes in government regulations or policies on the export and import of military and commercial products;
• Volatility in the global economy or changes in worldwide political conditions that adversely impact demand for our products;
• Volatility in interest rates or foreign exchange rates and inflationary pressures;
• Risks related to our international business, including establishing and maintaining facilities in locations around the world and relying on joint venture partners, subcontractors, suppliers, representatives, consultants and other business partners in connection with international

business, including in emerging market countries;
• Our Finance segment’s ability to maintain portfolio credit quality or to realize full value of receivables;
• Performance issues with key suppliers or subcontractors;
• Legislative or regulatory actions, both domestic and foreign, impacting our operations or demand for our products;
• Our ability to control costs and successfully implement various cost-reduction activities;
• The efficacy of research and development investments to develop new products or unanticipated expenses in connection with the launching of significant new products or programs;
• The timing of our new product launches or certifications of our new aircraft products;
• Our ability to keep pace with our competitors in the introduction of new products and upgrades with features and technologies desired by our customers;
• Pension plan assumptions and future contributions;
• Demand softness or volatility in the markets in which we do business;
• Cybersecurity threats, including the potential misappropriation of assets or sensitive information, corruption of data or operational disruption;
• Difficulty or unanticipated expenses in connection with integrating acquired businesses;
• The risk that acquisitions do not perform as planned, including, for example, the risk that acquired businesses will not achieve revenues and profit projections;
• The impact of changes in tax legislation;
• Risks and uncertainties related to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the war between Russia and Ukraine on our business and operations; and
• The ability of our businesses to hire and retain the highly skilled personnel necessary for our businesses to succeed.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There has been no significant change in our exposure to market risk during the fiscal quarter ended October 1, 2022. For discussion of our exposure to market risk, refer to Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk contained in Textron’s 2021 Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

We performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of October 1, 2022. The evaluation was performed with the participation of senior management of each business segment and key Corporate functions, under the supervision of our Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were operating and effective as of October 1, 2022.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended October 1, 2022 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following provides information about our third quarter of 2022 repurchases of equity securities that are registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended:

Period (shares in thousands)

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased *

Average Price
Paid per Share

(excluding
commissions)

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

part of Publicly
Announced Plan *

Maximum
Number of Shares

that may yet be
Purchased under

the Plan

July 3, 2022 – August 6, 2022 660 $ 62.61 660 17,730 
August 7, 2022 – September 3, 2022 1,135 65.61 1,135 16,595 
September 4, 2022 – October 1, 2022 1,345 61.85 1,345 15,250 
Total 3,140 $ 63.37 3,140 

* On January 25, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 25 million shares of our common stock. This new plan has no expiration date and replaced the existing plan adopted in 2020.

Item 5. Other Information

Because this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is being filed within four business days from the date of the reportable event, we have elected to make the following disclosure in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q instead of in a Current Report on Form 8-K under Items 1.01, 1.02 and
2.03.

Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement
On October 21, 2022, Textron Inc. ("Textron") entered into a senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the "Facility Agreement") with the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, in an aggregate principal amount of $1.0 billion. Textron may elect
to increase the aggregate amount of commitments under the Facility Agreement to up to $1.3 billion by designating an additional lender or by agreeing with an existing lender that such lender’s commitment shall be increased. The Facility Agreement expires in October 2027, subject to up
to two one-year extensions at Textron’s option with the consent of lenders having more than 50% of the aggregate amount of commitments under the Facility Agreement. The Facility Agreement replaces the $1.0 billion 5-year facility that was scheduled to expire in October 2024. The
terms and conditions of the Facility Agreement are substantially the same as those in the facility being replaced.

Textron will have two options with respect to interest on syndicated borrowings under the Facility Agreement. The first option is for interest to be payable at a rate per annum equal to the sum of a margin (“Base Rate Margin”), which can range from 0 basis points to 40 basis points
depending on Textron’s senior unsecured long-term debt ratings as determined by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("S&P") and Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's"), plus the highest of (a) the Prime Rate, (b) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% per annum or (c) the Adjusted
Term SOFR Rate (as defined below) for a one-month interest period plus 1.00% per annum (the “Base Rate”), provided that the Base Rate shall not be less than 1.0%. Based on Textron's current S&P and Moody's ratings (BBB and Baa2, respectively) the Base Rate Margin would be 12.5
basis points.
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Alternatively, Textron may opt to pay interest for the applicable Interest Period at a rate per annum equal to the sum of a margin (“Term Benchmark Margin”), which can range from 91 basis points to 140 basis points depending upon Textron’s ratings, plus the applicable Term SOFR
Rate, plus 0.10% (“Adjusted Term SOFR Rate”); provided that the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate shall not be less than 0.0%. The Term SOFR Rate means the Term SOFR Reference Rate published as specified by the Credit Agreement. Based on Textron's current S&P and Moody's ratings
(BBB and Baa2, respectively) the Term Benchmark Margin would be 1.25 basis points.

Textron also will pay a quarterly facility fee under the Facility Agreement, regardless of borrowing activity. This fee will range from 9 basis points to 22.5 basis points, depending on Textron's ratings by S&P and Moody's. At Textron's current rating, the fee is 12.5 basis points.

The Facility Agreement provides that up to $100 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit in lieu of borrowings. Letters of credit are subject to fronting fees and accrue charges at the Letter of Credit Fee Rate which is equivalent to the Term Benchmark Margin.

The Facility Agreement contains covenants that, among other things:
• provide that Textron may not consolidate with, merge with or into, or sell all or substantially all of its assets to any other entity unless such entity expressly assumes all of Textron’s obligations under the Facility Agreement;
• restrict the ability of Textron and its manufacturing subsidiaries to incur liens, other than certain permitted liens, including liens securing indebtedness not in excess of the Pooled Basket Amount (equal to 3% of the consolidated total assets of Textron and its manufacturing

subsidiaries);
• restrict the ability of Textron’s manufacturing subsidiaries to incur certain indebtedness in excess of the Pooled Basket Amount;
• require Textron to maintain the Finance Company Leverage Ratio (as such term is defined in the Facility Agreement) at no more than 9 to 1;
• require the Consolidated Indebtedness (as such term is defined in the Facility Agreement) of Textron and its manufacturing subsidiaries not to exceed 65% of Consolidated Capitalization (also as defined in the Facility Agreement).

The Facility Agreement contains customary Events of Default (as defined in the Facility Agreement); in addition, a Change of Control (also as defined in the Facility Agreement) triggers an Event of Default under the Facility Agreement. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, all
loans outstanding under the Facility Agreement (including accrued interest and fees payable with respect thereto) may be declared immediately due and payable and all commitments under the Facility Agreement may be terminated.

The foregoing description of the Facility Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Facility Agreement, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Termination of a Material Definitive Agreement
On October 21, 2022, coincident with the entry into the Facility Agreement reported above, the existing 5-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2019, among Textron, the Banks listed therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, was terminated prior to its
stated October 2024 expiration date.

Creation of a Direct Financial Obligation or an Obligation under an Off-Balance Sheet Arrangement of a Registrant
The information described above under “Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement" is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 6.    Exhibits

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of October 21, 2022, among Textron, the Lenders listed therein, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from Textron Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 1, 2022, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.     
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Date: October 27, 2022 /s/ Mark S. Bamford
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CREDIT AGREEMENT

CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of October 21, 2022, among TEXTRON INC., a Delaware corporation (together with its successors, the “Borrower”), the banks and other financial institutions signatory hereto (each a “Lender”
and collectively the “Lenders”) and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders (together with its successors in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”).

The Borrower, the Lenders and the Agents agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1

Definitions and Accounting Terms

Section 1.01. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, and unless the context requires a different meaning, the following terms have the meanings indicated:

“2019 Credit Agreement” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 3.01(e).

“Additional Lender” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.15.

“Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR” means an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Daily Simple SOFR, plus (b) 0.10%; provided that if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall
be deemed to be equal to the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Adjusted Term SOFR Rate” means, for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (a) the Term SOFR Rate for such Interest Period, plus (b) 0.10%; provided that if the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate as so determined
would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be equal to the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Administrative Agent” has the meaning assigned to that term in the introduction to this Agreement.

“Administrative Fee” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.06(c)

“Administrative Questionnaire” means, with respect to each Lender, an administrative questionnaire in the form prepared by the Administrative Agent, completed by such Lender and returned to the Administrative Agent (with a
copy to the Borrower).

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial Institution.

“Affected Lender” means any Lender affected by any of the events described in Section 2.09(c) hereof.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any Person or group of Persons acting in concert in respect of the Person in question that, directly or indirectly, controls or is controlled by or is under common control with such Person.
For the purposes of this definition, “control”
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(including, with correlative meanings, the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person or group of Persons acting in concert, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise.

“Agent” means any of the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agents and the Documentation Agent.

“Agreement” means this Credit Agreement, as the same may at any time be amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and all other laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries concerning or relating to bribery
or corruption.

“Applicable Lending Office” means, for any Lender with respect to its Loans of any particular Type, the office, branch or affiliate of such Lender specified as the booking office therefor in such Lender’s Administrative
Questionnaire, or such other office, branch or affiliate of such Lender as such Lender may specify from time to time for such purpose by notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

“Applicable Parties” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 8.08.

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender, the percentage of the total Commitments represented by such Lender’s Commitment; provided that in the case of Section 2.13 when a Defaulting Lender shall exist,
“Applicable Percentage” shall mean the percentage of the total Commitments (disregarding any Defaulting Lender’s Commitment) represented by such Lender’s Commitment. If the Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable
Percentages shall be determined based upon the Commitments most recently in effect, giving effect to any assignments and to any Lender’s status as a Defaulting Lender at the time of determination.

“Approved Electronic Platform” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 8.08.

“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof) or payment period for interest calculated with reference
to such Benchmark (or component thereof), as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of an Interest Period for any term rate or otherwise, for determining any frequency of making payments of interest calculated
pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of “Interest Period” pursuant to clause (v) of Section 2.09(b).

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

2
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“Bail-In Legislation” means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law, regulation,
rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act 2009 (as amended
from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (other than through
liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled “Bankruptcy,” as from time to time amended and any successor statutes.

“Bankruptcy Event” means, with respect to any Person, such Person becomes the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, custodian, assignee for the benefit of
creditors or similar Person charged with the reorganization or liquidation of its business appointed for it, or, in the good faith determination of the Administrative Agent, has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to,
approval of, or acquiescence in, any such proceeding or appointment or has had any order for relief in such proceeding entered in respect thereof, provided that a Bankruptcy Event shall not result solely by virtue of any ownership interest,
or the acquisition of any ownership interest, in such Person by a Governmental Authority or instrumentality thereof, provided, further, that such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Person with immunity from the
jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Person (or such Governmental Authority or instrumentality) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm
any obligations of such Person hereunder.

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the NYFRB Rate in effect on such day plus ½ of 1% and (c) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for a one month
Interest Period as published two U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such day (or if such day is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the immediately preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day) plus
1%; provided that for the purpose of this definition, the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for any day shall be based on the Term SOFR Reference Rate at approximately 5:00 a.m. Chicago time on such day (or any amended publication time for
the Term SOFR Reference Rate, as specified by the CME Term SOFR Administrator in the Term SOFR Reference Rate methodology). Any change in the Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term
SOFR Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, respectively. If the Base Rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to
Section 2.09(b), for the avoidance of doubt, only until the Benchmark Replacement has been determined pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(ii), then the Base Rate shall be the greater of clauses (a) and (b) above and shall be determined without
reference to clause (c) above. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Base Rate as determined pursuant to the foregoing would be less than 1.00%, such rate shall be deemed to be 1.00% for purposes of this Agreement.

“Base Rate Loans” are Loans whose interest rate is based on Base Rate.

3
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“Base Rate Margin” has the meaning specified in the Pricing Schedule.

“Benchmark” means, initially, with respect to any (i) RFR Loan, the Daily Simple SOFR or (ii) Term Benchmark Loan, the Term SOFR Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event, and the related Benchmark Replacement
Date have occurred with respect to the Daily Simple SOFR or Term SOFR Rate, as applicable, or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark
Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to clause (b)(ii) of Section 2.09.

“Benchmark Replacement” means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

(1)    the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR; and

(2)    the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due
consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for
determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time in the United States and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1) or (2) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Interest Period and Available Tenor for any setting of
such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and
the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such
Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and/or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a
spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at
such time.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement and/or any Term Benchmark Loan, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition
of “Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day,” the definition of “Interest Period,” timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest,

4
#96109338v22    



timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Administrative Agent
decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the
Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark exists, in such
other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means, with respect to any Benchmark, the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to such then-current Benchmark:

(1)    in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(2)    in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the first date on which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by
the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be no longer representative; provided, that such non-representativeness will be determined by reference to the most recent statement
or publication referenced in such clause (3) and even if any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be
deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence
of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event” means, with respect to any Benchmark, the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to such then-current Benchmark:

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will
cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no
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successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

(2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Board, the NYFRB, the CME Term
SOFR Administrator, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component)
or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), in each case, which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has
ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will
continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of
such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-
current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means, with respect to any Benchmark, the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clauses (1) or (2) of that definition has occurred if, at such
time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced such then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.09(b) and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has
replaced such then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.09(b).

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in ERISA) that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code or (c) any Person whose assets include (for
purposes of ERISA Section 3(42) or otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or “plan”.

“BHC Act Affiliate” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

“Borrower” has the meaning assigned to that term in the introduction to this Agreement.

“Borrowing” means a borrowing of Loans hereunder.
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“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are required or authorized by law to close; provided that, in addition to the foregoing, a Business Day shall be
(a) in relation to RFR Loans and any interest rate settings, fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments of any such RFR Loan, or any other dealings of such RFR Loan and (b) in relation to Loans referencing the Adjusted Term SOFR
Rate and any interest rate settings, fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments of any such Loans referencing the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or any other dealings of such Loans referencing the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, any such
day that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

“Capital Lease”, as applied to any Person, means any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed) by that Person as lessee which, in conformity with GAAP, is accounted for as a capital lease or financing lease on the
balance sheet of that Person.

“Change of Control” means that (a) any Person or group of Persons within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 40% or more of the outstanding common stock
of the Borrower or (b) individuals who constitute the Continuing Directors cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the board of directors of the Borrower.

“CME Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited as administrator of the forward-looking term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) (or a successor administrator).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as from time to time amended. Any reference to the Code shall include a reference to corresponding provisions of any subsequent revenue law.

“Commitment” means (i) with respect to each Lender listed on the Commitment Schedule, the amount set forth opposite such Lender’s name on the Commitment Schedule, and (ii) with respect to any substitute Lender or Assignee
which becomes a Lender pursuant to Section 2.15, 9.01 or 9.15, the amount of the transferor Lender’s Commitment assigned to it pursuant to Section 2.15, 9.01 or 9.15, as such amount may be changed from time to time pursuant to Section
2.07, 9.01 or 9.15; provided that, if the context so requires, the term “Commitment” means the obligation of a Lender to extend credit up to such amount to the Borrower hereunder.

“Commitment Schedule” means the Commitment Schedule attached hereto.

“Communications” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 8.08.

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit F delivered to the Lenders by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(b)(i)(B).

“Consolidated Capitalization” means, as at any date of determination, the sum (without duplication) of (a) Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing plus (b) Consolidated Net Worth plus (c) preferred stock of the
Borrower plus (d) other securities of the Borrower
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convertible (whether mandatorily or at the option of the holder) into capital stock of the Borrower.

“Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing” means, as at any date of determination, the sum of short-term and long-term indebtedness for borrowed money that is shown on a balance sheet of Textron Manufacturing
(or would be if a balance sheet were prepared on such date).

“Consolidated Net Worth” means, as at any date of determination, the stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (but excluding the effects of the Borrower’s accumulated other comprehensive
income/loss) calculated in conformity with GAAP.

“Continuing Director” means any member of the board of directors of the Borrower who is (i) a director of the Borrower on the date of this Agreement, (ii) nominated by the board of directors of the Borrower or (iii) appointed by
directors referred to in clauses (i) and (ii).

“Contractual Obligation”, as applied to any Person, means any provision of any security issued by that Person or of any material indenture, mortgage, deed of trust or other similar instrument of that Person under which
Indebtedness is outstanding or secured or by which that Person or any of its properties is bound or to which that Person or any of its properties is subject.

“Corresponding Tenor” with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as
such Available Tenor.

“Covered Entity” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to SOFR for the day (such day “SOFR Determination Date”) that is five (5) U.S. Government Securities Business Day prior to (i) if such
SOFR Rate Day is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such SOFR Rate Day or (ii) if such SOFR Rate Day is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately preceding
such SOFR Rate Day, in each case, as such SOFR is published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due to a change in SOFR shall be effective from and including the
effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the Borrower.

“Default” means any Event of Default or any event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become an Event of Default.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.13(d), any Lender that (a) has failed, within two Business Days of the date required to be funded or paid, to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans, (ii) fund all or any portion of its
participations in Letters of Credit or (iii) pay over to any Agent or Issuing Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder, unless, in the case of clause (i) above, such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and the Borrower
in writing that such failure is the result of such Lender’s reasonable determination that a condition
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precedent to funding (specifically identified and including the particular default, if any) has not been satisfied or, in the case of clause (iii) such payment is the subject of a good faith dispute, (b) has notified the Administrative Agent or the
Borrower in writing, or has made a public statement to the effect, that it does not intend or expect to comply with all or any portion of its funding obligations under this Agreement (unless such writing or public statement indicates that such
position is based on such Lender’s reasonable determination that a condition precedent (specifically identified and including the particular default, if any) to funding under this Agreement cannot be satisfied) or generally under other
agreements in which it commits to extend credit, (c) has failed, within three Business Days after request by the Administrative Agent, acting in good faith, to provide a certification in writing from an authorized officer of such Lender that it
will comply with its obligations to fund prospective Loans and participations in then outstanding Letters of Credit under this Agreement, provided that such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon the
Administrative Agent’s receipt of such certification in form and substance satisfactory to it, (d) has become the subject of a Bankruptcy Event or Bail-In Action or has a Parent that has become the subject of a Bankruptcy Event or Bail-In
Action, or (e) has defaulted in fulfilling its funding obligations under one or more other agreements in which such Lender commits to extend credit (as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower).

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Designated Jurisdiction” means any country, region or territory to the extent that such country, region or territory itself is the subject of comprehensive Sanctions, currently Crimea, Donetsk, Luhansk, Zaporizhzhia and Kherson
regions of Ukraine, Cuba, Iran, North Korea and Syria.

“Documentation Agent” means MUFG Bank, Ltd.

“Dollar”, “Dollars” and the sign “$” mean the lawful currency of the United States.

“Domestic Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA
Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this
definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of
any EEA Financial Institution.

“Effective Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.16 hereof.
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“Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a person with the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as from time to time amended, and any successor statute.

“ERISA Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which, together with such Person, is under common control as described in Section 414(c) of the Code or is a member of a
controlled group, as defined in Section 414(b) of the Code, or is otherwise treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code, which includes such Person.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to that term in Article 7 hereof.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as from time to time amended, and any successor statutes.

“Existing Letters of Credit” means the letters of credit issued before the Effective Date and listed in Schedule 2.12(b) hereto.

“Extension Agreement” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.01(d).

“Extension Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.01(d).

“Facility Fee Rate” has the meaning specified in the Pricing Schedule.

“FAS 842” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 1.02(b).

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or
future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB based on such day’s federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as determined in such manner as the NYFRB shall set forth on its public
website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as the federal funds effective rate; provided that if the Federal Funds Rate as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to
be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.
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“Finance Company” means any Person which is (or would be but for the proviso to the definition of such term) a Subsidiary of the Borrower and which is primarily engaged in the business of a finance company.

“Finance Company Leverage Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, the ratio of (i) debt of the Finance Group at such date, determined in a manner consistent with “Finance group debt” on the Borrower’s consolidated
balance sheet included in the Financial Statements, less securitized debt at such date, determined in a manner consistent with “Note 7. Debt and Credit Facilities” in the notes to the Financial Statements, to (ii) total Finance Group assets less
total Finance Group liabilities at such date, each as set forth on the Borrower’s consolidated balance sheet for such date (or would be if a balance sheet were prepared on such date). Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the
manner of determining “Finance group debt” and/or securitized debt changes during the term of this Agreement as a result of changes to GAAP that apply to this Agreement as a result of Section 1.02, these amounts shall be determined in a
manner consistent with GAAP as in effect as of the date of determination.

“Finance Group” means “Finance group” as defined in the Financial Statements.

“Financial Statements” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 4.03.

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to the Adjusted Term
SOFR Rate or the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR, as applicable. For the avoidance of doubt the initial Floor for each of Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR shall be 0.00%.

“Funding Date” means the date of the funding of a Loan made pursuant to a Notice of Borrowing but does not mean the date of any conversion or continuation of the interest rate applicable to any Loan pursuant to a Notice of
Conversion/Continuation.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and
pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board as in effect from time to time.

“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof and any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to
government.

“IBA” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 1.05.

“Increase Effective Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.15.

“Increasing Lender” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.15.

“Indebtedness”, as applied to any Person, means, without duplication, (i) all indebtedness for borrowed money of that Person, (ii) that portion of obligations with respect to Capital Leases which is properly classified as a liability on
a balance sheet of that Person in
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conformity with GAAP, (iii) notes payable of that Person and drafts accepted by that Person representing extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, (iv) any obligation of that Person owed for all or
any part of the deferred purchase price of property or services which purchase price is (a) due more than twelve months from the date of incurrence of the obligation in respect thereof, or (b) evidenced by a note or similar written instrument,
(v) all non-contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of amounts paid under a letter of credit or similar instrument, (vi) all indebtedness secured by any Lien on any property or asset owned by
that Person regardless of whether the indebtedness secured thereby shall have been assumed by that Person or is nonrecourse to the credit of that Person and (vii) any guarantee of that Person, direct or indirect, of any indebtedness, note
payable, draft accepted, or obligation described in clauses (i)-(vi) above of any other Person.

“indemnified liabilities” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.03.

“Indemnitees” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.03.

“Initial Loans” means the initial Loans made under this Agreement.

“Interest Payment Date” means (x) with respect to any Term Benchmark Loan, the last day of each Interest Period applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan and the Termination Date; provided that in the case of each Interest
Period of six months, “Interest Payment Date” shall also include each Interest Period Anniversary Date (or if such day is not a Business Day, then the next succeeding Business Day) for such Interest Period, (y) with respect to any RFR
Loan, each date that is on the numerically corresponding day in each calendar month that is one month after the Borrowing of such Loan (or, if there is no such numerically corresponding day in such month, then the last day of such month)
and the Termination Date and (z) with respect to any Base Rate Loan, the last Business Day of each calendar quarter and the Termination Date.

“Interest Period” means any interest period applicable to a Term Benchmark Loan as determined pursuant to Section 2.05(b) hereof.

“Interest Period Anniversary Date” means, for each Interest Period applicable to a Term Benchmark Loan which is six months, the three-month anniversary of the commencement of that Interest Period.

“Interest Rate Determination Date” means each date for calculating the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for purposes of determining the interest rate in respect of an Interest Period. The Interest Rate Determination Date shall be the
second Business Day prior to the first day of the related Interest Period.

“ISP” means, with respect to any Letter of Credit, the “International Standby Practices 1998” published by International Chamber of Commerce, Publication No. 590 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time of
issuance).

“Issuing Lender” means each of JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A., Citibank, N.A., MUFG Bank, Ltd. and any other Lender designated by the Borrower that agrees to issue letters of credit hereunder pursuant to an
instrument in form reasonably satisfactory to the

12
#96109338v22    



Administrative Agent, each in its capacity as an issuer of a Letter of Credit hereunder. The Issuing Lender may, in its discretion, arrange for one or more Letters of Credit to be issued by Affiliates of the Issuing Lender, in which case the
term “Issuing Lender” shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Affiliate. Any Lender which is the issuer of an Existing Letter of Credit is an Issuing Lender with respect thereto and each reference
herein to the Issuing Lender shall be deemed to be a reference to the relevant Issuing Lender (or, if applicable, each Issuing Lender collectively).

“JPMorgan Chase” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and its successors.

“Lead Arrangers” means JPMorgan Chase, BofA Securities, Inc., Citibank, N.A. and MUFG Bank, Ltd.

“Lender” and “Lenders” have the respective meanings assigned to those terms in the introduction to this Agreement and its or their successors and permitted assigns. Unless the context otherwise requires, any reference herein to
“Lender” (including each such reference in any indemnification, exculpation or expense reimbursement provision of this Agreement) shall include each Issuing Lender.

“Letter of Credit” means a letter of credit to be issued hereunder by an Issuing Lender.

“Letter of Credit Commitment” means, for each Issuing Lender, (i) the amount set forth on Schedule 2.12(a) of this Agreement opposite its name thereon under the heading “Letter of Credit Commitment” or if an Issuing Lender
has entered into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement pursuant to Section 9.01(e) hereunder, the amount set forth for such Issuing Lender as its Letter of Credit Commitment in the Register maintained by the Administrative Agent.
The Borrower may, at any time and from time to time, reduce or increase the Letter of Credit Commitment of any Issuing Lender with the consent of the applicable Issuing Lender.

“Letter of Credit Fee Rate” has the meaning specified in the Pricing Schedule.

“Letter of Credit Liabilities” means, for any Lender and at any time, such Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the sum of (x) the aggregate amount then owing by the Borrower in respect of amounts paid by the Issuing Lender upon
a drawing under a Letter of Credit issued hereunder and (y) the aggregate amount then available for drawing under all outstanding Letters of Credit.

“Liabilities” means any losses, claims (including intraparty claims), demands, damages or liabilities of any kind.

“Lien” means any lien, mortgage, pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, and any agreement to give any security
interest).

“Loan” means a loan made pursuant to Section 2.01 of this Agreement.

“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, including without limitation, schedules and exhibits hereto and any agreements entered into in connection herewith, including amendments,
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modifications or supplements thereto or waivers thereof, the Notes and any other documents prepared in connection with the other Loan Documents, if any.

“Loans and Principal Payments Schedule” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.03(b).

“Margin Stock” has the meaning assigned to that term in Regulation U of the Board as in effect from time to time.

“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (i) the business, operations, properties, assets or financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Borrower to perform any
of its material payment obligations under this Agreement and the Notes or (iii) the validity or enforceability of, or the rights of or remedies available to the Lenders under, this Agreement and the Notes.

“Multiemployer Plan” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

“Note” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.03(b) hereof.

“Notice of Borrowing” means a notice described in Section 2.01(b) hereof substantially in the form of Exhibit E-1 hereto.

“Notice of Conversion/Continuation” means any notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.02(a) hereof, which shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit E-2 hereto.

“Notice of Issuance” means any notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.12(c)(i) hereof.

“NYFRB” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

“NYFRB Rate” means, for any day, the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Rate in effect on such day and (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate in effect on such day(or for any day that is not a Business Day, for the immediately
preceding Business Day); provided that if none of such rates are published for any day that is a Business Day, the term “NYFRB Rate” means the rate for a federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. on such day received by the
Administrative Agent from a Federal funds broker of recognized standing selected by it; provided, further, that if any of the aforesaid rates shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“NYFRB’s Website” means the website of the NYFRB at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.

“Officer’s Certificate” means, as applied to any corporation, a certificate executed on behalf of such corporation by its Chairman of the board of directors (if an officer), its President, any Vice President of such corporation, its Chief
Financial Officer, its Treasurer or any Assistant Treasurer of such corporation.

“Other Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(b).
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“Overnight Bank Funding Rate” means, for any day, the rate comprised of both overnight federal funds and overnight eurodollar transactions denominated in Dollars by U.S.-managed banking offices of depository institutions, as
such composite rate shall be determined by the NYFRB as set forth on the NYFRB’s Website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as an overnight bank funding rate.

“Parent” means, with respect to any Lender, any Person as to which such Lender is, directly or indirectly, a subsidiary.

“Participant Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.01(f).

“Patriot Act” means the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56).

“Payment” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.09(c).

“Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.12(d)(i).

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation created by Section 4002(a) of ERISA or any successor thereto.

“Pension Plan” means any plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) described in Section 4021(a) of ERISA and not excluded pursuant to Section 4021(b) thereof, which may be, is or has been established or maintained, or to which
contributions may be, are or have been made by the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates or as to which the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates would be considered as a “contributing sponsor” for purposes of Title IV of ERISA at
any relevant time.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

(i)    Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or claims the payment of which is not at the time required by Section 5.03;

(ii)    Statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other liens imposed by law incurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not yet delinquent or being contested in
good faith, if such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by generally accepted accounting principles then in effect, shall have been made therefor;

(iii)    Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security, or to
secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, bids, leases, government contracts, performance and return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money);

(iv)    Any attachment or judgment Lien individually or in the aggregate not in excess of $100,000,000 unless the judgment it secures shall, within 30 days after the
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entry thereof, not have been discharged or execution thereof stayed pending appeal, or shall not have been discharged within 30 days after the expiration of any such stay;

(v)    Leases or subleases granted to others not interfering in any material respect with the business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;

(vi)    Easements, rights-of-way, restrictions, minor defects or irregularities in title and other similar charges or encumbrances not interfering in any material respect with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries;

(vii)    Any interest or title of a lessor under any lease;

(viii)    Liens arising from UCC financing statements regarding leases;

(ix)    Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods incurred in the ordinary course of business; and

(x)    Liens (a) of a collection bank on the items in the course of collection, (b) attaching to investment accounts, trading accounts or brokerage accounts incurred in the ordinary course of business, (c) in favor of a banking or
other financial institution arising as a matter of law encumbering deposits or other funds maintained with a financial institution (including the right of set off) and which are customary in the banking industry, (d) attaching to other
prepayments, deposits or earnest money in the ordinary course of business and (e) attaching to cash collateral posted pursuant to a hedging, swap or similar contract entered into in the ordinary course of business.

“Person” means and includes natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, general partnerships, joint stock companies, joint ventures, associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land trusts, business trusts or other
organizations, whether or not legal entities, and any Governmental Authority.

“Pooled Basket Amount” means 3% of the consolidated total assets of Textron Manufacturing and its Subsidiaries, all as determined in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis for Textron Manufacturing and its Subsidiaries.

“Potential Event of Default” means a condition or event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default if that condition or event were not cured or removed within any applicable grace or cure
period.

“Pricing Schedule” means the Pricing Schedule attached hereto.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate” in the U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the Board in
Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the “bank prime loan” rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Administrative Agent) or any similar
release by the Board (as determined by the Administrative Agent). Each change in the Prime
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Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced or quoted as being effective.

“Pro Rata Share or pro rata Share” means, when used with reference to any Lender and any described aggregate or total amount, the percentage designated as such Lender’s Pro Rata Share set forth under the name of such Lender
on the applicable signature page of this Agreement, as such pro rata Share may be adjusted pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“Purchasing Lender” has the meaning specified in Section 9.01(c).

“QFC” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“QFC Credit Support” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Reference Time” with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if such Benchmark is the Term SOFR Rate, 5:00 a.m. (Chicago time) on the day that is two U.S. Government Securities Business Days
preceding the date of such setting , (2) if such Benchmark is Daily Simple SOFR, then four Business Days prior to such setting or (3) if such Benchmark is none of the Term SOFR Rate or Daily Simple SOFR, the time determined by the
Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

“Regulation D” means Regulation D of the Board as from time to time in effect and any successor to all or a portion thereof establishing reserve requirements.

“Regulation T” means Regulation T of the Board as from time to time in effect and any successor to all or a portion thereof.

“Regulation U” means Regulation U of the Board as from time to time in effect and any successor to all or a portion thereof.

“Regulation X” means Regulation X of the Board as from time to time in effect and any successor to all or a portion thereof.

“Reimbursement Obligation” has the meaning specified in Section 2.12(d)(ii).

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, partners and advisors of such Person and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means, the Board and/or the NYFRB, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board and/or the NYFRB or, in each case, any successor thereto.
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“Relevant Rate” means (i) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or (ii) with respect to any RFR Borrowing, the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR, as applicable.

“Reportable Event” means a “reportable event” described in Section 4043(c) of ERISA or in the regulations thereunder notice of which to PBGC is required within 30 days after the occurrence thereof, or receipt of a notice of
withdrawal liability with respect to a Multiemployer Plan pursuant to Section 4202 of ERISA.

“Required Lenders” means, as at any time any determination thereof is to be made, the Lenders holding more than 50% of the Total Commitment or, if no Commitments are in effect, more than 50% of the Total Outstanding
Amount (exclusive in each case of the Commitment, Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities of any Defaulting Lender).

“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

“Restricted Subsidiary” means each Subsidiary (or a group of Subsidiaries that would constitute a Restricted Subsidiary if consolidated and which are engaged in the same or related lines of business) of the Borrower now existing
or hereafter acquired or formed by the Borrower which (x) for the most recent fiscal year of the Borrower, accounted for more than 5% of the consolidated revenues of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, or (y) as at the end of such fiscal
year, was the owner of more than 5% of the consolidated assets of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. For purposes of this definition, the proviso to the definition of Subsidiary shall not be applicable.

“RFR Borrowing” means, as to any Borrowing, the RFR Loans comprising such Borrowing.

“RFR Loan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR.

“RFR Margin” has the meaning specified in the Pricing Schedule.

“Sanctions” means any international economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control, the U.S. Department of State, the United
Nations Security Council, the European Union, or His Majesty’s Treasury (UK).

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as from time to time amended, and any successor statutes.

“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the SOFR Administrator.

“SOFR Administrator” means the NYFRB (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).
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“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the NYFRB’s website, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to
time.

“SOFR Determination Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.

“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning assigned to that term in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, association or other business entity of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any
contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof;
provided, however, that (i) no Finance Company or any Subsidiary of any Finance Company and (ii) no Person having consolidated assets less than $1,000,000 shall be treated as a Subsidiary of the Borrower.

“Supported QFC” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Syndication Agents” means Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank, N.A.

“Taxes” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“Term Benchmark” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate.

“Term Benchmark Loan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate determined by reference to Adjusted Term SOFR Rate.

“Term Benchmark Margin” has the meaning specified in the Pricing Schedule.

“Term SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning assigned to that term in the definition of Term SOFR Reference Rate.

“Term SOFR Rate” means, with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing and for any tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period, the Term SOFR Reference Rate at approximately 5:00 a.m., Chicago time, two U.S.
Government Securities Business Days prior to the commencement of such tenor comparable to the applicable Interest Period, as such rate is published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator.

“Term SOFR Reference Rate” means, for any day and time (such day, the “Term SOFR Determination Day”), with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing denominated in Dollars and for any tenor comparable to the
applicable Interest Period, the rate per annum published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator and identified by the Administrative Agent as the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR. If by 5:00 pm (New York City time) on such
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Term SOFR Determination Day, the “Term SOFR Reference Rate” for the applicable tenor has not been published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Rate has not
occurred, then, so long as such day is otherwise a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the Term SOFR Reference Rate for such Term SOFR Determination Day will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate as published in respect of the
first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate was published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator, so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day is not
more than five (5) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such Term SOFR Determination Day.

“Termination Date” means October 21, 2027, or such later date to which the Termination Date then in effect may be extended pursuant to Section 2.01(d), or if any such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day.

“Termination Event” means (i) a Reportable Event with respect to any Pension Plan, or (ii) the withdrawal of the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates from a Pension Plan during a plan year in which it was a “substantial
employer” as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA, or (iii) the filing of a notice of intent to terminate a Pension Plan (including any such notice with respect to a Pension Plan amendment referred to in Section 4041(e) of ERISA), or (iv)
the institution of proceedings to terminate a Pension Plan by the PBGC, or (v) any other event or condition which, to the best knowledge of the Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates, would constitute grounds under Section 4042(a) of
ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to administer, any Pension Plan.

“Textron Manufacturing” means the Borrower and any Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a Finance Company; provided that, for purposes of this definition, the exclusion set forth in subsection (ii) in the definition of
Subsidiary shall be disregarded.

“Total Commitment” means, as at any date of determination, the aggregate Commitments of all Lenders then in effect (as such Commitments may be reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.07(a) hereof). The original
amount of the Total Commitment is $1,000,000,000.

“Total Outstanding Amount” means, at any time, the sum of (i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans plus, without duplication, (ii) the aggregate amount of the Letter of Credit Liabilities of all Lenders at such
time.

“Type” means the designation of a Loan as either a Base Rate Loan or a Term Benchmark Loan.

“UK Financial Institution” means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority) or any person
falling within IFPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and certain affiliates of
such credit institutions or investment firms.
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“UK Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments
of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities.

“U.S. Special Resolution Regimes” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 9.19.

“Withholding Agent” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.14(a).

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means, (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In Legislation for the
applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable Resolution Authority under the
Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of that liability into shares, securities or
obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that
Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers.

Section 1.02. Accounting Terms and Determinations. (a) Unless otherwise specified herein, all accounting terms used herein shall be interpreted, all accounting determinations hereunder shall be made, and all financial statements
required to be delivered hereunder shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent (except for changes concurred in by the Borrower’s independent public accountants) with the most recent audited consolidated
financial statements of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries delivered to the Lenders; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower wishes to amend any covenant in Article 6 to eliminate the
effect of any change in GAAP on the operation of such covenant (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders wish to amend Article 6 for such purpose), then the Borrower’s compliance with such
covenant shall be determined on the basis of GAAP in effect immediately before the relevant change in GAAP became effective, until either such notice is withdrawn or such covenant is amended in a manner satisfactory to the Borrower
and the Required Lenders; provided further that the implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 shall not be deemed a change in GAAP for purposes of the preceding proviso. Notwithstanding any other
provision contained herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any election under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 159 (or any other
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Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary at “fair value”, as defined therein.

(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 1.02(a) or in the definition of “Capital Lease”, any change in accounting for leases pursuant to GAAP resulting from the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“FAS 842”), to the extent such adoption would require treating any lease (or similar arrangement conveying the right to use) as a capital lease where such lease (or similar
arrangement) would not have been required to be so treated under GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2015, such lease shall be considered a capital lease, and all calculations and deliverables under this Agreement or any other Loan
Document shall be made or delivered, as applicable, in accordance therewith.

Section 1.03. Letter of Credit Amounts. Unless otherwise specified herein, the amount of a Letter of Credit at any time shall be deemed to be the Dollar equivalent of the stated amount of such Letter of Credit in effect at such time;
provided, however, that with respect to any Letter of Credit that, by its terms or the terms of any document related to such Letter of Credit, provides for one or more automatic increases in the stated amount thereof, the amount of such Letter
of Credit shall be deemed to be the Dollar equivalent of the maximum stated amount of such Letter of Credit after giving effect to all such increases, whether or not such maximum stated amount is in effect at such time.

Section 1.04. Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s laws): (i) if any asset, right,
obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (ii) if any new Person comes
into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized and acquired on the first date of its existence by the holders of its equity interests at such time.

Section 1.05. Interest Rates; Benchmark Notification. The interest rate on a Loan denominated in Dollars may be derived from an interest rate benchmark that may be discontinued or is, or may in the future become, the subject of
regulatory reform. Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, Section 2.09(b)(ii) provides a mechanism for determining an alternative rate of interest. The Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility for,
and shall not have any liability with respect to, the administration, submission, performance or any other matter related to any interest rate used in this Agreement, or with respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement
rate thereof, including without limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement reference rate will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic equivalence of, the existing
interest rate being replaced or have the same volume or liquidity as did any existing interest rate prior to its discontinuance or unavailability. The Administrative Agent and its affiliates and/or other related entities may engage in transactions
that affect the calculation of any interest rate used in this Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the
Borrower. The Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion, consistent with industry practice, to ascertain any
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interest rate used in this Agreement, any component thereof, or rates referenced in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower, any Lender or any other person or
entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation
of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE 2

Amounts and Terms of Commitments and Loans
Section 2.01. Commitments.

(a)     Loans. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in reliance upon the representations and warranties of the Borrower herein set forth, each Lender hereby severally agrees to lend in Dollars to the Borrower
from time to time during the period from and including the Effective Date to but not including the Termination Date its pro rata Share of the Total Commitment. Each Lender’s Commitment and the Total Commitment shall expire in full on
the Termination Date.

Amounts borrowed under this Section 2.01(a) may, subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement, be repaid and, up to but excluding the Termination Date, be reborrowed. The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay
to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan and all other amounts owed hereunder with respect to the Loans in full no later than the Termination Date.

Borrowings on any Funding Date with respect to a Loan under this Section 2.01(a) shall be in Dollars, in an aggregate minimum amount of $10,000,000 and integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess of that amount or, if less, the
unutilized amount of the Total Commitment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Loan may be borrowed if the Total Outstanding Amount, after giving effect to the Loan so requested and all other Loans then requested which have not yet
been funded, shall exceed the Total Commitment then in effect.

Subject to Section 2.09, each Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of Base Rate Loans or Term Benchmark Loans, as the Borrower may request in accordance herewith.

(b)    Notice of Borrowing. Subject to Section 2.01(a), whenever the Borrower desires to borrow under this Section 2.01, it shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a Notice of Borrowing (x) in the case of a Base Rate Loan, by no
later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the proposed Funding Date, (y) in the case of a Term Benchmark Loan, by no later than 10:30 a.m. (New York City time) three U.S. Government Securities Business Days in advance of the
proposed Funding Date and (z) in the case of an RFR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) five U.S. Government Securities Business Days in advance of the proposed Funding Date. The Notice of Borrowing shall be
signed by an authorized officer of the Borrower and shall specify (i) the proposed Funding Date (which shall be a Business Day), (ii) the amount of the proposed Loans, (iii) whether such Loans are to consist of Base Rate Loans or Term
Benchmark Loans (or, solely to the extent applicable pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(ii), RFR
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Loans) or a combination thereof and the amounts thereof, and (iv) in the case of Term Benchmark Loans, the Interest Period therefor.

Except as provided in Sections 2.01(c) and 2.09(d), a Notice of Borrowing for a Term Benchmark Loan shall be irrevocable and the Borrower shall be bound to make a borrowing in accordance therewith.

(c)    Disbursement of Funds. Promptly after receipt of a Notice of Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.01(b) with respect to a Loan, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender of the proposed borrowing. Each Lender shall make
its pro rata Share of the amount of such Loans available to the Administrative Agent in same day funds not later than (x) in the case of a Base Rate Loan, 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Funding Date and (y) in the case of a Term
Benchmark Loan, 12:00 noon (New York City time) on the Funding Date. Such Loans of a Lender shall be equal to such Lender’s pro rata Share of the aggregate amount of all such Loans requested by the Borrower pursuant to the
applicable Notice of Borrowing. Upon satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent specified in Section 3.01 (in the case of the Initial Loans) and Section 3.02 (in the case of all Loans) the Administrative Agent shall make the proceeds
of such Loans available to the Borrower by causing an amount of funds equal to the proceeds of all such Loans received by the Administrative Agent to be credited to an account in New York City designated by the Borrower in same day
funds.

Unless the Administrative Agent shall have been notified by any Lender prior to any Funding Date (or, in the case of Base Rate Loans, not later than 3:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Funding Date) in respect of any Loan that
such Lender does not intend to make available to the Administrative Agent such pro rata Share of such Loan on such Funding Date, the Administrative Agent may assume that such Lender has made such amount available to the
Administrative Agent on such Funding Date and the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion may, but shall not be obligated to, make available to the Borrower a corresponding amount on such Funding Date. If such corresponding
amount is not in fact made available to the Administrative Agent by such Lender, the Administrative Agent shall be entitled to recover such corresponding amount on prompt demand from such Lender together with interest thereon, for each
day from such Funding Date until the date such amount is paid to the Administrative Agent at the customary rate set by the Administrative Agent for the correction of errors among Lenders for three Business Days and thereafter at the Base
Rate. If such Lender does not pay such corresponding amount forthwith upon the Administrative Agent’s demand therefor, the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Borrower shall immediately pay such
corresponding amount to the Administrative Agent. Nothing in this Section 2.01(c) shall be deemed to relieve any Lender from its obligation to fulfill its Commitment hereunder or to prejudice any rights which the Borrower may have
against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.

(d) Extension of Commitments.

(i) The Commitments may be extended, if at the time no Potential Event of Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, in the manner and amount set forth in this Section 2.01(d), for a period of one year
measured from the Termination Date then in effect (the date of effectiveness of such extension, an “Extension Date”). If
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the Borrower wishes to request an extension of each Lender’s Commitment, it shall give notice to that effect to the Administrative Agent not less than 30 days prior to the Termination Date then in effect, whereupon the Administrative
Agent shall promptly notify each of the Lenders of such request. Each Lender will use its best efforts to respond to such request, whether affirmatively or negatively, as it may elect in its sole discretion, within 20 days of such request to
the Administrative Agent. If any Lender shall not have responded affirmatively within such 20-day period, such Lender shall be deemed to have rejected the Borrower’s proposal to extend its Commitment, and only the Commitments of
those Lenders which have responded affirmatively shall be extended, subject to receipt by the Administrative Agent of counterparts of an Extension Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit H hereto (the “Extension Agreement”)
duly completed and signed by the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and all of the Lenders which have responded affirmatively. No extension of the Commitments pursuant to this Section 2.01(d) shall be legally binding on any party
hereto unless and until such Extension Agreement is so executed and delivered by the Required Lenders; provided that (i) the Termination Date may only be so extended for two one-year periods, (ii) no such extension may occur more
than once in any twelve-month period and (iii) no such extension shall result in a Termination Date for any Lender that is more than five years after the relevant Extension Date.

(ii)    If any Lender rejects, or is deemed to have rejected, the Borrower’s proposal to extend its Commitment, (A) this Agreement shall terminate on the Termination Date then in effect with respect to such Lender, (B) the
Borrower shall pay to such Lender on such Termination Date any amounts due and payable to such Lender on such date and (C) the Borrower may, if it so elects, designate a Person not theretofore a Lender and acceptable to the
Administrative Agent to become a Lender, or agree with an existing Lender that such Lender’s Commitment shall be increased, provided that the aggregate amount of the Commitments following any designation or agreement may not
exceed the aggregate amount of the Commitments on the date hereof. Upon execution and delivery by the Borrower and such replacement Lender or other Person of an instrument of assumption in form and amount satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and execution and delivery of the Extension Agreement pursuant to Section 2.01(d)(i), such existing Lender shall have a Commitment as therein set forth or such other Person shall become a Lender with a
Commitment as therein set forth and all the rights and obligations of a Lender with such a Commitment hereunder. On the date of termination of any Lender’s Commitment as contemplated by this paragraph, the respective participations
of the other Lenders in all outstanding Letters of Credit shall be redetermined on the basis of their respective Commitments after giving effect to such termination, and the participation therein of the Lender whose Commitment is
terminated shall terminate; provided that the Borrower shall, if and to the extent necessary to permit such redetermination of participations in Letters of Credit within the limits of the Commitments which are not terminated, prepay on
such date a portion of the outstanding Loans, and such redetermination and termination of participations in outstanding Letters of Credit shall be conditioned upon its having done so.

(iii)    The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Lenders of the effectiveness of each extension of the Commitments pursuant to this Section 2.01(d).
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Section 2.02.    Notices of Conversion/Continuation. (a) Subject to the provisions of Section 2.09 hereof, the Borrower shall have the option (i) to convert at any time all or any part of the outstanding Base Rate Loans in an aggregate
minimum amount of $10,000,000 and integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess of that amount, to Term Benchmark Loans and (ii) upon the expiration of any Interest Period applicable to outstanding Term Benchmark Loans, to continue all
or any portion of such Term Benchmark Loans in an aggregate minimum amount of $10,000,000 and integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess of that amount, as Term Benchmark Loans. The succeeding Interest Period(s) of such
converted or continued Term Benchmark Loan shall commence on the date of conversion in the case of clause (i) above and on the last day of the Interest Period of the Term Benchmark Loans to be continued in the case of clause (ii) above.

The Borrower shall deliver a Notice of Conversion/Continuation to the Administrative Agent no later than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) at least three Business Days in advance of the proposed conversion/continuation date. A
Notice of Conversion/Continuation shall specify (i) the proposed conversion/continuation date (which shall be a Business Day), (ii) the amount of the Loan to be converted/continued, (iii) the nature of the proposed conversion/continuation
and (iv) the requested Interest Period.

Except as provided in Section 2.09(d) hereof, a Notice of Conversion/Continuation for conversion to, or continuation of, a Term Benchmark Loan shall be irrevocable and the Borrower shall be bound to convert or continue in
accordance therewith.

(b)        Unless the Borrower shall have given the Administrative Agent (x) a timely Notice of Conversion/Continuation in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.02(a) hereof with respect to Term Benchmark Loans outstanding
or (y) written notice of its intent to prepay Term Benchmark Loans, furnished not later than 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the third Business Day prior to the last day of the Interest Period with respect to such Term Benchmark Loans,
the Borrower shall be deemed to have requested that such Term Benchmark Loans be continued for an additional Interest Period of one month.

Section 2.03.    Registry. (a) The Administrative Agent shall maintain a register (the “Register”) on which it will record the Commitment of each Lender, each Loan made by such Lender, each repayment of any Loan made by such
Lender, the stated amount of each Letter of Credit and the principal amount of each Lender’s outstanding Letter of Credit Liabilities. Any such recordation by the Administrative Agent on the Register shall constitute prima facie evidence
thereof, absent manifest error. Each Lender shall record on its internal records (including computerized systems) the foregoing information as to its own Commitment, Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities. Failure to make any such
recordation, or any error in such recordation, shall not affect the Borrower’s obligations hereunder in respect of the Loans and the Letters of Credit.

(b)        The Borrower hereby agrees that, upon the request of the Administrative Agent if so instructed by any Lender at any time, such Lender’s Loans shall be evidenced by a promissory note substantially in the form of Exhibit A
hereto (a “Note”). The Note issued to each Lender pursuant to this Section 2.03(b) shall (i) be payable to such Lender and its registered assigns, (ii) be payable in the principal amount of the outstanding Loans evidenced thereby, (iii)
provide that all Loans then outstanding shall be repaid on the date as provided herein, (iv) bear interest as
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provided in the appropriate clause of Section 2.05 hereof, (v) be entitled to the benefits of this Agreement, and (vi) have attached thereto a schedule (a “Loans and Principal Payments Schedule”) substantially in the form of the Schedule
to Exhibit A hereto. At the time of the making of each Loan or principal payment in respect thereof, each Lender may, and is hereby authorized to, make a notation on the Loans and Principal Payments Schedule of the date and the amount
of such Loan or payment, as the case may be. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the failure to make a notation with respect to the making of any Loan, shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under the
applicable Note with respect to such Loan and payments of principal by the Borrower shall not be affected by the failure to make a notation thereof on the appropriate Loans and Principal Payments Schedule.

Section 2.04.    Pro Rata Borrowings. The Loans comprising each Borrowing under this Agreement shall be made by the Lenders simultaneously and each Lender’s Loan shall be equal to such Lender’s pro rata Share of such
Borrowing. It is understood that no Lender shall be responsible for any default by any other Lender in its obligation to make a Loan hereunder and that each Lender shall be obligated to make the Loans provided to be made by it hereunder
subject to the terms hereof, regardless of the failure of any other Lender to fulfill its commitment to make Loans hereunder.

Section 2.05.    Interest. (a) Rate of Interest on Loans.

The Borrower agrees to pay interest in respect of the unpaid principal amount of each Loan made to it from and including the date made to but not including the date repaid.

(i)    Each RFR Loan shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the sum of the RFR Margin plus the applicable Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR.

(ii) Each Term Benchmark Loan shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof for the applicable Interest Period at an interest rate per annum equal to the sum of the Term Benchmark Margin plus the applicable
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate.

(iii)    Each Base Rate Loan shall bear interest on the unpaid principal amount thereof at an interest rate per annum equal to the sum of the Base Rate Margin plus the applicable Base Rate.

The Administrative Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Loans hereunder in accordance with this Section 2.05(a). The Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice to the Borrower and Lenders of each rate of
interest so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.

(b)    Interest Periods. In connection with each Term Benchmark Loan, the Borrower shall elect an interest period (each an “Interest Period”) to be applicable to such Loan, which shall be either a one, three or six month period;
provided that:

(i)    the Interest Period for each Term Benchmark Loan shall commence on the date of such Loan;
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(ii)    if an Interest Period would otherwise expire on a day which is not a Business Day, such Interest Period shall expire on the next succeeding Business Day; provided that if any Interest Period would otherwise expire on a
day which is not a Business Day but is a day of the month after which no further Business Day occurs in such month, such Interest Period shall expire on the next preceding Business Day;

(iii)    any Interest Period which begins on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest Period) shall end on the
last Business Day of such ending calendar month;

(iv)    no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Termination Date; and

(v)    there shall be no more than 30 Interest Periods outstanding at any time.

(c)    Interest Payments. Interest shall be payable on each Loan in arrears on each Interest Payment Date applicable to that Loan, upon any prepayment of that Loan (to the extent accrued on the amount being prepaid) and when due
and payable (whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise).

(d)    Computation of Interest. All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year, except that interest computed by reference to the Base Rate at times when the Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be
computed on the basis of a 365-day year (or 366 days in a leap year) and in each case shall be payable on the actual number of days elapsed in the period during which it accrues. In computing interest on any Loan, the date of the making of
the Loan or, in the case of a Term Benchmark Loan, the first day of an Interest Period, as the case may be, shall be included and the date of payment or the expiration of an Interest Period, as the case may be, shall be excluded; provided that
if a Loan is repaid on the same day on which it is made, one day’s interest shall be paid on that Loan.

(e)    Default Interest. Any principal payments on the Loans not paid when due and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, any interest, fee or other amount not paid when due, in each case whether at stated maturity, by notice of
prepayment, by acceleration or otherwise, shall thereafter bear interest payable upon demand at a rate per annum equal to the sum of 2% plus the higher of (i) the rate of interest applicable to such Loans or (ii) the rate of interest otherwise
payable under this Agreement for Base Rate Loans.

Section 2.06.    Commissions and Fees. (a) Facility Fees.

(i)    The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders a facility fee in Dollars at the Facility Fee Rate accrued from and including the Effective Date to but not including the Termination Date
on the daily average aggregate amount of the Commitments (whether used or unused).

(ii)    Such facility fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed. Such facility fees shall be paid quarterly in arrears on each March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31 and upon the date of termination of the Commitments in their entirety (and, if later, the date the Loans shall be
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repaid in their entirety). From the effective date of any termination or reduction of Commitments, such facility fees shall cease to accrue or be correspondingly reduced. If the Commitments are terminated in their entirety or reduced,
facility fees accrued on the total Commitments, or accrued on the aggregate amount of the reduction of the Commitments (in the case of such a reduction), shall be payable on the effective date of such termination or reduction.

(b)    Letter of Credit Fees. The Borrower shall pay (i) to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders ratably a letter of credit fee accruing daily on the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at a
rate per annum equal to the Letter of Credit Fee Rate for such day and (ii) to each Issuing Lender for its own account, a letter of credit fronting fee accruing daily on the aggregate amount then available for drawing under all Letters of
Credit issued by such Issuing Lender at such rate as may be mutually agreed between the Borrower and such Issuing Lender from time to time. Such letter of credit fees shall be paid quarterly in arrears on each March 31, June 30,
September 30 and December 31 and upon the date of termination of the Commitments in their entirety (and, if later, the date the Letter of Credit Liabilities shall be reduced to zero); provided that the Borrower and an Issuing Lender may
agree to alternate dates for payment of the letter of credit fronting fees for the account of such Issuing Lender. All letter of credit fees and fronting fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual
number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).

(c)    Administrative Fees. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent an annual fee (the “Administrative Fee”) in Dollars in an amount equal to the amount previously agreed to in writing by the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent. Such Administrative Fee shall be payable quarterly in advance commencing on the date of this Agreement and on each successive quarterly anniversary of such date, so long as any Loan or Commitment is outstanding
on such date; provided that if the Borrower shall terminate the Commitments in their entirety pursuant to Section 2.07(a) prior to the Termination Date, a pro rata portion of the Administrative Fee relating to the period from the Termination
Date to the end of the applicable quarter shall be refundable.

(d)    Time of Payment. The Borrower shall make payment of each Lender’s facility and letter of credit fees and of the Administrative Agent’s Administrative Fee hereunder, not later than 12:00 noon (New York City time) on the date
when due in Dollars and in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent. Upon receipt of any amount representing facility or letter of credit fees paid pursuant to this Section 2.06, the Administrative Agent shall pay such
amount to the Lenders based upon their respective pro rata Shares.

Section 2.07.    Reductions in Commitments; Repayments and Payments.

(a)    Reductions of Total Commitment.

After the Effective Date, the Borrower shall have the right, upon at least three Business Days’ prior irrevocable written notice to the Administrative Agent, who will promptly notify the Lenders thereof, without premium or penalty,
to permanently reduce or terminate the Total Commitment, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, in minimum aggregate amounts

29
#96109338v22    



of $10,000,000 (unless the Total Commitment at such time is less than $10,000,000, in which case, in an amount equal to the Total Commitment at such time) and, if such reduction is greater than $10,000,000, in integral multiples of
$5,000,000 in excess of such amount, provided that (i) any such reduction of the Total Commitment shall apply to the Commitment of each Lender in accordance with its pro rata Share of the aggregate of such reduction, (ii) any such
reduction in the Total Commitment shall be permanent and (iii) after giving effect to any such reduction, the Total Commitment shall equal or exceed the Total Outstanding Amount.

(b)    Voluntary Prepayments.

Subject, in the case of any Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan, to Section 2.09(e), the Borrower shall have the right to prepay any Loan in whole at any time or in part from time to time without premium or penalty in an aggregate
minimum amount of $10,000,000 and integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess of that amount or, if less, the outstanding principal amount of such Loan. The Borrower shall give notice (by telex or telecopier) (which shall be irrevocable)
to the Administrative Agent and each Lender of each proposed prepayment hereunder, (x) with respect to Base Rate Loans, not later than 10:30 a.m. (New York City time) on the Business Day preceding the day of the proposed repayment,
(y) with respect to Term Benchmark Loans, at least three U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the day of the proposed prepayment and (z) with respect to RFR Loans, at least five U.S. Government Securities Business Days
prior to the day of the proposed prepayment, and in each case shall specify the proposed prepayment date (which shall be a Business Day), the aggregate principal amount of the proposed prepayment and which Loans are to be prepaid.

(c)    Interest on Principal Amounts Prepaid. All prepayments under this Section 2.07 shall be made together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of such prepayment on the principal amount prepaid and any other amounts
payable pursuant to Section 2.09(e) of this Agreement.

(d)    Method and Place of Payment. All payments to be made by the Borrower on account of principal and interest on each Loan shall be made without setoff or counterclaim to the Administrative Agent, for the ratable account of
each Lender, not later than 12:00 noon (New York City time) on the date when due and shall be made in Dollars and in same day funds. Whenever any payment with respect to any Loan shall be due on a day which is not a Business Day, the
due date thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, with respect to payments of principal, interest shall be payable at the applicable rate during such extension; provided, however, that with respect to Term
Benchmark Loans, if the next succeeding Business Day falls in another calendar month, such payments shall be made on the next preceding Business Day. The Administrative Agent shall remit to each Lender its pro rata Share of all such
payments received in collected funds by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender in respect of which such payment is made.

(e)    Order of Payment. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all payments made by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent (other than any fee or indemnification payments not specifically
designated under the terms of this Agreement as being for the benefit of the Lenders) shall be applied by the Administrative Agent, on behalf of each Lender based on its pro rata Share, (i) first, to the payment of expenses referred to in
Section
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9.02 hereof, (ii) second, to the payment of the fees referred to in Section 2.06 hereof, (iii) third, to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest on such Lender’s Base Rate Loans until all such accrued interest has been paid, (iv) fourth, to the
payment of accrued and unpaid interest on such Lender’s Term Benchmark Loans and RFR Loans until all such accrued interest has been paid, (v) fifth, to the payment of the unpaid principal amount of such Lender’s Base Rate Loans, and
(vi) sixth, to the payment of the unpaid principal amount of such Lender’s Term Benchmark Loans and RFR Loans.

Section 2.08.    Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the Loans made or the Letters of Credit issued by the Lenders may be used for acquisitions, repurchases of capital stock of the Borrower, the funding of dividends payable to
shareholders of the Borrower and for general corporate purposes of the Borrower.

Section 2.09.    Special Provisions Governing Term Benchmark Loans and RFR Loans. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the following provisions shall govern with respect to Term Benchmark Loans and RFR
Loans as to the matters covered:

(a)    [Reserved].

(b)    Alternate Rate of Interest.

(i)    Subject to clauses (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) of this Section 2.09(b), if:

(A)    the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) (A) prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Term Benchmark Borrowing, that adequate and
reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate (including because the Term SOFR Reference Rate is not available or published on a current basis), for such Interest Period or (B) at any time, that
adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the applicable Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR; or

(B)    the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that (A) prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for such Interest Period
will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Loans (or its Loan) included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period or (B) at any time, Adjusted Daily Simple
SOFR will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Loans (or its Loan) included in such Borrowing;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone, telecopy or electronic mail as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until (x) the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and
the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist with respect to the relevant Benchmark and (y) the Borrower delivers a new Notice of Conversion/Continuation in accordance with the terms of Section
2.02 or a new Notice of Borrowing in accordance with the terms of Section 2.01(b), any Notice of Conversion/Continuation that requests 
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the conversion of any Revolving Borrowing to, or continuation of any Revolving Borrowing as, a Term Benchmark Borrowing and any Notice of Borrowing that requests a Term Benchmark Revolving Borrowing shall instead be
deemed to be a Notice of Conversion/Continuation or a Notice of Borrowing, as applicable, for (x) an RFR Borrowing so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is not also the subject of Section 2.09(b)(i)(A) or (B) above or (y) a
Base Rate Borrowing if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR also is the subject of Section 2.09(b)(i)(A) or (B) above and (2) any Notice of Borrowing that requests an RFR Borrowing shall instead be deemed to be a Notice of Borrowing,
as applicable, for a Base Rate Borrowing; provided that if the circumstances giving rise to such notice affect only one Type of Borrowings, then all other Types of Borrowings shall be permitted. Furthermore, if any Term Benchmark
Loan or RFR Loan is outstanding on the date of the Borrower’s receipt of the notice from the Administrative Agent referred to in this Section 2.09(b)(i) with respect to a Relevant Rate applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan or RFR
Loan, then until (x) the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist with respect to the relevant Benchmark and (y) the Borrower delivers a new Notice of
Conversion/Continuation in accordance with the terms of Section 2.02 or a new Notice of Borrowing in accordance with the terms of Section 2.01(b), (1) any Term Benchmark Loan shall on the last day of the Interest Period applicable
to such Loan, be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute, (x) an RFR Borrowing so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is not also the subject of 2.09(b)(i)(A) or (B) above or (y) a Base Rate Loan if the
Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR also is the subject of Section 2.09(b)(i)(A) or (B) above, on such day, and (2) any RFR Loan shall on and from such day be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute a Base Rate Loan.

(ii)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any
setting of the then-current Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark
Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of
any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date,
such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after
the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document so long as the Administrative Agent
has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.

(iii)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark
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Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will
become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(iv)    The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (A) any occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, (B) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, (C) the effectiveness of any
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (D) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (f) below and (E) the commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any
determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 2.09(b), including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or
adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its
or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 2.09(b).

(v)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (A) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate
(including the Term SOFR Rate) and either (1) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable
discretion or (2) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then
the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (B) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i)
above either (1) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (2) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative
for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

(vi)    Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Borrower may revoke any request for (i) a Term Benchmark Borrowing, conversion to or continuation of Term
Benchmark Loans to be made, converted or continued or (ii) a RFR Borrowing or conversion to RFR Loans, during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any request for
a Term Benchmark Borrowing or RFR Borrowing, as applicable, into a request for a Borrowing of or conversion to (A) an RFR Borrowing so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is not the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event
or (B) a Base Rate Borrowing if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period
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or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any
determination of Base Rate. Furthermore, if any Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan is outstanding on the date of the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period with respect to a
Relevant Rate applicable to such Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan, then until such time as a Benchmark Replacement is implemented pursuant to this Section 2.09(b), (1) any Term Benchmark Loan shall on the last day of the
Interest Period applicable to such Loan, be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute, (x) an RFR Borrowing so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is not the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event or (y)
a Base Rate Loan if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event, on such day and (2) any RFR Loan shall on and from such day be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute a
Base Rate Loan.

(c)    Required Termination and Prepayment. In the event that on any date any Lender shall have reasonably determined (which determination shall be final and conclusive and binding upon all parties) that the making or continuation
of its Loans has become unlawful by, or would be inconsistent with, compliance by that Lender in good faith with any law, governmental rule, regulation or order (whether or not having the force of law and whether or not failure to comply
therewith would be unlawful), then, and in any such event, that Lender shall be an Affected Lender and it shall promptly give notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (which notice the Administrative Agent shall promptly
transmit to each Lender) of that determination. Subject to the prior withdrawal of a Notice of Borrowing or prepayment of the Loans of the Affected Lender as contemplated by the following Section 2.09(d) hereof, the obligation of the
Affected Lender to make Loans during any such period shall be terminated at the earlier of the termination of the Interest Period then in effect or when required by law and the Borrower shall no later than the termination of the Interest
Period in effect at the time any such determination pursuant to this Section 2.09(c) is made or earlier, when required by law, repay Loans of the Affected Lender together with all interest accrued thereon.

(d)    Options of the Borrower. In lieu of paying an Affected Lender such additional moneys as are required by Section 2.09(h) or 2.10 hereof or the prepayment of an Affected Lender required by Section 2.09(c), hereof but in no
event in derogation of Section 2.09(e) hereof, the Borrower may exercise any one of the following options:

(i)    If the determination by an Affected Lender relates only to Loans then being requested by the Borrower pursuant to a Notice of Borrowing or a Notice of Conversion/Continuation, the Borrower may by giving written
notice to the Administrative Agent (who shall promptly give similar notice to each Lender) no later than the date immediately prior to the date on which such Loans are to be made, continued or converted withdraw as to the Affected
Lender that Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Conversion/Continuation, as the case may be; or

(ii)    Upon written notice to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, the Borrower may terminate the obligations of the Lenders to make Loans as, and to convert Loans into, Term Benchmark Loans or RFR Loans, as
applicable, and in such event, the
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Borrower shall, prior to the time any payment pursuant to Section 2.09(c) hereof is required to be made or, if the provisions of Section 2.09(d) hereof are applicable, at the end of the then current Interest Period, convert all of such
Loans into Base Rate Loans; or

(iii)    The Borrower may give written notice to the Affected Lender and the Administrative Agent (who shall promptly give similar notice to each Lender) and require the Affected Lender to make the Loan then being
requested as a Base Rate Loan or to continue to maintain its outstanding Base Rate Loan then the subject of a Notice of Conversion/Continuation as a Base Rate Loan or to convert its Term Benchmark Loan or RFR Loan, as
applicable, then outstanding that is so affected into a Base Rate Loan at the end of the then current Interest Period (or at such earlier time as prepayment is otherwise required to be made pursuant to Section 2.09(c) hereof), that notice
to pertain only to the Loans of the Affected Lender and to have no effect on the obligations of the other Lenders to make or maintain Term Benchmark Loans or RFR Loans, as applicable, or to convert Base Rate Loans into Term
Benchmark Loans or RFR Loans, as applicable; or

(iv)    At its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Affected Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Affected Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions
contained in Section 9.15), all its interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Sections 2.09(h) or 2.14) and obligations under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to an assignee that shall assume
such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if such Lender accepts such assignment).

(e)    Compensation.

(i)    The Borrower shall compensate each Lender, upon written request by that Lender (which request shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for requesting such amounts), for all reasonable losses, expenses and liabilities
(including, without limitation, any interest paid by that Lender to lenders of funds borrowed by it to make or carry its Term Benchmark Loans and any loss (other than loss of margins) sustained by that Lender in connection with the
re-employment of such funds), which that Lender may sustain with respect to its Term Benchmark Loans if for any reason (other than a default or error by that Lender) (A) a borrowing of any Term Benchmark Loan does not occur
on a date specified therefor in a Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Conversion/Continuation, (B) any repayment or conversion of any of such Lender’s Term Benchmark Loans occurs on a date which is not the last day of the Interest
Period applicable to that Term Benchmark Loan, (C) any repayment of any such Lender’s Term Benchmark Loans is not made on any date specified in a notice of repayment given by the Borrower, or (D) as a consequence of any
other failure by the Borrower to repay such Lender’s Term Benchmark Loans when required by the terms of this Agreement.

(ii)    The Borrower shall compensate each Lender, upon written request by that Lender (which request shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for requesting such amounts), for all reasonable losses, expenses and
liabilities (including, without limitation, any interest paid by that Lender to lenders of funds borrowed by it to make or carry its
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RFR Loans and any loss (other than loss of margins) sustained by that Lender in connection with the re-employment of such funds), which that Lender may sustain with respect to its RFR Loans if for any reason (other than a default
or error by that Lender) (A) a borrowing of any RFR Loan does not occur on a date specified therefor in a Notice of Borrowing, (B) any repayment of any such Lender’s RFR Loans is not made on any date specified in a notice of
repayment given by the Borrower, or (C) as a consequence of any other failure by the Borrower to repay such Lender’s RFR Loans when required by the terms of this Agreement.

(f)    Affected Lender’s Obligation to Mitigate. Each Lender agrees that, as promptly as practicable after it becomes aware of the occurrence of an event or the existence of a condition that would cause it to be an Affected Lender
under Section 2.09(c) hereof, it will, to the extent not inconsistent with such Lender’s internal policies, use reasonable efforts to make, fund or maintain the affected Loans of such Lender through another Applicable Lending Office if as a
result thereof the illegality or other adverse circumstances which would otherwise require prepayment of such Loans pursuant to Section 2.09(c) hereof would cease to exist and if, as determined by such Lender, in its sole discretion, the
making, funding or maintaining of such Loans through such other Applicable Lending Office would not otherwise materially adversely affect such Loans or such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable expenses incurred
by any Lender in utilizing another Applicable Lending Office pursuant to this Section 2.09(f).

(g)    Booking of Loans. Each Loan shall be booked by the Lender making such Loan at, to, or for the account of, its Applicable Lending Office for such Loan.

(h)    Increased Costs. Except with respect to Taxes or Domestic Taxes imposed on or with respect to any payment made by the Borrower under this Agreement or any Note, which shall be governed by Section 2.14, if, by reason of
(x) after the date hereof, the introduction of or any change (including, without limitation, any change by way of imposition or increase of reserve requirements) in or in the interpretation of any law or regulation (whether or not proposed or
published prior to the date hereof), or (y) the compliance with any guideline or request from any central bank or other Governmental Authority or quasi-governmental authority exercising control over banks or financial institutions generally
(whether or not having the force of law):

(i)    any Lender (or its Applicable Lending Office) shall be subject to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to its Loans or Letters of Credit or its obligation to make Loans or its obligations hereunder in respect of Letters
of Credit or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or

(ii)    any reserve (including, without limitation, any imposed by the Board), special deposit, compulsory loan, insurance charge or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit (including
letters of credit and participations therein) extended by, any Lender’s Applicable Lending Office shall be imposed or deemed applicable or any other condition affecting its Loans or Letters of Credit or its obligation to make Loans or
its obligations hereunder in respect of Letters of
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Credit shall be imposed on any Lender or its Applicable Lending Office or the interbank market;

and as a result thereof there shall be any increase in the cost to that Lender of agreeing to make or making, funding or maintaining, continuing or converting Loans or of issuing or participating in any Letters of Credit (except to the extent
such Lender is entitled to compensation therefor during the relevant Interest Period pursuant to Section 2.07(e)), or there shall be a reduction in the amount received or receivable by that Lender or its Applicable Lending Office or such
Issuing Lender, then the Borrower shall from time to time, upon written notice from and demand by that Lender or Issuing Lender (which shall be promptly furnished upon the Lenders being made subject thereto) (with a copy of such
notice and demand to the Administrative Agent), pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of that Lender or Issuing Lender, within five Business Days after the date specified in such notice and demand, additional amounts sufficient
to indemnify that Lender or Issuing Lender against such increased cost. A certificate as to the basis for and calculation of the amount of such increased cost, submitted to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent by that Lender or Issuing
Lender, shall, absent manifest error, be final, conclusive and binding for all purposes.

(i)    Certain Requirements. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for purposes of this Agreement, (x) the Dodd Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and all requests, rules, guidelines and directives
promulgated thereunder and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives concerning capital adequacy promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar
authority) or United States regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall be deemed to have been adopted after the date hereof, regardless of the date enacted or adopted.

(j)    Term Benchmark Loans and RFR Loans After Default. After the occurrence of and during the continuance of a Potential Event of Default or an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent may, upon the request of the Required
Lenders, prohibit Loans from being requested as, converted into or continued as Term Benchmark Loans or, to the extent applicable pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(ii), RFR Loans.

Section 2.10.    Capital Requirements. If while any portion of the Total Commitment is in effect or any Loans are outstanding, any Lender determines that the adoption of any law, treaty, rule, regulation, guideline or order regarding
capital or liquidity adequacy or capital or liquidity maintenance or any change therein, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency charged with the
interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by such Lender, with any request or directive regarding capital or liquidity adequacy or capital or liquidity maintenance (whether or not having the force of law and whether or not the
failure to comply therewith would be unlawful) of any such Governmental Authority, central bank or comparable agency, has or would have the effect of increasing the amount of capital or liquidity required to be maintained by such Lender
or by any corporation controlling such Lender (including, without limitation, with respect to any Lender’s Commitment), then the Borrower shall from time to time, within 15 days of written notice and demand from such Lender (with a
copy to the Administrative Agent), pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of such Lender, additional amounts sufficient to compensate such Lender for the cost of such additional required capital or liquidity, to the extent
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such Lender determines such increase to be attributable to the existence, issuance or maintenance of such Loans, Letters of Credit, or obligations for the account of the Borrower. A certificate showing in reasonable detail the computations made
in arriving at such cost, submitted to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent by such Lender shall, absent manifest error, be final, conclusive and binding for all purposes.

Section 2.11.    Intentionally Omitted.

Section 2.12.    Letters of Credit. (a) Existing Letters of Credit. On the Effective Date, each Issuing Lender that has issued an Existing Letter of Credit shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have sold to each
Lender, and each Lender shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have purchased from the Issuing Lender, a participation in such Existing Letter of Credit and the related Letter of Credit Liabilities to the extent of its
Applicable Percentage. On and after the Effective Date, each Existing Letter of Credit shall constitute a Letter of Credit for all purposes hereof. An Existing Letter of Credit may contain a statement to the effect that such Existing Letter of
Credit is issued for the account of a Subsidiary of the Borrower; provided, however, that notwithstanding such statement, the Borrower shall be the actual account party for all purposes of this Credit Agreement for such Existing Letter of Credit
and such statement shall not affect the Borrower’s reimbursement obligations hereunder with respect to such Existing Letter of Credit. The Existing Letters of Credit include certain Letters of Credit denominated in certain currencies other than
Dollars. Notwithstanding the limitation in Section 2.12(b) that Letters of Credit issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be denominated solely in Dollars, such Existing Letters of Credit (and renewals and extensions thereof) may be maintained
in the respective currencies in which they are currently denominated pursuant to procedures mutually satisfactory to the Borrower, the Issuing Lender and the Administrative Agent pursuant to which the Dollar equivalent thereof shall be
determined from time to time and such Dollar equivalent shall be utilized for purposes of determining the rights and obligations of the Lenders hereunder with respect to such Existing Letters of Credit; provided that (i) in no event shall any
Lender be required to make payment hereunder in any currency other than Dollars, (ii) in no event shall any change in the Dollar equivalent of any such Existing Letter of Credit cause the Total Outstanding Amount to exceed the Total
Commitment and (iii) the foregoing shall not affect the obligation of the Borrower to reimburse the Issuing Lender for any drawing under any such Existing Letter of Credit in the currency in which such drawing was made.

(b)    Commitment to Issue Letters of Credit. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each Issuing Lender agrees to issue Letters of Credit denominated in Dollars from time to time before the Termination Date upon the request of the
Borrower; provided that, (i) immediately after each Letter of Credit is issued (A) the Total Outstanding Amount shall not exceed the Total Commitment, (B) the aggregate amount of the Letter of Credit Liabilities shall not exceed $100,000,000,
(C) the stated amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit issued by an Issuing Lender shall not exceed such Issuing Lender’s Letter of Credit Commitment and (D) no Letter of Credit is for the benefit, directly or indirectly, of any Governmental
Authority other than any Governmental Authority of the United States, or any state or other political subdivision thereof; provided that in any case no Letter of Credit may be used in connection with a military transaction. Upon the date of
issuance by an Issuing Lender of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Lender shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have sold to each Lender,
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and each Lender shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have purchased from the Issuing Lender, a participation in such Letter of Credit and the related Letter of Credit Liabilities to the extent of its Applicable
Percentage.

(c)    Method for Issuance; Terms; Extensions.

(i)    The Borrower shall give the Issuing Lender notice (with a copy to the Administrative Agent) at least three Business Days (or such shorter notice as may be acceptable to the Issuing Lender in its discretion) prior to the
requested issuance of a Letter of Credit (or, in the case of renewal or extension, prior to the Issuing Lender’s deadline for notice of nonextension) specifying the date such Letter of Credit is to be issued, and describing the terms of such
Letter of Credit and the nature of the transactions to be supported thereby (such notice, including any such notice given in connection with the extension of a Letter of Credit, a “Notice of Issuance”). Upon receipt of a Notice of
Issuance, the Issuing Lender shall promptly notify the Administrative Agent, and the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each Lender of the contents thereof and of the amount of such Lender’s participation in such Letter of
Credit. If requested by the Issuing Lender, the Borrower shall submit a letter of credit application on the Issuing Lender’s standard form in connection with any request for a Letter of Credit. In the event of any inconsistency between the
terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other agreement submitted by the Borrower to, or entered into by the Borrower with, the Issuing Lender relating to any
Letter of Credit, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control.

(ii)    The obligation of the Issuing Lender to issue each Letter of Credit shall, in addition to the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.02 be subject to the conditions precedent that such Letter of Credit shall be in such form
and contain such terms as shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Issuing Lender and that the Borrower shall have executed and delivered such other customary instruments and agreements relating to such Letter of Credit as the Issuing
Lender shall have reasonably requested; provided, however, that any Issuing Lender may decline to issue any Letter of Credit at such Issuing Lender’s sole discretion (including, without limitation, if such Issuing Lender’s internal
policies do not permit the issuance of a letter of credit for the purposes for which such Letter of Credit is being requested). No Issuing Lender shall be required to issue any Letter of Credit if any order, judgment or decree of any
Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain such Issuing Lender from issuing such Letter of Credit, or any law applicable to such Issuing Lender shall prohibit, or require that such Issuing Lender
refrain from, the issuance of letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon such Issuing Lender with respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which such
Issuing Lender is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Effective Date, or shall impose upon such Issuing Lender any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense that was not applicable on the Effective Date and that such
Issuing Lender in good faith deems material to it. The Borrower shall also pay to the Issuing Lender for its own account issuance, drawing, amendment, settlement and extension charges, if any, in the amounts and at the times as agreed
between the Borrower and the Issuing Lender. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Lead Arranger shall act as an
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Issuing Lender on a pro rata basis based on its aggregate Commitment if no other Lender desires to act in such capacity with respect to a Notice of Issuance.

(iii)    The extension or renewal of any Letter of Credit shall be deemed to be an issuance of such Letter of Credit. If any Letter of Credit contains a provision pursuant to which it is deemed to be extended, such Letter of Credit
shall be extended in accordance with its terms unless (i) a notice of termination shall have been given by the applicable Issuing Lender by the date specified in such Letter of Credit as the date by which such notice is required to be
given or (ii) the Borrower shall have provided such Issuing Lender notice of non-extension prior to the date specified in such Letter of Credit as the date by which such notice is required to be given. Each Letter of Credit shall expire
at or before the close of business on the date that is one year after such Letter of Credit is issued (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one year after such renewal or extension); provided that (A) a Letter of Credit may
contain a provision pursuant to which it is deemed to be extended on an annual basis unless notice of termination is given by the Issuing Lender and (B) in no event will a Letter of Credit expire (including pursuant to a renewal or
extension thereof) on a date later than the fifth Business Day prior to the Termination Date.

(d)    Payments; Reimbursement Obligations.

(i)    Upon receipt from the beneficiary of any Letter of Credit of any notice of a drawing under such Letter of Credit, the Issuing Lender shall, within the time period stipulated by the terms and conditions of such Letter of
Credit, examine the documents delivered with such notice of drawing and following such examination, such Issuing Lender shall notify the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower and
each other Lender as to the amount to be paid as a result of such demand or drawing and the date such payment is to be made by the Issuing Lender (the “Payment Date”). The Borrower shall be irrevocably and unconditionally
obligated to reimburse the Issuing Lender for any amounts paid by the Issuing Lender upon any drawing under any Letter of Credit, without presentment, demand, protest or other formalities of any kind, which reimbursement may
be made through the borrowing of a Base Rate Loan as set forth in Section 2.12(d)(ii). Such reimbursement shall be due on the Payment Date; provided that no such payment shall be due from the Borrower any earlier than the date
of receipt by it of notice of its obligation to make such payment (or, if such notice is received by the Borrower after 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on any date, on the next succeeding Business Day); and provided further that if
and to the extent any such reimbursement is not made by the Borrower in accordance with this clause (i) or clause (ii) below on the Payment Date, then (irrespective of when notice thereof is received by the Borrower), such
reimbursement obligation shall bear interest, payable on demand, for each day from and including the Payment Date to but not including the date such reimbursement obligation is paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the rate
applicable to Base Rate Loans for such day.

(ii)    If the Commitments remain in effect on the Payment Date, all such amounts paid by the Issuing Lender and remaining unpaid by the Borrower after the date and time required by Section 2.12(d)(i) (a “Reimbursement
Obligation”) shall, if and to
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the extent that the amount of such Reimbursement Obligation would be permitted as a Borrowing of Loans pursuant to Section 3.02, and unless the Borrower otherwise instructs the Administrative Agent by not less than one
Business Day’s prior notice, convert automatically to Base Rate Loans on the date such Reimbursement Obligation arises. The Administrative Agent shall, on behalf of the Borrower (which hereby irrevocably directs the
Administrative Agent so to act on its behalf), give notice no later than 12:00 noon (New York City time) on such date requesting each Lender to make, and each Lender hereby agrees to make, a Base Rate Loan, in an amount equal to
such Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the Reimbursement Obligation with respect to which such notice relates. Each Lender shall make such Loan available to the Administrative Agent at its address referred to in Section 9.07 in
immediately available funds, not later than 2:00 p.m. (New York City time), on the date specified in such notice. The Administrative Agent shall promptly pay the proceeds of such Loans to the Issuing Lender, which shall
immediately apply such proceeds to repay the Reimbursement Obligation.

(iii)    To the extent the Reimbursement Obligation is not refunded by a Lender pursuant to clause (ii) above, such Lender will pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Issuing Lender, immediately upon the
Issuing Lender’s demand at any time during the period commencing after such Reimbursement Obligation arises until reimbursement therefor in full by the Borrower, an amount equal to such Lender’s Applicable Percentage of such
Reimbursement Obligation, together with interest on such amount for each day from the date of the Issuing Lender’s demand for such payment (or, if such demand is made after 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on such date, from the
next succeeding Business Day) to the date of payment by such Lender of such amount at a rate of interest per annum equal to the Federal Funds Rate for the first three Business Days after the date of such demand and thereafter at a
rate per annum equal to the Base Rate for each additional day. The Issuing Lender will pay to each Lender ratably all amounts received from the Borrower for application in payment of its Reimbursement Obligations in respect of
any Letter of Credit, but only to the extent such Lender has made payment to the Issuing Lender in respect of such Letter of Credit pursuant hereto; provided that in the event such payment received by the Issuing Lender is required
to be returned, such Lender will return to the Issuing Lender any portion thereof previously distributed to it by the Issuing Lender.

(e)    Obligations Absolute. The obligations of the Borrower and each Lender under subsection (d) above shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, under all circumstances whatsoever, including without limitation the following circumstances:

(i)    any lack of validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any Letter of Credit or any document related hereto or thereto;

(ii)    any amendment or waiver of or any consent to departure from all or any of the provisions of this Agreement or any Letter of Credit or any document related hereto or thereto, provided by any party affected thereby;
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(iii)    the use which may be made of the Letter of Credit by, or any acts or omission of, a beneficiary of a Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom the beneficiary may be acting);

(iv)    the existence of any claim, set-off, defense or other rights that the Borrower may have at any time against a beneficiary of a Letter of Credit (or any Person for whom the beneficiary may be acting), any Lender
(including the Issuing Lender) or any other Person, whether in connection with this Agreement or the Letter of Credit or any document related hereto or thereto or any unrelated transaction;

(v)    any statement or any other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever;

(vi)    payment under a Letter of Credit against presentation to the Issuing Lender of documents that do not comply with the terms of such Letter of Credit;

(vii)    any termination of the Commitments prior to, on or after the Payment Date for any Letter of Credit, whether at the scheduled termination thereof, by operation of Article 7 or otherwise; or

(viii)    any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by any Lender (including the Issuing Lender), the Administrative Agent or any other Person or any other event or circumstance whatsoever that might, but for the
provisions of this subsection (viii), constitute a legal or equitable discharge of or defense to the Borrower’s or the Lender’s obligations hereunder;

provided, that this Section 2.12(e) shall not limit the rights of the Borrower or any Lender under Section 2.12(f)(ii).

(f)    Indemnification; Expenses.

(i)    The Borrower hereby indemnifies and holds harmless each Lender and the Administrative Agent and the officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors and affiliates of each of them from and against any and all
claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs or expenses which it may reasonably incur in connection with a Letter of Credit issued pursuant to this Section 2.12; provided that the Borrower shall not be required to indemnify any Lender,
or the Administrative Agent, for any claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs or expenses, to the extent found by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Person.

(ii)    Neither any Lender nor the Administrative Agent nor any of their officers or directors or employees or agents shall be liable or responsible, by reason of or in connection with the execution and delivery or transfer of or
payment or failure to pay under any Letter of Credit, including without limitation any of the circumstances enumerated in subsection (e) above; provided that, notwithstanding Section 2.12(e), the Borrower shall have a claim for
direct (but not consequential, special, indirect or punitive) damage suffered by it, to the extent finally determined by a court of competent
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jurisdiction to have been caused by (x) the Issuing Lender’s gross negligence or willful misconduct in determining whether documents presented under any Letter of Credit complied with the terms of such Letter of Credit or (y) the
Issuing Lender’s failure to pay under any Letter of Credit after the presentation to it of documents strictly complying with the terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit; provided further that each Lender shall have a claim for
direct (but not consequential, special, indirect or punitive) damage suffered by it, to the extent finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to have been caused by the Issuing Lender’s gross negligence or willful
misconduct in determining whether documents presented under any Letter of Credit complied with the terms of such Letter of Credit. The parties agree that, with respect to documents presented which appear on their face to be in
substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, the Issuing Lender may, in its discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or
information to the contrary, or refuse to accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms of such Letter of Credit.

(iii)    Nothing in this subsection (f) is intended to limit the obligations of the Borrower under any other provision of this Agreement. To the extent the Borrower does not indemnify an Issuing Lender as required by this
subsection, the Lenders agree to do so ratably in accordance with their Commitments.

(g)    Stop Issuance Notice. If the Required Lenders reasonably determine at any time that the conditions set forth in Section 3.02 would not be satisfied in respect of a Borrowing at such time, then the Required Lenders may request
that the Administrative Agent issue a “Stop Issuance Notice”, and the Administrative Agent shall issue such notice to each Issuing Lender. Such Stop Issuance Notice shall be withdrawn upon a determination by the Required Lenders that
the circumstances giving rise thereto no longer exist. No Letter of Credit shall be issued while a Stop Issuance Notice is in effect. The Required Lenders may request issuance of a Stop Issuance Notice only if there is a reasonable basis
therefor, and shall consider reasonably and in good faith a request from the Borrower for withdrawal of the same on the basis that the conditions in Section 3.02 are satisfied; provided that the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Lenders
may and shall conclusively rely upon any Stop Issuance Notice while it remains in effect.

(h)    Other Documentation. If the terms and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other agreement submitted by the Borrower to or entered into by the Issuing Lender relating to any Letter of Credit are not
consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control; provided that, to the extent the Issuing Lender so agrees in such other documentation, its liabilities and responsibilities in
connection with a Letter of Credit may be governed thereby rather than by subsection (f)(ii), but such agreement by the Issuing Lender may not directly or indirectly alter the rights and obligations of any other Lender under this Agreement.

(i)    Applicability of ISP and UCP. If so expressly agreed by the Issuing Lender and the Borrower when a Letter of Credit is issued (including any such agreement applicable to an Existing Letter of Credit), (i) the rules of the ISP
shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and
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(ii) the rules of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, as most recently published by the International Chamber of Commerce at the time of issuance shall apply to each Letter of Credit.

(j)    Resignation as Issuing Lender. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Issuing Lender may, upon 10 days’ notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, resign as Issuing Lender. If an Issuing
Lender resigns as Issuing Lender, it shall retain all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of an Issuing Lender hereunder with respect to all Letters of Credit outstanding as of the effective date of its resignation as Issuing Lender and all
Letter of Credit Liabilities with respect thereto (including the right to require the Lenders to make Base Rate Loans or fund risk participations in Reimbursement Obligations pursuant to Section 2.12(d)).

Section 2.13.    Defaulting Lenders. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the following provisions shall apply for so long as such Lender is a Defaulting
Lender:

(a)    Fees shall cease to accrue on the unused portion of the Commitment of such Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 2.06(a).

(b)    If any Letter of Credit Liabilities exist at the time such Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender then:

(i)    the Letter of Credit Liabilities of such Defaulting Lender shall be automatically reallocated among the non-Defaulting Lenders in accordance with their respective Applicable Percentages but only to the extent the sum of
each non-Defaulting Lender’s Loans plus its Letter of Credit Liabilities does not exceed such non-Defaulting Lender’s Commitment;

(ii)    if the reallocation described in clause (i) above cannot, or can only partially, be effected, the Borrower shall within three Business Days following notice by the Administrative Agent or any Issuing Lender that has an
outstanding Letter of Credit (x) first, either (A) procure the reduction or termination of the Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities (after giving effect to any partial reallocation pursuant to clause (i) above) or (B) cash
collateralize for the benefit of the Issuing Lender(s) only the Borrower’s obligations corresponding to such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities (after giving effect to any partial reallocation pursuant to clause (i) above)
for so long as such Letter of Credit Liabilities are outstanding;

(iii)    if the Borrower cash collateralizes any portion of such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities pursuant to clause (ii) above, the Borrower shall not be required to pay any fees to such Defaulting Lender pursuant
to Section 2.06(b) with respect to such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities during the period and to the extent such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities are cash collateralized;

(iv)    to the extent that the Letter of Credit Liabilities of the Defaulting Lender are reallocated pursuant to clause (i) above, then the letter of credit fees payable to the
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Lenders pursuant to Section 2.06(b) shall to the same extent be adjusted in accordance with such non-Defaulting Lenders’ Applicable Percentages; and

(v)    if all or any portion of such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities is not reallocated, reduced, terminated nor cash collateralized pursuant to clause (i) or (ii) above, then, without prejudice to any rights or
remedies of the Issuing Lender(s) or any other Lender hereunder, all letter of credit fees payable under Section 2.06(b) with respect to such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities shall be payable to the Issuing Lender(s)
until and to the extent that such Letter of Credit Liabilities are reallocated, reduced, terminated and/or cash collateralized;

provided that, subject to Section 9.18, no reallocation hereunder shall constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder against a Defaulting Lender arising from that Lender having become a Defaulting Lender, including
any claim of a non-Defaulting Lender as a result of such non-Defaulting Lender’s increased exposure following such reallocation.

(c)    So long as such Lender is a Defaulting Lender, the Issuing Lenders shall not be required to issue, amend, extend or increase any Letter of Credit, unless the Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Liabilities after giving effect
thereto will be 100% covered by the Commitments of the non-Defaulting Lenders and/or reduced, terminated and/or cash collateralized in accordance with Section 2.13(b), and participating interests in any newly issued or increased Letter
of Credit shall be allocated among non-Defaulting Lenders in a manner consistent with Section 2.13(b)(i) (and such Defaulting Lender shall not participate therein).

(d)    In the event that the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and the Issuing Lenders reasonably determine that a Defaulting Lender has adequately remedied all matters that caused such Lender to be a Defaulting Lender, then the
Letter of Credit Liabilities of the Lenders shall be readjusted to reflect the inclusion of such Lender’s Commitment and on such date such Lender shall purchase at par such of the Loans of the other Lenders as the Administrative Agent shall
determine is necessary in order for such Lender to hold such Loans in accordance with its Applicable Percentage, and upon such purchase such Lender shall cease to be a Defaulting Lender and any cash collateral posted for its Letter of
Credit Liabilities shall be released; provided that there shall be no retroactive effect on fees which were not paid pursuant to Section 2.13(a) or which were reallocated pursuant to Section 2.13(b)(iv) and (v).

(e)    If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.01, 2.12 or 8.04, then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion and notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, (i) apply any
amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender under this Agreement for the benefit of the Administrative Agent or any Issuing Lender to satisfy such Lender’s obligations to it under such Section
until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid, and/or (ii) hold any such amounts in a segregated account as cash collateral for, and application to, any future funding obligations of such Lender under any such Section, in the case of
each of clauses (i) and (ii) above, in any order as determined by the Administrative Agent in its discretion.
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Section 2.14.    Taxes.
(a)    Any and all payments by the Borrower to or for the account of any Lender or the Administrative Agent hereunder or under any Note shall be made free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or future taxes,

duties, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding, (i) in the case of each Lender and the Administrative Agent, taxes imposed on or measured by its income, and franchise taxes
imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) is organized or any political subdivision thereof, (ii) in the case of each Lender, taxes imposed on or measured by its
income, and franchise or similar taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction of such Lender’s Applicable Lending Office or any political subdivision thereof, and (iii) taxes resulting from FATCA (all such non-excluded taxes, duties, levies, imposts,
deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred to as its “Taxes”, and all such excluded taxes being hereinafter referred to as its “Domestic Taxes”). If the Borrower or the Administrative Agent (the “Withholding
Agent”) shall be required by law to deduct any Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder or under any Note to any Lender or the Administrative Agent, (i) the sum payable by the Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that
after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.14) such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received
had no such deductions been made, (ii) such Withholding Agent shall make such deductions, (iii) such Withholding Agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance with applicable law
and (iv) if the Withholding Agent is the Borrower, the Borrower shall furnish to the Administrative Agent, at its address referred to in Section 9.07, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing payment thereof.

(b)    In addition, the Borrower agrees to pay any present or future stamp or documentary taxes and any other excise or property taxes, or charges or similar levies which arise from any payment made hereunder or under any Note or from
the execution or delivery of, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or any Note (hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”).

(c)    The Borrower agrees to indemnify each Lender and the Administrative Agent for the full amount of Taxes or Other Taxes (including, without limitation, any Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts
payable under this Section 2.14) paid or payable by such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising therefrom or with respect thereto; provided, the Borrower
shall not be obligated to indemnify any party hereunder pursuant to this Section for penalties, interest or similar liabilities arising therefrom or with respect thereto to the extent such penalties, interest or similar liabilities are attributable to the
gross negligence or willful misconduct by such party. In addition, the Borrower agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender for all Domestic Taxes and any liability (including penalties, interest and expenses) arising
therefrom or with respect thereto, in each case to the extent that such Domestic Taxes result from any payment or indemnification pursuant to this Section for (i) Taxes or Other Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction other than the United States or
(ii) Domestic Taxes of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be. This indemnification shall be made within 15 days from the date such Lender or the Administrative Agent (as the case may be) makes demand therefor.
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(d)    Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with respect to payments made hereunder or under any Note shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent, at the time or times
reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without
withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, if requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or
the Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to any withholding (including backup withholding) or information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Sections 2.14(e), (f), (g) and (h) below) shall not be required if in the
Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense (and the Borrower has not elected to reimburse such cost or expense) or would materially
prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(e)    Without limiting the foregoing, at the times indicated herein, each Lender organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States shall provide the Borrower and the Administrative Agent with Internal Revenue Service
form W-8BEN-E, W-8BEN, W-8IMY (accompanied by a form W-8ECI, W-8BEN-E, W-8BEN, W-9 and other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable) or W-8ECI (in each case accompanied by any statements which
may be required under applicable Treasury regulations), as appropriate, or any successor form prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, certifying that such Lender is entitled to receive payments under this Agreement (i) without deduction or
withholding of any United States federal income taxes or (ii) subject to a reduced rate of United States federal withholding tax, unless, in each case of clause (i) and (ii) of this Section 2.14(e), an event (including, without limitation, any change
in treaty, law or regulation) has occurred prior to the date on which any such delivery would otherwise be required which renders such forms inapplicable or which would prevent the Lender from duly completing and delivering any such form
with respect to it and the Lender advises the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that it is not capable of receiving payments without any deduction or withholding of such taxes. Such forms shall be provided (x) on or prior to the date of the
Lender’s execution and delivery of this Agreement in the case of each Lender listed on the signature pages hereof, and on or prior to the date on which it becomes a Lender in the case of each other Lender, and (y) on or before the date that such
form expires or becomes obsolete or after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent form so delivered by the Lender. If the form provided by a Lender at the time such Lender first becomes a party to this Agreement
indicates a United States interest withholding tax rate in excess of zero, United States withholding tax at such rate shall be considered excluded from “Taxes” as defined in Section 2.14(a) and shall not be subject to indemnification pursuant to
Section 2.14(c), unless the assignor of such Lender was entitled, at the time of such assignment, to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to such withholding taxes pursuant to Section 2.14(a). In addition, to the extent that
for reasons other than a change of treaty, law or regulation any Lender becomes subject to an increased rate of United States interest withholding tax while it is a party to this Agreement, United States withholding tax at such increased rate shall
be considered excluded from “Taxes” as defined in Section 2.14(a).
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(f)    Any Lender that is a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender
under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of Internal Revenue Service form W-9 certifying, to the extent such Lender is legally entitled to do
so, that such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax.

(g)    If a payment made to a Lender hereunder or under any Note would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA
(including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably
requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the
Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to comply with its obligations under FATCA, to determine that such Lender has or has not complied with such Lender’s obligations
under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for the purposes of this Section 2.14(g), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement, whether or not
included in the definition of FATCA.

(h)    Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(i)    For any period with respect to which a Lender organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States has failed to provide the Borrower with the appropriate form in accordance with Section 2.14(e) (unless such
failure is excused by the terms of Section 2.14(e)), such Lender shall not be entitled to indemnification under Section 2.14(a) or 2.14(c) with respect to Taxes imposed by the United States; provided, however, that should a Lender, which is
otherwise exempt from or subject to a reduced rate of withholding tax, become subject to Taxes because of its failure to deliver a form required hereunder, the Borrower shall take such steps as such Lender shall reasonably request to assist
such Lender to recover such Taxes.

(j)    Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent for any Taxes and Domestic Taxes (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the Administrative Agent for such Taxes and Domestic
Taxes and without limiting the obligation, if any, of the Borrower to do so), in each case attributable to such Lender that are paid or payable by the Administrative Agent in connection with this Agreement or any Note, and any reasonable
expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto. This indemnification shall be made within 15 days from the date the Administrative Agent makes demand therefor.

(k)    Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.14 shall survive any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all other
obligations under this Agreement or any Note.
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(l)    If the Administrative Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole discretion, that it has received a refund of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or with respect to which the Borrower has
paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section, it shall pay over such refund to Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this Section with respect to the Taxes or
Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses with respect to such refund of the Administrative Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with
respect to such refund); provided that the Borrower, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to the Borrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant
Governmental Authority) to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This Section shall not be construed to require the
Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its taxes which it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.

Section 2.15.    Optional Increase in Commitments. Following the Effective Date, the Borrower may, if it so elects, increase the aggregate amount of the Commitments, either by designating a financial institution not theretofore a
Lender (an “Additional Lender”) to become a Lender (such designation to be effective only with the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent and each Issuing Lender, which consents will not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed), or by agreeing with an existing Lender (an “Increasing Lender”) that such Lender’s Commitment shall be increased. Upon execution and delivery by the Borrower and such Increasing Lender or Additional Lender of an
instrument in form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, together with such evidence of appropriate corporate authorization on the part of the Borrower with respect to the increased Commitments and such opinions of internal
counsel for the Borrower with respect to the increased Commitments as the Administrative Agent may request, such existing Lender shall have a Commitment as therein set forth or such other financial institution shall become a Lender with
a Commitment as therein set forth and all the rights and obligations of a Lender with such a Commitment hereunder; provided, that:

(i)    the Borrower shall provide a written notice of such increase at least 15 Business Days prior to the Increase Effective Date (as defined below) to the Administrative Agent, who shall promptly notify the Lenders
thereafter;

(ii)    the conditions set forth in Section 3.02(b) shall be satisfied both on and as of the date of such notice and on and as of the effective date of any increase in Commitments pursuant to this Section 2.15 (the “Increase
Effective Date”);

(iii)    any such increase shall be in an amount of at least $20,000,000 and, if such increase is greater than $20,000,000, in integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess of such amount; and

(iv)    immediately after such increase is made, the aggregate amount of the Commitments shall not exceed $1,300,000,000.
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On the Increase Effective Date, in the event that there are outstanding Loans, (i) each Additional Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent an amount equal to its pro rata Share of the aggregate outstanding Loans (and funded
participations, if any, in Letters of Credit) and (ii) each Increasing Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent an amount equal to the increase in its pro rata Share of the aggregate outstanding Loans (and funded participations as above), in
each case such payments shall be for the account of each other Lender. Upon receipt of such amount by the Administrative Agent, (A) each other Lender shall be deemed to have ratably assigned that portion of its outstanding Loans that is
being reduced to the Additional Lenders and the Increasing Lenders in accordance with such Lender’s new Commitment or the increased portion thereof as applicable, (B) the Administrative Agent shall promptly distribute to each other
Lender its ratable share of the amounts received by the Administrative Agent pursuant to this paragraph and (C) the participations of the Lenders in outstanding Letters of Credit shall be determined in accordance with their Commitments
after giving effect to such increase. For the avoidance of doubt, no existing Lender shall have any obligation to participate in such increase except in its absolute and sole discretion.

ARTICLE 3

Conditions to Loans and Letters of Credit
Section 3.01.    Conditions to Initial Loans and Letters of Credit. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to satisfaction of each of the following conditions:

(a)    On or before the Effective Date, the Borrower shall have delivered to the Lenders (or to the Administrative Agent with sufficient copies, originally executed where appropriate, for each Lender) each, unless otherwise noted,
dated the Effective Date:

(i)    Certified copies of its Certificate of Incorporation, together with a good standing certificate from the Secretary of State of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, each to be dated a recent date prior to the Effective Date;

(ii)    Copies of its Bylaws, certified as of the Effective Date by its corporate secretary or an assistant secretary;

(iii)    Resolutions of its board of directors, directly or indirectly, approving and authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any other documents, instruments and certificates required to be
executed by the Borrower in connection herewith and, directly or indirectly, approving and authorizing the incurrence of the Loans and the issuances of the Letters of Credit, each certified as of the Effective Date by its corporate
secretary or an assistant secretary as being in full force and effect without modification or amendment;

(iv)    Signature and incumbency certificates with respect to the Persons executing this Agreement;

(v)    Executed copies of this Agreement; and
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(vi)    Such other documents as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request.

(b)    The Borrower shall have paid all fees and other amounts due and payable to the Agents and the Lenders on or before the Effective Date and for which invoices have been received by the Borrower reasonably in advance of the
Effective Date.

(c)    The Administrative Agent shall have received an originally executed copy of the favorable written opinions of E. Robert Lupone, Esq., Executive Vice President and General Counsel of the Borrower and Jayne M. Donegan,
Esq., Senior Executive Counsel of the Borrower, each dated as of the Effective Date and substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C annexed hereto; the Borrower hereby expressly instructs such counsel to prepare such opinion and
deliver it to the Lenders for their benefit and such opinion shall contain a statement to that effect.

(d)    The Administrative Agent shall have received an originally executed copy of the favorable written opinion of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, special counsel to the Agents, dated as of the Effective Date, substantially in the form
of Exhibit D annexed hereto.

(e)    All outstanding principal amounts (if any), accrued interest and accrued fees under the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2019, as amended from time to time (the “2019 Credit Agreement”), among the Borrower, the
lenders listed therein and JPMorgan Chase, as administrative agent, shall have been paid in full.

(f)    To the extent such documentation and information has been requested by the Lenders, the Lenders shall have received all documentation and other information required by bank regulatory authorities under applicable “know
your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the Patriot Act.

The Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent of the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in this Section 3.01, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding on all parties hereto.
The Lenders party hereto, comprising the “Required Lenders” under the 2019 Credit Agreement, and the Borrower agree that, upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, all commitments under the 2019 Credit Agreement shall terminate in
their entirety, automatically and without any requirement of notice to any party, all “Letters of Credit” issued thereunder and still outstanding (all of which are Existing Letters of Credit) shall be Letters of Credit hereunder and the
obligations of the parties under the 2019 Credit Agreement shall terminate, except as provided in Section 9.08(b) of the 2019 Credit Agreement. Promptly thereafter, the notes issued by the borrowers under the 2019 Credit Agreement shall
be returned by the lenders thereunder to the Borrower, marked “Cancelled”.

Section 3.02.    Conditions to All Loans and Letters of Credit. (i) The obligation of each Lender to make any Loans pursuant to a Notice of Borrowing is subject to prior or concurrent satisfaction or waiver by the Required Lenders
and (ii) the obligation of an Issuing Lender to issue (or renew or extend the term of) any Letter of Credit is subject to the satisfaction or waiver by the Required Lenders, of the following further conditions precedent:
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(a)    With respect to any such Loan or Letter of Credit, the Administrative Agent shall have received, before the Funding Date thereof or date of issuance (or renewal or extension) of such Letter of Credit, (i) an originally executed
Notice of Borrowing signed by any of the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, the treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the Borrower or (ii) a Notice of Issuance as required by Section 2.12(c) (the furnishing by the Borrower of
each such Notice of Borrowing or Notice of Issuance shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty of the Borrower that each of the conditions set forth in Section 3.02(b) hereof will be satisfied on the related Funding Date or
date of issuance (or renewal or extension) of such Letter of Credit);

(b)    As of the Funding Date of such Loan or date of issuance (or renewal or extension) of such Letter of Credit:

(i)    With respect to such Loan or Letter of Credit, the representations and warranties contained herein shall be true, correct and complete in all material respects on and as of that Funding Date or date of issuance (or renewal
or extension) of such Letter of Credit to the same extent as though made on and as of that date, except that the representations and warranties need not be true and correct to the extent that changes in the facts and conditions on which
such representations and warranties are based are required or permitted under this Agreement, except that the representations and warranties set forth in Section 4.04 shall not apply (provided that if any such representation or
warranty is qualified by “materially”, “Material Adverse Effect” or a similar term, such representation and warranty (as so qualified) shall be true and correct in all respects);

(ii)    No event shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the consummation of the Loans or the issuance (or renewal or extension) of the Letter of Credit on such Funding Date or date of issuance (or renewal
or extension) of such Letter of Credit and the use of the proceeds thereof which would constitute (a) an Event of Default or (b) a Potential Event of Default;

(iii)    The Borrower shall have performed in all material respects all agreements and satisfied in all material respects all conditions which this Agreement provides shall be performed by it on or before such Funding Date or
date of issuance (or renewal or extension) of such Letter of Credit;

(iv)    No order, judgment or decree of any court, arbitrator or governmental authority shall purport to enjoin or restrain that Lender from making that Loan or issuing (or renewing or extending) that Letter of Credit; and

(v)    The making of the Loans or the issuance (or renewal or extension) of the Letter of Credit requested on such Funding Date or date of issuance (or renewal or extension) of such Letter of Credit shall not violate Regulation
T, Regulation U or Regulation X or any other regulation of the Board or the Exchange Act.
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ARTICLE 4

Representations and Warranties
In order to induce the Lenders to enter into this Agreement and to make the Loans and issue the Letters of Credit, the Borrower represents and warrants to each Lender as of the Effective Date that the following statements are true,

correct and complete:

Section 4.01.    Organization, Powers and Good Standing. (a) Organization and Powers. The Borrower is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation. The
Borrower has all requisite corporate power and authority (i) to own and operate its properties and to carry on its business as now conducted and proposed to be conducted, except where the lack of corporate power and authority would not
have a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) to enter into this Agreement and to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b)    Good Standing. The Borrower is in good standing wherever necessary to carry on its present business and operations, except in jurisdictions in which the failure to be in good standing would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.02.    Authorization of Borrowing, Etc. (a) Authorization of Borrowing. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, and the borrowing of the Loans and the request for the issuance of each Letter of Credit,
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action by the Borrower.

(b)    No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and any Notes and the borrowing of the Loans and the request for the issuance of each Letter of Credit do not and will not (i) violate any
provision of law applicable to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries except to the extent such violation would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) violate the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) violate any order, judgment or decree of any court or other Governmental Authority binding on the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except to the extent such violation would not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (iv) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any Contractual Obligation of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except to
the extent such conflict, breach or default would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (v) result in or require the creation or imposition of any material Lien upon any of the material properties or assets of the
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (vi) require any approval of stockholders or any approval or consent of any Person under any Contractual Obligation of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries other than such approvals and consents
which (x) have been or will be obtained on or before the Effective Date or (y) the failure to obtain would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(c)    Governmental Consents. The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the issuance, delivery and performance by the Borrower of any Notes will not require on the part of the Borrower any
registration with, consent or approval of, or notice to, or other action to, with or by, any Governmental Authority other than any such
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registration, consent, approval, notice or other action which (i) has been duly made, given or taken or (ii) the failure to make, obtain, give or take would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d)    Binding Obligation. This Agreement is and any Notes to be issued when executed and delivered and each Loan when made will be a legally valid and binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in
accordance with its respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights generally or by equitable principles relating to
enforceability.

Section 4.03.    Financial Condition. The Borrower has delivered to the Lenders (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2022 and (ii) the unaudited
consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its subsidiaries for the six months ended July 2, 2022 (collectively, the “Financial Statements”). All such Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles except for the preparation of footnote disclosures for the unaudited statements. All such Financial Statements fairly present the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its subsidiaries as at the respective
dates thereof and the consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its subsidiaries for each of the periods covered thereby, subject, in the case of any unaudited interim financial statements, to changes resulting from
normal year-end adjustments.

Section 4.04.    No Material Adverse Change. Since January 1, 2022, there has been no change in the business, operations, properties, assets or financial condition of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, which has been, either in
any case or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 4.05.    Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Borrower’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2022 and in the Financial Statements delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 4.03 hereof, there
is no action, suit, proceeding, governmental investigation (including, without limitation, any of the foregoing relating to laws, rules and regulations relating to the protection of the environment, health and safety) of which the Borrower has
knowledge or arbitration (whether or not purportedly on behalf of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) at law or in equity or before or by any Governmental Authority, domestic or foreign, pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower,
threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any property of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries which is probable of being successful and which would have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.06.    Payment of Taxes. Except to the extent permitted by Section 5.03, all taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges upon the Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries and upon their respective properties,
assets, income and franchises which are material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and were due and payable, have been paid.
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Section 4.07.    Governmental Regulation. (a) Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any federal or state statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur Indebtedness for money borrowed as contemplated by
this Agreement.

(b)    Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is an “investment company” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

Section 4.08.    Securities Activities. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any
Margin Stock.

Section 4.09.    ERISA Compliance. (a) The Borrower and its Subsidiaries and each of their respective ERISA Affiliates are in compliance with all applicable provisions of ERISA and the regulations and published interpretations
thereunder with respect to all Pension Plans and all Multiemployer Plans, except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b)    No Termination Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur with respect to any Pension Plan, as the case may be, which has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result in any liability to the PBGC (or any
successor thereto) or to any other Person under Section 4062, 4063, or 4064 of ERISA, except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(c)    Neither the Borrower nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has incurred or reasonably expects to incur any withdrawal liability under Part E of Title IV of ERISA to any Multiemployer Plan except as could not reasonably be
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d)    The sum of the amount of unfunded benefit liabilities under all Pension Plans (excluding each Pension Plan with an amount of unfunded benefit liabilities of zero or less) which are required by ERISA to be funded in the current
fiscal year could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(e)    Neither the Borrower nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has failed to satisfy the minimum funding standard (whether or not waived) with respect to any Pension Plan except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or in
the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(f)    Neither the Borrower nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has or reasonably expects to become subject to a lien in favor of any Pension Plan under Section 303(k) of ERISA except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or
in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

As used in this Section 4.09, the term “amount of unfunded benefit liabilities” has the meaning specified in Section 4001(a)(18) of ERISA, and the term “minimum funding standard” has the meaning specified in Section 302 of
ERISA and Section 412 of the Code.
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Section 4.10.    Certain Fees. No broker’s or finder’s fee or commission will be payable by the Borrower with respect to the offer, issuance and sale of any Note or the borrowing of any Loan or the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement.

Section 4.11.    Subsidiaries. Each of the Borrower’s corporate Subsidiaries is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, and has all corporate powers and
all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted, except to the extent the failure to be in good standing or the failure to have such licenses, authorizations, consents
or approvals would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.12.    Economic Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Matters. The Borrower has implemented and will maintain in effect and use reasonable efforts to enforce policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the
Borrower, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions, and the Borrower, its directors and officers, its Subsidiaries and their respective directors,
executive officers and, to the knowledge of the Borrower, its and their respective employees, agents and Affiliates, are in compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions in all material respects. None of the Borrower, any
Subsidiary of the Borrower, or any director, officer or employee of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Borrower, any agent or Affiliate of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) is currently the subject of
any Sanctions or (ii) is located, organized or residing in any Designated Jurisdiction. Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary of the Borrower will, directly or, to the knowledge of the Borrower indirectly, use or lend, contribute, provide or
otherwise make available the proceeds of any Loan to any subsidiary, joint venture partner, or other Person, (a) to fund payments to any officer or employee of a Governmental Authority, or any Person controlled by a Governmental
Authority, or any political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting in an official capacity on behalf of any of the foregoing, in violation of applicable Anti-Corruption Laws, (b) to fund any
activity or business in, of or with, any Designated Jurisdiction or to fund any activity or business of or with any Person located, organized or residing in any Designated Jurisdiction or who, at the time of such funding, is the subject of any
Sanctions to the extent that any such activity or business, or the funding of any such activity or business, would be prohibited for a Person required to comply with Sanctions or in any manner that would result in the violation of any
Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.

Section 4.13.    EEA Financial Institution. The Borrower is not an EEA Financial Institution.

ARTICLE 5

Affirmative Covenants
The Borrower covenants and agrees that, so long as any of the Commitments hereunder shall be in effect or there is any Total Outstanding Amount, unless Required Lenders shall otherwise give prior written consent, it shall perform

all covenants in this Article 5:
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Section 5.01.    Financial Statements and Other Reports. The Borrower will maintain, and cause each of its subsidiaries to maintain, a system of accounting established and administered in accordance with sound business practices to
permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP in effect from time to time. The Borrower will deliver to the Lenders (except to the extent otherwise expressly provided below in Section 5.01(b)):

(a)     (i)     as soon as practicable and in any event within 45 days after the end of each fiscal quarter ending after the Effective Date in the Borrower’s fiscal year the consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated
subsidiaries as at the end of such period, and the related consolidated statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries in each case certified by the chief financial officer or controller of the Borrower that
they fairly present the financial condition of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries as at the dates indicated and the results of their operations and changes in their cash flows, subject to changes resulting from audit and normal year-end
adjustments, based on their respective normal accounting procedures applied on a consistent basis (except as noted therein);

(ii)     as soon as practicable and in any event within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year the consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries as at the end of such year and the related consolidated
statements of income and cash flows of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries for such fiscal year, accompanied by a report thereon of independent certified public accountants of recognized national standing selected by the
Borrower which report shall be unqualified as to going concern and scope of audit and shall state that such consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries as at the
dates indicated and the results of their operations and changes in their cash flows for the periods indicated in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with prior years (except as noted in
such report) and that the examination by such accountants in connection with such consolidated financial statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards;

(b)     (i)     together with each delivery of financial statements of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries pursuant to subdivisions (a)(i) and (a)(ii) above, (A) an Officer’s Certificate of the Borrower stating that the signer has
reviewed the terms of this Agreement and has made, or caused to be made under such signer’s supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the transactions and condition of the Borrower and its consolidated subsidiaries during the accounting
period covered by such financial statements and that such review has not disclosed the existence during or at the end of such accounting period, and that the signer does not have knowledge of the existence as at the date of the Officers’
Certificate, of any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default, or, if any such condition or event existed or exists, specifying the nature and period of existence thereof and what action the Borrower has
taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto; and (B) a Compliance Certificate demonstrating in reasonable detail compliance (as determined in accordance with GAAP during and at the end of such accounting periods) with the
restrictions contained in Section 6.03 and, in addition, a written statement of the chief accounting officer, chief financial officer, any vice president or the treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the Borrower describing in
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reasonable detail the differences between the financial information contained in such financial statements and the information contained in the Compliance Certificate relating to the Borrower’s compliance with Section 6.03 hereof;

(ii)    promptly upon their becoming available but only to the extent requested by a Lender, copies of all publicly available financial statements, reports, notices and proxy statements sent or made available generally by the
Borrower to its security holders or by any Subsidiary of the Borrower to its security holders other than the Borrower or another Subsidiary, of all regular and periodic reports and all registration statements and prospectuses, if any,
filed by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with any securities exchange or with the Securities and Exchange Commission and of all press releases and other statements made available generally by the Borrower or any
Subsidiary to the public concerning material developments in the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries;

(iii)    promptly upon the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer, the president, the chief accounting officer, the chief financial officer, the treasurer or the general counsel of the Borrower obtaining knowledge (A)
of any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default, (B) that any Person has given any notice to the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower or taken any other action with respect to a
claimed default or event or condition of the type referred to in Section 7.02, or (C) of a material adverse change in the business, operations, properties, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries,
taken as a whole (other than any change which has been publicly disclosed), an Officer’s Certificate specifying the nature and period of existence of any such condition or event, or specifying the notice given or action taken by such
holder or Person and the nature of such claimed default, Event of Default, Potential Event of Default, event or condition, and what action the Borrower has taken, is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto; and

(iv)    with reasonable promptness, (x) such other information and data with respect to the Borrower or any of its subsidiaries as from time to time may be reasonably requested by any Lender and (y) information and
documentation reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or any Lender for purposes of compliance with applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the Patriot Act.

Information required to be delivered pursuant to Sections 5.01(a) and 5.01(b)(ii) above shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which the Borrower provides notice to the Lenders that such information has been posted on the
Borrower’s website on the Internet at the website address listed on the signature pages hereof, at https://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm or at another website identified in such notice and accessible by the Lenders without
charge; provided that (i) such notice may be included in a certificate delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) and (ii) the Borrower shall deliver paper copies of the information referred to in Sections 5.01(a) and 5.01(b)(ii) to any Lender which
requests such delivery. The information required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) may be delivered electronically to the Administrative Agent.
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Section 5.02.    Conduct of Business and Corporate Existence.

(a)    Except as permitted by Section 6.01, the Borrower will at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect its corporate existence.

(b)    Except as permitted by Section 6.01, the Borrower will at all times preserve and keep in full force and effect, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to preserve and keep in full force and effect their respective rights and
franchises of the business, except to the extent any such failure would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.03.    Payment of Taxes. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges imposed upon it or any of its properties or assets or in respect of any of its
franchises, business, income or property when due which are material to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, provided that no such amount need be paid if being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly
instituted and diligently conducted and if such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles shall have been made therefor.

Section 5.04.    Maintenance of Properties; Insurance. The Borrower will maintain or cause to be maintained in good repair, working order and condition all properties used or useful in the business of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries and from time to time will make or cause to be made all appropriate repairs and renewals thereto and replacements thereof, except to the extent the failure to so maintain, repair, renew or replace would not reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower will maintain or cause to be maintained, with financially sound and reputable insurers, insurance with respect to its material properties and business and the material properties
and business of its Subsidiaries against loss or damage of the kinds customarily insured against by corporations of established reputation engaged in the same or similar businesses and similarly situated, of such types and in such amounts as
are customarily carried under similar circumstances by such other corporations and to the extent reasonably prudent may self-insure.

Section 5.05.    Inspection. The Borrower shall permit any authorized representatives designated by any Lender to visit and inspect any of the properties of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including its and their financial and
accounting records, and, to make copies and take extracts therefrom, and to discuss its and their affairs, finances and accounts with its and their officers, all upon reasonable notice and at such reasonable times during normal business hours
and as often as may be reasonably requested; provided that any confidential information so obtained by any Lender shall remain confidential except where disclosure is mandated by applicable laws or such information otherwise becomes
public other than by a breach by such Lender of this Section 5.05; provided further that this Section shall not prohibit any Lender from disclosing to any Agent (or any Agent from disclosing to any Lender) any Event of Default or Potential
Event of Default.

Section 5.06.    Compliance with Laws. The Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall comply in all material respects with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority (including,
without limitation, laws, rules and regulations relating
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to the disposal of hazardous wastes and asbestos in the environment and ERISA), noncompliance with which would have a Material Adverse Effect.

ARTICLE 6

Negative Covenants
The Borrower covenants and agrees that, so long as any of the Commitments shall be in effect or there is any Total Outstanding Amount, unless the Required Lenders shall otherwise give prior written consent, it will perform all

covenants in this Article 6:

Section 6.01.    Merger. The Borrower may not consolidate with, merge with or into or sell, lease or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets (as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in one transaction or a series of
related transactions) to any Person unless:

(a)    the Borrower shall be the continuing Person, or the Person (if other than the Borrower) formed by such consolidation or into which the Borrower is merged or to which the properties and assets of the Borrower are sold, leased
or transferred shall be a solvent corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or the District of Columbia and shall (A) expressly assume, by an agreement, executed and delivered to the Lenders,
in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, all of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement and the Notes and (B) deliver to the Administrative Agent, to the extent such documentation and
information has been requested by any Lender, all documentation and other information required by bank regulatory authorities under applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations, including the Patriot
Act;

(b)    immediately before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default and no Potential Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; and

(c)    the Borrower shall deliver to the Lenders an Officer’s Certificate (attaching the arithmetic computations to demonstrate compliance with Section 6.03) and an opinion of counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger,
sale, lease or transfer and such agreement comply with this Section 6.01 and that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to such transaction have been complied with.

Section 6.02.    Liens. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on or with respect to any property or asset (including any document
or instrument in respect of goods or accounts receivable) (other than Margin Stock) of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or any income or profits therefrom, except:

(i)    Liens in existence on the date hereof and modifications, extensions, renewals, replacements or refinancings thereof, provided that such Liens are not extended to cover any other property, assets or revenues;

(ii)    Permitted Encumbrances;
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(iii)    Liens on accounts receivable sold with recourse;

(iv)    Liens incurred in connection with the acquisition or capital improvement of property, plant or equipment by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, provided that the principal amount of the indebtedness so secured
shall not exceed in any case 100% of the cost to the Borrower or such Subsidiary of the property, plant or equipment acquired and provided, further, that each such Lien shall cover only the property, plant or equipment acquired or
improved and the proceeds thereof, substitutions therefor and replacements thereof;

(v)    Liens existing upon any property of a company which is merged with or into or is consolidated into, or substantially all the assets or shares of capital stock of which are acquired by, the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, at
the time of such merger, consolidation or acquisition; provided that such mortgage, pledge or other lien does not extend to any other property or assets, other than improvements to the property subject to such Lien; and

(vi)    Liens (other than Liens permitted by clauses (i)-(v) above) securing obligations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (including Indebtedness) not in excess of an amount equal to the Pooled Basket Amount less the
amount of unsecured Indebtedness of Subsidiaries permitted only pursuant to Section 6.05(a)(iii).

Nothing in this Section 6.02 shall prohibit the sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of any Margin Stock owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries at its fair value, or the creation, incurrence, assumption
or existence of any Lien on or with respect to any Margin Stock.

Section 6.03.    Financial Covenant. The Borrower will not at any time permit Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing to exceed an amount equal to 65% of Consolidated Capitalization.

Section 6.04.    Use of Proceeds. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, no portion of the proceeds of any borrowing or the Letters of Credit issued under this Agreement shall be used by the Borrower in
any manner which would cause the borrowing or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation U, Regulation T, or Regulation X or any other regulation of the Board or to violate the Exchange Act, in each case as in effect on the
date or dates of such borrowing and such use of proceeds.

Section 6.05.    Subsidiary Indebtedness.

(a)    The Borrower will not permit any of its Subsidiaries, other than Finance Companies, to incur or be liable in respect of any Indebtedness, other than:

(i)    Indebtedness owing to the Borrower or another Subsidiary;

(ii)    Indebtedness secured by a Lien permitted by Section 6.02; and
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(iii)    Unsecured Indebtedness not in excess of an amount equal to the Pooled Basket Amount less the amount of Indebtedness of the Borrower secured by Liens permitted only pursuant to Section 6.02(vi).

(b)    The Borrower will not permit the Finance Company Leverage Ratio at any time to exceed 9 to 1.

ARTICLE 7

Events of Default
If any of the following conditions or events (“Events of Default”) shall occur and be continuing:

Section 7.01.    Failure to Make Payments When Due. Failure to pay any installment of principal of any Loan or any reimbursement obligation in respect of any drawing under a Letter of Credit when due, whether at stated maturity,
by acceleration, by notice of prepayment or otherwise; or failure to pay any interest on any Loan or any other amount due under this Agreement when due and such default shall continue for 5 days; or

Section 7.02.    Default in Other Agreements. (i) Failure of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to pay when due any principal or interest on any Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness referred to in Section 7.01) in an individual
principal amount of $100,000,000 or more or items of Indebtedness with an aggregate principal amount of $100,000,000 or more beyond the end of any period prior to which the obligee thereunder is prohibited from accelerating payment
thereunder or any grace period after the maturity thereof, or (ii) breach or default of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than a default arising under any restrictive provision relating to any sale, pledge or other disposition of
Margin Stock contained in a lending agreement to which any Lender or Affiliate thereof is a party) with respect to any other term of (x) any evidence of any Indebtedness in an individual principal amount of $100,000,000 or more or items
of Indebtedness with an aggregate principal amount of $100,000,000 or more or (y) any loan agreement, mortgage, indenture or other agreement relating thereto, if such failure, default or breach shall continue for more than the period of
grace, if any, specified therein and shall not at the time of acceleration hereunder be cured or waived; or

Section 7.03.    Breach of Certain Covenants. Failure of the Borrower to perform or comply with any term or condition contained in (i) Section 5.02, 6.01, 6.03 or 6.04 of this Agreement or (ii) Section 6.05(b) of this Agreement, and
in the case of clause (ii) only, such failure to perform or comply shall continue unremedied or waived for five Business Days; or

Section 7.04.    Breach of Warranty. Any representation or warranty made by the Borrower in this Agreement or in any statement or certificate at any time given by such Person in writing pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection
herewith or therewith shall be false in any material respect on the date as of which made; or

Section 7.05.    Other Defaults under Agreement. The Borrower shall default in the performance of or compliance with any term contained in this Agreement other than those referred to above in Section 7.01, 7.03 or 7.04 and such
default shall not have been remedied or
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waived within 30 days after receipt of notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such default; or

Section 7.06.    Involuntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver, etc. (a) A court having jurisdiction in the premises shall enter a decree or order for relief in respect of the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in an
involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, which decree or order is not stayed; or any other similar relief shall be granted under any applicable
federal or state law; or (b) an involuntary case is commenced against the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect; or a decree or order of a
court having jurisdiction in the premises for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, sequestrator, trustee, custodian or other officer having similar powers over the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, or over all or a substantial
part of its property, shall have been entered; or an interim receiver, trustee or other custodian of the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries for all or a substantial part of the property of the Borrower or any of its Restricted
Subsidiaries is involuntarily appointed; or a warrant of attachment, execution or similar process is issued against any substantial part of the property of the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, and the continuance of any such
events in subpart (b) for 60 days unless dismissed, bonded or discharged; or

Section 7.07.    Voluntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver, etc. The Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries shall have an order for relief entered with respect to it or commence a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy
Code or any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, or shall consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case, or to the conversion of an involuntary case to a voluntary case, under
any such law, or shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, trustee or other custodian for all or a substantial part of its property; the making by the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of any assignment
for the benefit of creditors; or the inability or failure of the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, or the admission by the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in writing of its inability to pay its debts as such debts become
due; or the board of directors of the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary (or any committee thereof) adopts any resolution or otherwise authorizes action to approve any of the foregoing; or

Section 7.08.    Judgments and Attachments. Any money judgment, writ or warrant of attachment, or similar process involving individually or in the aggregate an amount in excess of $100,000,000 shall be entered or filed against the
Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary or any of its assets and shall remain undischarged, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed, as the case may be, for a period of 30 days or in any event later than five days prior to the date of any proposed
sale thereunder; or

Section 7.09.    Dissolution. Any order, judgment or decree shall be entered against the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries decreeing the dissolution or split up of the Borrower or that Restricted Subsidiary and such order
shall remain undischarged or unstayed for a period in excess of 30 days; or
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Section 7.10.    ERISA Title IV Liabilities. (a) The Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates shall terminate or experience the termination of (by action of the PBGC or any successor thereto) any Pension Plan, or shall experience the
appointment of or the institution of proceedings to appoint a trustee to administer any Pension Plan, or shall withdraw (under Section 4063 of ERISA) from a Pension Plan, if as of the date thereof or any subsequent date the sum of the
Borrower’s and each ERISA Affiliate’s liabilities to the PBGC or any other Person under Sections 4062, 4063 and/or 4064 of ERISA (calculated after giving effect to the tax consequences thereof) resulting from or otherwise associated with
the above described events could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; or

(b)    The Borrower or any of its ERISA Affiliates shall withdraw from any Multiemployer Plan and the aggregate amount of withdrawal liability (determined pursuant to Sections 4201 et seq. of ERISA) to which the Borrower
and/or its ERISA Affiliates become obligated to all such Multiemployer Plans could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; or

Section 7.11.    Change of Control. A Change of Control shall occur;

THEN (i) upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in the foregoing Sections 7.06 or 7.07, the unpaid principal amount of and accrued interest on all the Loans and any outstanding reimbursement obligation in respect
of any drawing under a Letter of Credit shall automatically become immediately due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower, and the
Commitments and the obligation of each Lender to make any Loans hereunder and the obligation of each Issuing Lender to issue any Letter of Credit hereunder shall thereupon terminate, and (ii) upon the occurrence of any other Event of
Default, the Required Lenders may, by written notice to the Borrower, (A) terminate the Commitments and the obligation of each Lender to make any Loans hereunder and the obligation of each Issuing Lender to issue any Letter of Credit
hereunder shall thereupon terminate and/or (B) declare the unpaid principal amount of and accrued interest on all the Loans and any outstanding reimbursement obligation in respect of any drawing under a Letter of Credit to be, and the
same shall forthwith become, immediately due and payable. Nevertheless, if at any time within 60 days after acceleration of the maturity of the Loans and any outstanding reimbursement obligation in respect of any drawing under a Letter
of Credit, the Borrower shall pay all arrears of interest and all payments on account of the principal or any outstanding reimbursement obligation in respect of any drawing under a Letter of Credit which shall have become due otherwise
than by acceleration (with interest on principal and, to the extent permitted by law, on overdue interest, at the rates specified in this Agreement) and all other fees and expenses then owed hereunder and all Events of Default and Potential
Events of Default (other than non-payment of principal of and accrued interest on the Loans and any outstanding reimbursement obligation in respect of any drawing under a Letter of Credit, in each case due and payable solely by virtue of
acceleration) shall be remedied or waived pursuant to Section 9.05, then the Required Lenders by written notice to the Borrower may (in their sole discretion) rescind and annul the acceleration and its consequences; but such action shall not
affect any termination of the Commitments or any subsequent Event of Default or Potential Event of Default or impair any right consequent thereon.
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Section 7.12.    Cash Cover. The Borrower agrees, in addition to the provisions in Article 7, that upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, it shall, if requested by the Administrative Agent upon the
instruction of the Lenders having more than 50% of the Letter of Credit Liabilities, pay to the Administrative Agent an amount in immediately available funds (which funds shall be held as collateral pursuant to arrangements satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders and the Issuing Lenders) equal to the aggregate amount available for drawing under all Letters of Credit outstanding at such time, provided that, upon the occurrence of any Event of
Default specified in Section 7.06 or 7.07 with respect to the Borrower, the Borrower shall pay such amount forthwith without any notice or demand or any other act by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders.

ARTICLE 8

Agents
Section 8.01.    Appointment. (a) Each of the Lenders hereby appoints and authorizes the entity named as Administrative Agent in the heading of this Agreement and its successors and assigns to act hereunder and under the other

instruments and agreements referred to herein as its agent hereunder and thereunder. Each Agent agrees to act as such upon the express conditions contained in this Article 8. The provisions of this Article 8 are solely for the benefit of the
Agents, and the Borrower shall not have any rights as a third party beneficiary of or any obligations under any of the provisions hereof other than Sections 8.05 and 8.06. In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement, each
Agent shall act solely as agent of the Lenders and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust with or for the Borrower. Without limiting the foregoing, each Lender
hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to execute and deliver, and to perform its obligations under, each of the Loan Documents to which the Administrative Agent is a party, and to exercise all rights, powers and remedies that the
Administrative Agent may have under such Loan Documents.

(b)    In case of the pendency of any proceeding with respect to the Borrower under any federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, the Administrative Agent (irrespective of
whether the principal of any Loan or any reimbursement obligation shall then be due and payable as herein expressed or by declaration or otherwise and irrespective of whether the Administrative Agent shall have made any demand on the
Borrower) shall be entitled and empowered (but not obligated) by intervention in such proceeding or otherwise:

(i)    to file and prove a claim for the whole amount of the principal and interest owing and unpaid in respect of the Loans and all reimbursement obligations, that are owing and unpaid and to file such other documents as may
be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Lenders, the Issuing Lenders and the Administrative Agent (including any claim under Sections 2.05, 2.06, 2.14, 9.02, 9.03 and 9.10) allowed in such judicial proceeding;
and

(ii)     to collect and receive any monies or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and to distribute the same;
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and any custodian, receiver, assignee, trustee, liquidator, sequestrator or other similar official in any such proceeding is hereby authorized by each Lender and each Issuing Lender to make such payments to the Administrative Agent and, in the
event that the Administrative Agent shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Lender or the Issuing Lenders, to pay to the Administrative Agent any amount due to it, in its capacity as the Administrative Agent, under the Loan
Documents (including under Sections 9.02 and 9.03). Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to authorize the Administrative Agent to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Lender or Issuing Lender any plan of
reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the obligations or the rights of any Lender or Issuing Lender or to authorize the Administrative Agent to vote in respect of the claim of any Lender or Issuing Lender in any such
proceeding.

Section 8.02.    Powers; General Immunity; Duties Specified. (a) Each Lender irrevocably authorizes each Agent to take such action on such Lender’s behalf and to exercise such powers hereunder and under the other instruments and
agreements referred to herein as are specifically delegated to such Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Agents shall have only those duties and responsibilities which are
expressly specified in this Agreement and each may perform such duties by or through its agents or employees. The duties of the Agents shall be mechanical and administrative in nature; and no Agent shall have by reason of this Agreement a
fiduciary or trust relationship in respect of any Lender or its Affiliates, and nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be so construed as to impose upon the Agents any obligations in respect of this Agreement or the
other instruments and agreements referred to herein except as expressly set forth herein or therein. Each Lender agrees that it will not assert any claim against the Administrative Agent based on an alleged breach of fiduciary duty by the
Administrative Agent in connection with this Agreement and/or the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b)    No Responsibility for Certain Matters. (i) No Agent shall be responsible to any Lender for the execution, effectiveness, genuineness, validity, enforceability, collectibility or sufficiency of this Agreement or any Loan or any Letter
of Credit, or for any representations, warranties, recitals or statements made herein or therein or made in any written or oral statement or in any financial or other statements, instruments, reports, certificates or any other documents in connection
herewith or therewith furnished or made by such Agent to any Lender or by or on behalf of the Borrower to such Agent or any Lender, or be required to ascertain or inquire as to the performance or observance of any of the terms, conditions,
provisions, covenants or agreements contained herein or therein or as to the use of the proceeds of the Loans or the Letters of Credit, or of the existence or possible existence of any Event of Default or Potential Event of Default.

(ii)    The Administrative Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any (i) notice of any of the events or circumstances set forth or described in Section 5.01(b)(iii) unless and until written notice thereof stating that it is a
“notice under Section 5.01(b)(iii)” in respect of this Agreement and identifying the specific clause under said Section is given to the Administrative Agent by the Borrower or (ii) notice of any default unless and until written notice
thereof (stating that it is a “notice of default”) is given to the Administrative Agent by the Borrower, a Lender or an Issuing Lender, and the Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire
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into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith, (iii) the performance or
observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document or the occurrence of any default, (iv) the sufficiency, validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan
Document or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article 3 or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm receipt of items (which on their face purport to be such
items) expressly required to be delivered to the Administrative Agent or satisfaction of any condition that expressly refers to the matters described therein being acceptable or satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(iii)    Without limiting the foregoing, the Administrative Agent (i) may treat the payee of any promissory note as its holder until such promissory note has been assigned in accordance with Section 9.15, (ii) may rely on the Register
to the extent set forth in Section 9.15, (iii) may consult with legal counsel (including counsel to the Borrower), independent public accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be
taken in good faith by it in accordance with the advice of such counsel, accountants or experts, (iv) makes no warranty or representation to any Lender or Issuing Lender and shall not be responsible to any Lender or Issuing Lender for any
statements, warranties or representations made by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (v) in determining compliance with any condition hereunder to the making of a Loan, or the
issuance of a Letter of Credit, that by its terms must be fulfilled to the satisfaction of a Lender or an Issuing Lender, may presume that such condition is satisfactory to such Lender or Issuing Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall
have received notice to the contrary from such Lender or Issuing Lender sufficiently in advance of the making of such Loan or the issuance of such Letter of Credit and (vi) shall be entitled to rely on, and shall incur no liability under or in
respect of this Agreement or any other Loan Document by acting upon, any notice, consent, certificate or other instrument or writing (which writing may be a fax, an electronic message, Internet or intranet website posting or other
distribution) and believed by it to be genuine and signed or sent or otherwise authenticated by the proper party or parties.

(c)    Exculpatory Provisions. Neither any Agent nor any of their respective officers, directors, employees or agents shall be responsible or liable to any Lender for any action taken or omitted hereunder or under the Notes or in connection
herewith or therewith unless caused by its or their gross negligence or willful misconduct. If an Agent shall request instructions from any Lender with respect to any act or action (including the failure to take an action) in connection with this
Agreement, such Agent shall be entitled to refrain from such act or taking such action unless and until such Agent shall have received instructions from the Required Lenders. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Agents
shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any communication, instrument or document believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons, and shall be entitled to rely
and shall be protected in relying on opinions and judgments of attorneys (who may be attorneys for the Borrower), accountants, experts and other professional advisors selected by it; and (ii) no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever
against any Agent as a result
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of such Agent acting or (where so instructed) refraining from acting under this Agreement or the other instruments and agreements referred to herein or therein in accordance with the instructions of the Required Lenders. The Agents shall be
entitled to refrain from exercising any power, discretion or authority vested in it under this Agreement or the other instruments and agreements referred to herein or therein unless and until it has obtained the instructions of the Required Lenders;
provided, however, that the Administrative Agent shall not be required to take any action that (i) the Administrative Agent in good faith reasonably believes exposes it to liability unless the Administrative Agent receives an indemnification and is
exculpated in a manner satisfactory to it from the Lenders and the Issuing Lenders with respect to such action or (ii) is contrary to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or applicable law, including any action that may be in violation of the
automatic stay under any requirement of law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors or that may effect a forfeiture, modification or termination of property of a Defaulting Lender in violation of any requirement of
law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors; provided, further, that the Administrative Agent may seek clarification or direction from the Required Lenders prior to the exercise of any such instructed action and may
refrain from acting until such clarification or direction has been provided. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Administrative Agent to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial liability in the performance of any of its
duties hereunder or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it shall have reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is not reasonably assured to it.

(d)    Agents Entitled to Act as Lender. The agency hereby created shall in no way impair or affect any of the rights and powers of, or impose any duties or obligations upon, any Agent in its respective individual capacity as a Lender
hereunder. With respect to its participation in the Loans and the Letters of Credit, each of JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A., Citibank, N.A. and MUFG Bank, Ltd. shall have the same rights and powers hereunder as any other Lender and
may exercise the same as though it were not performing the duties and functions delegated to it hereunder, and the term “Lender” or “Lenders” or any similar term shall, unless the context clearly otherwise indicates, include the Agents in their
respective individual capacity. Each of JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America, N.A., Citibank, N.A. and MUFG Bank, Ltd. and their respective Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust,
financial advisory or other business with the Borrower or any Affiliate or Subsidiary of the Borrower as if it were not performing the duties specified herein, and may accept fees and other consideration from the Borrower or any such Affiliate or
Subsidiary for services in connection with this Agreement and otherwise without having to account for the same to the Lenders.

(e)    The Administrative Agent may perform any of its duties and exercise its rights and powers hereunder or under any other Loan Document by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Administrative Agent. The
Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any of their respective duties and exercise their respective rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of this Article shall apply to any such
sub-agent and to the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities pursuant to this Agreement. The Administrative Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct
of any sub-agent except to the extent that a court of competent jurisdiction determines in a final and nonappealable judgment
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that the Administrative Agent acted with gross negligence or willful misconduct in the selection of such sub-agent.

Section 8.03.    Representations and Warranties; No Responsibility for Appraisal of Creditworthiness. Each Lender represents and warrants that it has made its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of
the Borrower in connection with the making of the Loans hereunder and has made and shall continue to make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of the Borrower. No Agent shall have any duty or responsibility either initially or on a
continuing basis to make any such investigation or any such appraisal on behalf of any Lender or to provide any Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto whether coming into its possession before the making of the
Loan or the issuance of the Letter of Credit or any time or times thereafter, and no Agent shall further have any responsibility with respect to the accuracy of or the completeness of the information provided to the Lenders.

Section 8.04.    Right to Indemnity. Each Lender severally in accordance with its Applicable Percentage agrees to indemnify each Agent and each Issuing Lender and the officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors and
affiliates of each of them to the extent such Agent or Issuing Lender shall not have been reimbursed by the Borrower, for and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses
(including, without limitation, counsel fees and disbursements) or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against such Agent or Issuing Lender in performing its duties hereunder
or under the Notes or any Letter of Credit or in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement; provided that no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits,
costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from an Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided further that nothing in this Section 8.04 shall affect any right that a Lender may have against an Issuing Lender under Section
2.12(f)(ii). If any indemnity furnished to an Agent or Issuing Lender for any purpose shall, in the opinion of such Agent or Issuing Lender, be insufficient or become impaired, such Agent or Issuing Lender may call for additional indemnity
and cease, or not commence, to do the acts indemnified against until such additional indemnity is furnished.

Section 8.05.    Resignation by or Removal of the Agents. (a) Any Agent may resign from the performance of all its functions and duties hereunder at any time by giving 30 days’ prior written notice to the Borrower and the Lenders.
Such resignation shall take effect upon the acceptance by a successor Agent of appointment pursuant to clauses (b) and (c) below or as otherwise provided below. In addition, in the event the Administrative Agent becomes a Defaulting
Lender, the Administrative Agent may be removed by the Borrower, with the consent of the Required Lenders.

(b)    Upon any such notice of resignation or upon any such removal, the Required Lenders shall appoint a successor Agent who shall be satisfactory to the Borrower and shall be an incorporated bank or trust company with a
combined surplus and undivided capital of at least $500 million.

(c)    In the case of resignation of an Agent, if a successor Agent shall not have been so appointed within said 30 day period, the resigning Agent, with the consent of the Borrower, shall
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then appoint a successor Agent who shall serve in the same capacity as the resigning Agent until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders, with the consent of the Borrower, appoint a successor Agent as provided above.

Section 8.06.    Successor Agents. (a) Any Agent may resign at any time as provided in Section 8.05 hereof. Upon any such notice of resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, upon five days’ notice to the Borrower and
subject to Section 8.05 hereof, to appoint a successor Agent. Upon the acceptance of any appointment by a successor Agent, that successor Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and
duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations as an Agent under this Agreement. After any retiring Agent’s resignation hereunder as an Agent the provisions of this Article 8 shall inure
to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was an Agent under this Agreement.

(b)    Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this Section, in the event no successor Administrative Agent shall have been so appointed and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Administrative Agent gives
notice of its intent to resign, the retiring Administrative Agent may give notice of the effectiveness of its resignation to the Lenders, the Issuing Lenders and the Borrower, whereupon, on the date of effectiveness of such resignation stated in
such notice, (i) the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder and under the other Loan Documents; and (ii) the retiring Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lenders and the Issuing
Lenders, may appoint a successor Administrative Agent, subject to the prior written approval of the Borrower and such successor, which successor Administrative Agent shall be a bank with an office in New York, New York, or an Affiliate
of any such bank, and such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent. If no successor is appointed by the Administrative Agent in such notice, the
Required Lenders shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent; provided that (A) all payments required to be made hereunder or under any other Loan Document
to the Administrative Agent for the account of any Person other than the Administrative Agent shall be made directly to such Person and (B) all notices and other communications required or contemplated to be given or made to the
Administrative Agent shall directly be given or made to each Lender and each Issuing Lender. Following the effectiveness of the Administrative Agent’s resignation from its capacity as such, the provisions of this Article and Sections 9.02,
9.03 and 9.10, as well as any exculpatory, reimbursement and indemnification provisions set forth in any other Loan Document, shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Administrative Agent, its sub-agents and their respective
Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while the retiring Administrative Agent was acting as Administrative Agent.

Section 8.07.    Other Agents. Nothing in this Agreement shall impose upon any Agent other than the Administrative Agent any duty or liability whatsoever in its capacity as an Agent, but all such persons shall have the benefit of the
indemnities provided for hereunder.

Section 8.08.    Posting of Communications. (a) The Borrower agrees that the Administrative Agent may, but shall not be obligated to, make any Communications available to the Lenders and the Issuing Lenders by posting the
Communications on IntraLinks™,
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DebtDomain, SyndTrak, ClearPar or any other electronic platform chosen by the Administrative Agent to be its electronic transmission system (the “Approved Electronic Platform”).

(b)    Although the Approved Electronic Platform and its primary web portal are secured with generally-applicable security procedures and policies implemented or modified by the Administrative Agent from time to time (including,
as of the Effective Date, a user ID/password authorization system) and the Approved Electronic Platform is secured through a per-deal authorization method whereby each user may access the Approved Electronic Platform only on a deal-
by-deal basis, each of the Lenders, each of the Issuing Lenders and the Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the distribution of material through an electronic medium is not necessarily secure, that the Administrative Agent is not
responsible for approving or vetting the representatives or contacts of any Lender that are added to the Approved Electronic Platform, and that there may be confidentiality and other risks associated with such distribution. Each of the
Lenders, each of the Issuing Lenders and the Borrower hereby approves distribution of the Communications through the Approved Electronic Platform and understands and assumes the risks of such distribution.

(c)    THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM AND THE COMMUNICATIONS ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” AND “AS AVAILABLE”. THE APPLICABLE PARTIES DO NOT WARRANT THE ACCURACY OR
COMPLETENESS OF THE COMMUNICATIONS, OR THE ADEQUACY OF THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIM LIABILITY FOR ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN THE APPROVED
ELECTRONIC PLATFORM AND THE COMMUNICATIONS. NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NON-INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS OR FREEDOM FROM VIRUSES OR OTHER CODE DEFECTS, IS MADE BY THE APPLICABLE PARTIES IN CONNECTION WITH THE
COMMUNICATIONS OR THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ANY DOCUMENTATION AGENT, ANY SYNDICATION AGENT OR ANY OF THEIR
RESPECTIVE RELATED PARTIES (COLLECTIVELY, “APPLICABLE PARTIES”) HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO THE BORROWER, ANY LENDER, ANY ISSUING LENDER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND, INCLUDING DIRECT OR INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, LOSSES OR EXPENSES (WHETHER IN TORT, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT
OF THE BORROWER’S OR THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT’S TRANSMISSION OF COMMUNICATIONS THROUGH THE INTERNET OR THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC PLATFORM.

“Communications” means, collectively, any notice, demand, communication, information, document or other material provided by or on behalf of the Borrower pursuant to any Loan Document or the transactions contemplated therein
which is distributed by the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any Issuing Lender by means of electronic communications pursuant to this Section, including through an Approved Electronic Platform.

(d)    Each Lender and each Issuing Lender agrees that notice to it (as provided in the next sentence) specifying that Communications have been posted to the Approved Electronic Platform shall constitute effective delivery of the
Communications to such Lender for purposes
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of the Loan Documents. Each Lender and Issuing Lender agrees (i) to notify the Administrative Agent in writing (which could be in the form of electronic communication) from time to time of such Lender’s or Issuing Lender’s (as
applicable) email address to which the foregoing notice may be sent by electronic transmission and (ii) that the foregoing notice may be sent to such email address.

(e)    Each of the Lenders, each of the Issuing Lenders and the Borrower agrees that the Administrative Agent may, but (except as may be required by applicable law) shall not be obligated to, store the Communications on the
Approved Electronic Platform in accordance with the Administrative Agent’s generally applicable document retention procedures and policies.

(f)    Nothing herein shall prejudice the right of the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any Issuing Lender to give any notice or other communication pursuant to any Loan Document in any other manner specified in such Loan
Document.

Section 8.09.    Acknowledgements of Lenders and Issuing Lenders. (a) Each Lender represents that (i) the Loan Documents set forth the terms of a commercial lending facility, (ii) it is engaged in making, acquiring or holding
commercial loans and in providing other facilities set forth herein as may be applicable to such Lender in the ordinary course of business, and not for the purpose of purchasing, acquiring or holding any other type of financial instrument
(and each Lender agrees not to assert a claim in contravention of the foregoing, (iii) it has, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, any Lead Arranger, any Syndication Agent, any Documentation Agent or any
other Lender, or any of the Related Parties of any of the foregoing, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement as a Lender, and to
make, acquire or hold Loans hereunder and (iv) it is sophisticated with respect to decisions to make, acquire and/or hold commercial loans and to provide other facilities set forth herein, as may be applicable to such Lender, and either it, or
the Person exercising discretion in making its decision to make, acquire and/or hold such commercial loans or to provide such other facilities, is experienced in making, acquiring or holding such commercial loans or providing such other
facilities. Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, any Lead Arranger, any Syndication Agent, any Documentation Agent or any other Lender, or any of the Related
Parties of any of the foregoing, and based on such documents and information (which may contain material, non-public information within the meaning of the United States securities laws concerning the Borrower and its Affiliates) as it
shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or
thereunder.

(b)    Each Lender, by delivering its signature page to this Agreement on the Effective Date, or delivering its signature page to an Assignment and Assumption Agreement or any other Loan Document pursuant to which it shall
become a Lender hereunder, shall be deemed to have acknowledged receipt of, and consented to and approved, each Loan Document and each other document required to be delivered to, or be approved by or satisfactory to, the
Administrative Agent or the Lenders on the Effective Date.
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(c)    (i) Each Lender hereby agrees that (x) if the Administrative Agent notifies such Lender that the Administrative Agent has determined in its sole discretion that any funds received by such Lender from the Administrative Agent
or any of its Affiliates (whether as a payment, prepayment or repayment of principal, interest, fees or otherwise; individually and collectively, a “Payment”) were erroneously transmitted to such Lender (whether or not known to such
Lender), and demands the return of such Payment (or a portion thereof), such Lender shall promptly, but in no event later than one Business Day thereafter, return to the Administrative Agent the amount of any such Payment (or portion
thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same day funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Lender to the date such amount is
repaid to the Administrative Agent at the greater of the NYFRB Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to time in effect, and (y) to the extent
permitted by applicable law, such Lender shall not assert, and hereby waives, as to the Administrative Agent, any claim, counterclaim, defense or right of set-off or recoupment with respect to any demand, claim or counterclaim by the
Administrative Agent for the return of any Payments received, including without limitation any defense based on “discharge for value” or any similar doctrine. A notice of the Administrative Agent to any Lender under this Section 8.09(c)
shall be conclusive, absent manifest error.

(ii)    Each Lender hereby further agrees that if it receives a Payment from the Administrative Agent or any of its Affiliates (x) that is in a different amount than, or on a different date from, that specified in a notice of payment
sent by the Administrative Agent (or any of its Affiliates) with respect to such Payment (a “Payment Notice”) or (y) that was not preceded or accompanied by a Payment Notice, it shall be on notice, in each such case, that an error
has been made with respect to such Payment.  Each Lender agrees that, in each such case, or if it otherwise becomes aware a Payment (or portion thereof) may have been sent in error, such Lender shall promptly notify the
Administrative Agent of such occurrence and, upon demand from the Administrative Agent, it shall promptly, but in no event later than one Business Day thereafter, return to the Administrative Agent the amount of any such
Payment (or portion thereof) as to which such a demand was made in same day funds, together with interest thereon in respect of each day from and including the date such Payment (or portion thereof) was received by such Lender
to the date such amount is repaid to the Administrative Agent at the greater of the NYFRB Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation from time to
time in effect.

(iii)    The Borrower hereby agrees that (x) in the event an erroneous Payment (or portion thereof) are not recovered from any Lender that has received such Payment (or portion thereof) for any reason, the Administrative
Agent shall be subrogated to all the rights of such Lender with respect to such amount and (y) an erroneous Payment shall not pay, prepay, repay, discharge or otherwise satisfy any Obligations owed by the Borrower.

(iv)    Each party’s obligations under this Section 8.09(c)shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative Agent or any transfer of rights or
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obligations by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the termination of the Commitments or the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.

Section 8.10.    Certain ERISA Matters. Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date
such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that at least one of the following is and will be true:

(i)    such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA or otherwise) of one or more Benefit Plans with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and
performance of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments or this Agreement,

(ii)    the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84-14 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers), PTE 95-60 (a class exemption
for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-38 (a class exemption for certain
transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in,
administration of and performance of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement,

(iii)    (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset Manager” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset Manager made the investment
decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in, administer and perform the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance
of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement satisfies the requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of such Lender, the requirements of subsection
(a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement, or

(iv)    such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between the Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.

(b)    In addition, unless either (1) sub-clause (i) in the immediately preceding clause (a) is true with respect to a Lender or (2) a Lender has provided another representation, warranty and covenant in accordance with sub-clause (iv)
in the immediately preceding clause (a), such Lender further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date
such Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Administrative Agent and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrower, that the Administrative
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Agent or any Lead Arranger, any Syndication Agent or any Documentation Agent is not a fiduciary with respect to the assets of such Lender involved in such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the
Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments and this Agreement (including in connection with the reservation or exercise of any rights by the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any documents related
hereto or thereto).

(c)    The Administrative Agent, and each Lead Arranger, Syndication Agent and Documentation Agent hereby informs the Lenders that each such Person is not undertaking to provide investment advice or to give advice in a
fiduciary capacity, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and that such Person has a financial interest in the transactions contemplated hereby in that such Person or an Affiliate thereof (i) may receive interest or other
payments with respect to the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments, this Agreement and any other Loan Documents (ii) may recognize a gain if it extended the Loans, the Letters of Credit or the Commitments for an amount less
than the amount being paid for an interest in the Loans, the Letters of Credit or the Commitments by such Lender or (iii) may receive fees or other payments in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the Loan Documents or
otherwise, including structuring fees, commitment fees, arrangement fees, facility fees, upfront fees, underwriting fees, ticking fees, agency fees, administrative agent or collateral agent fees, utilization fees, minimum usage fees, letter of
credit fees, fronting fees, deal-away or alternate transaction fees, amendment fees, processing fees, term out premiums, banker’s acceptance fees breakage or other early termination fees or fees similar to the foregoing.

ARTICLE 9

Miscellaneous
Section 9.01.    Benefit of Agreement. (a) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto, provided that the Borrower may

not assign or transfer any of its interest hereunder without the prior written consent of the Lenders, except as permitted by Section 6.01.

(b)    Any Lender may make, carry or transfer Loans or Letter of Credit Liabilities at the time owing to it at, to or for the account of, any of its branch offices or the offices of an Affiliate of such Lender, provided that doing so shall
not cause the Borrower to incur any additional costs hereunder at the time of such transfer.

(c)    Any Lender may assign its rights and delegate its obligations under this Agreement and further may sell participations in all or any part of any Loan or Loans made by it or its Commitment or Letter of Credit Liabilities at the
time owing to it or any other interest herein to another bank or other entity; provided that (i) in the case of an assignment, such Lender shall (A) give to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent prior notice thereof (and the Administrative
Agent shall promptly notify each Issuing Lender thereof), and, in the case of any assignment, the Borrower, the Issuing Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall, except as set forth in the last sentence of this Section 9.01(c), have
consented thereto (each such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and (B) comply with Section 9.01(e) hereof and thereupon, the assignee (the “Purchasing Lender”) shall have, to the extent of such assignment (unless
otherwise provided thereby), the rights and benefits described in Section 9.01(e) hereof, and (ii)
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in the case of a participation, except as set forth below, (A) the participant shall not have any rights under this Agreement or any other document delivered in connection herewith (the participant’s rights against such Lender in respect of such
participation to be those set forth in the agreement executed by such Lender in favor of the participant relating thereto); provided that a participation agreement may provide that a Lender will not agree to any modification, amendment or waiver
of any provision in this Agreement described in subclause (A), (C), or (E) of Section 9.05(a)(ii) without the consent of the participant and (B) all amounts payable by the Borrower under Sections 2.09(e) and 2.09(h) hereof shall be determined as
if the Lender had not sold such participation. Except with respect to interest rate, principal amount of any Loan, fees, scheduled dates for payment of principal or interest or fees, scheduled termination of commitments and commitment amounts, a
Lender will not in any such participation agreement restrict its ability to make any modification, amendment or waiver to this Agreement without the consent of the participant. Any Lender may furnish any information concerning the Borrower in
possession of such Lender from time to time to Affiliates of such Lender and to assignees and participants (including prospective assignees and participants), provided, however, that (i) except when such information is furnished to an Affiliate, the
furnishing Lender shall give the Borrower prior notice of any furnishing of non-public information, (ii) the recipient shall agree to the terms of this Section 9.01 hereof and (iii) the furnishing of such information (and the nature, manner and extent
thereof) by any Lender to its Affiliates and such assignees and participants shall be further governed by the relevant agreement, assignment or participation agreement relating to such arrangement, assignment or participation, as the case may be.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, (A) any Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, assign any of its rights and interests in Loans hereunder to (x) a federal reserve bank, (y) another
Lender (other than a Defaulting Lender) or (z) any Affiliate of such Lender; (B) no consent of the Borrower to an assignment shall be required if at the time an Event of Default exists; (C) the Borrower shall be deemed to have consented to any
assignment unless the Borrower shall object thereto by written notice to the Administrative Agent within fifteen Business Days after having received notice thereof, and (D) no assignment may be made to (x) the Borrower or any of its Affiliates
or (y) to a natural person (or a holding company, investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of a natural person).

(d)    Except pursuant to an assignment permitted by this Agreement but only to the extent set forth in such assignment, no Lender shall, as between the Borrower and that Lender, be relieved of any of its obligations hereunder as a result of
any sale, transfer or negotiation of, or granting of participations in, all or any part of the Loans or Commitment of or Letter of Credit Liabilities at the time owing to that Lender or other obligations owed to such Lender.

(e)    Subject to Section 9.01(c), any Lender may at any time assign to one or more Lenders or other financial institutions all, or a proportionate part of all, of its rights and obligations under this Agreement, provided that (i) the minimum
amount of such assignment shall be equivalent to (A) if the Purchasing Lender is not a Lender hereunder, $10,000,000 or the aggregate amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment, whichever is less and (B) if the Purchasing Lender is a
Lender hereunder, $5,000,000 or the aggregate amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment, whichever is less and (ii) after giving effect to such assignment, the Commitment of the assigning Lender is equivalent to not less than $10,000,000,
unless such assigning Lender shall have assigned all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any assignment made pursuant to Section 9.01(c) hereof shall be made pursuant to an Assignment
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and Assumption Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit G annexed hereto, executed by the Purchasing Lender, the transferor Lender, the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. Upon (i) such execution of such Assignment and
Assumption Agreement, (ii) delivery of an executed copy thereof to the Borrower, (iii) payment by such Purchasing Lender to such transferor Lender of an amount equal to the purchase price agreed between such transferor Lender and such
Purchasing Lender, and (iv) payment by such Purchasing Lender or transferor Lender (as they shall mutually agree) to the Administrative Agent of a non-refundable fee of $3,500 to cover administrative and other expenses which may be incurred
in connection with such assignment, such Purchasing Lender shall for all purposes be a Lender party to this Agreement and shall have the rights (including without limitation the benefits of Sections 2.09 and 2.10) and obligations of a Lender
under this Agreement to the same extent as if it were an original party hereto and thereto with the pro rata Share of the applicable Commitment set forth in such Assignment and Assumption Agreement, and no further consent or action by the
Borrower, the Lenders or the Administrative Agent shall be required. Such Assignment and Assumption Agreement shall be deemed to amend this Agreement to the extent, and only to the extent, necessary to reflect the addition of such
Purchasing Lender and the resulting adjustment of pro rata Shares arising from the purchase by such Purchasing Lender of all or a portion of the rights and obligations of such transferor Lender under this Agreement and the Loans. Upon the
consummation of any transfer to a Purchasing Lender pursuant to this paragraph (e), the transferor Lender, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall make appropriate arrangements so that, if requested, a replacement Note is issued to such
transferor Lender and a new Note or, as appropriate, a replacement Note, if requested, issued to such Purchasing Lender, in each case in principal amounts reflecting their pro rata Shares or, as appropriate, their outstanding Loans, as adjusted
pursuant to such Assignment and Assumption Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, neither the Borrower nor any of its Affiliates nor any Defaulting Lender may be a Purchasing Lender.

(f)    Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a nonfiduciary agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each participant and the principal amounts (and stated
interest) of each participant’s interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register to any Person
(including the identity of any participant or any information relating to a participant’s interest in any commitments, loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under this Agreement) except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to
establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent clearly
demonstrable error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.

Section 9.02.    Expenses. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated, the Borrower agrees to promptly pay (a) all the actual and reasonable out of pocket costs and expenses of the Agents in connection
with the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement; (b) the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Davis, Polk & Wardwell LLP, special counsel to the Agents, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and
administration of this Agreement, the Loans and any amendments and waivers

77
#96109338v22    



hereto or thereto; and (c) all costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements, and costs of settlement) incurred by the Lenders (including any Issuing Lender) in enforcing any obligations of or in collecting any
payments due from the Borrower hereunder by reason of the occurrence of any Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a “work-out” or of
any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings or otherwise.

Section 9.03.    Indemnity; Limitation of Liability.Indemnity. In addition to the payment of expenses pursuant to Section 9.02 hereof, whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated, the Borrower agrees to
indemnify, pay and hold each Agent and each Lender (including any Issuing Lender) and the officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors and affiliates of each of them (collectively called the “Indemnitees”) harmless from and against any
and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, claims, costs, expenses and disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (including, without limitation, the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of
counsel for such Indemnitees in connection with any investigative, administrative or judicial proceeding commenced or threatened, whether or not such Indemnitee shall be designated a party thereto), which may be imposed on, incurred by, or
asserted against that Indemnitee, in any manner relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any Letter of Credit, the Lenders’ agreement to make the Loans or the use or intended use of the proceeds of any of the Loans or Letters of Credit
hereunder (the “indemnified liabilities”); provided that, the Borrower shall have no obligation to any Indemnitee hereunder to the extent that such indemnified liabilities are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and non-
appealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of that Indemnitee. To the extent that the undertaking to indemnify, pay and hold harmless set forth in the preceding sentence may be unenforceable because
it is violative of any law or public policy or otherwise, the Borrower shall contribute the maximum portion which it is permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law, to the payment and satisfaction of all indemnified liabilities incurred by
the Indemnitees or any of them.

(b)    Limitation of Liability. To the extent permitted by applicable law, no party hereto shall assert any Liabilities against any other party hereto, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as
opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement, any other Loan Document, or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby, any Loan or Letter of Credit or the use of the
proceeds thereof; provided that, nothing in this Section 9.03(b) shall relieve the Borrower of any obligation it may have to indemnify an Indemnitee, as provided in Section 9.03(a), against any special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages
asserted against such Indemnitee by a third party.

Section 9.04.    Setoff. Each Lender agrees that if it shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, receive payment of a proportion of the aggregate amount of principal and interest then due with respect to the
Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities held by it which is greater than the proportion received by any other Lender in respect of the aggregate amount of principal and interest then due with respect to the Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities
held by such other Lender, the Lender receiving such proportionately greater payment shall purchase such participations in the Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities held by the other
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Lenders, and such other adjustments shall be made, as may be required so that all such payments of principal and interest with respect to the Loans and Letter of Credit Liabilities held by the Lenders shall be shared by the Lenders pro rata;
provided that nothing in this Section shall impair the right of any Lender to exercise any right of set-off or counterclaim it may have and to apply the amount subject to such exercise to the payment of indebtedness of the Borrower other than its
indebtedness under the Agreement. The Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any holder of a participation in a Loan or Letter of Credit Liability, whether or not acquired pursuant to the
foregoing arrangements, may exercise rights of set-off or counterclaim and other rights with respect to such participation as fully as if such holder of a participation were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.

Section 9.05.    Amendments and Waivers.

(a)    Subject to Section 2.09(b) and Section 9.05(b) below, no amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any Note or Letter of Credit or consent to any departure by the Borrower therefrom
shall in any event be effective without the written concurrence of the Required Lenders; provided that (i) any amendment, modification, termination or waiver (A) of any provision that expressly requires the approval or concurrence of all
Lenders, (B) of any provision that affects the definition of “Required Lenders” or any other provision hereof specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or modify any rights hereunder or make any determination
or grant any consent hereunder, (C) of any of the provisions contained in Section 7.01 hereof and this Section 9.05 or (D) of Section 2.07(e) or Section 9.04 (as it relates to the sharing of payments) in a manner that would alter the pro rata
sharing of payments required thereby, shall be effective only if evidenced by a writing signed by or on behalf of all Lenders, and (ii) any amendment, modification, termination or waiver (A) of any provision that increases the principal amount
of the Commitments or the Loans, changes a Lender’s pro rata Share, affects the definition of “Termination Date” or postpones (except as expressly provided in Section 2.12) the expiry date of any Letter of Credit, (B) that permits an extension
of the Commitment of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.01(d)(ii) without the approval of such Lender, (C) that decreases the amount or changes the due date of any amount payable in respect of the fees payable hereunder, (D) of any of the
provisions contained in Section 2.09 hereof or (E) that decreases the principal of or interest rates borne by the Loans or the amount to be reimbursed in respect of any Letter of Credit or any interest thereon, or postpones the payment of principal
or interest due on the Loans or for reimbursement in respect of any Letter of Credit, shall be effective only if evidenced by a writing signed by or on behalf of each Lender affected thereby; provided that no consent of any Defaulting Lender
shall be required pursuant to clause (i) above as to any modification that does not adversely affect such Defaulting Lender in a non-ratable manner. No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of Article 8 hereof or any
of the rights, duties, indemnities or obligations of any Agent, as agent shall be effective without the written concurrence of such Agent. No amendment, modification, termination or waiver of any provision of Section 2.12 shall be effective
without the written concurrence of the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Lenders.

(b)    If the Administrative Agent and the Borrower acting together identify any ambiguity, omission, typographical error or other ministerial defect in any provision of this
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Agreement or any other Loan Document, then the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall be permitted to amend, modify or supplement such provision to cure such ambiguity, omission, typographical error or other ministerial defect,
and such amendment shall become effective without the consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as, in each case, the Lenders shall have received at least five (5) Business Days’ prior written notice thereof and the
Administrative Agent shall not have received, within five (5) Business Days after the date of such notice to the Lenders, a written notice from the Required Lenders stating that the Required Lenders object to such amendment.

(c)    The Administrative Agent may, but shall have no obligation to, with the concurrence of any Lender, execute amendments, modifications, waivers or consents on behalf of that Lender. Any waiver or consent shall be effective
only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given. No notice to or demand on the Borrower in any case shall entitle the Borrower to any further notice or demand in similar or other circumstances. Any
amendment, modification, termination, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this Section 9.05 shall be binding upon each present or future Lender and, if signed by the Borrower, on the Borrower.

Section 9.06.    Independence of Covenants. All covenants hereunder shall be given independent effect so that if a particular action or condition is not permitted by any of such covenants, the fact that it would be permitted by an
exception to, or be otherwise within the limitation of, another covenant shall not avoid the occurrence of an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default if such action is taken or condition exists.

Section 9.07.    Notices. Unless otherwise provided herein, any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given shall be in writing and may be personally served, telecopied, telexed or sent by United States
mail and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person, upon receipt of electronic mail, telecopy or telex or four Business Days after depositing it in the United States mail, registered or certified, with postage prepaid and
properly addressed; provided that notices to the Administrative Agent shall not be effective until received by the Administrative Agent. Notices and other communications to the Borrower, the Lenders and the Issuing Lenders hereunder may
be delivered or furnished by using Approved Electronic Platforms pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent; provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article 2 unless otherwise agreed by the
Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender. The Administrative Agent or a Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures
approved by it; provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications. For the purposes hereof, the addresses of the parties hereto (until notice of a change thereof is delivered as provided in this
Section 9.07) shall be: (a) in the case of the Borrower, at its address or facsimile number set forth on the signature pages hereof, (b) in the case of the Administrative Agent, at its address, facsimile number or telex number in New York City
set forth on the signature pages hereof, (c) in the case of any Lender, at its address, facsimile number or telex number set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire or (d) in the case of any party, at such other address, facsimile number or
telex number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower.
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Section 9.08.    Survival of Warranties and Certain Agreements. (a) All agreements, representations and warranties made herein shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of the Loans and the
issuances of the Letters of Credit hereunder.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or implied by law to the contrary, the agreements of the Borrower set forth in Sections 2.09(e), 2.09(h), 2.14, 9.02 and 9.03 and the agreements of Lenders set forth in Sections
8.02(c), 8.04, 9.04 and 9.05 shall survive the payment of the Loans, the reduction of the Letter of Credit Liabilities to zero and the termination of this Agreement.

Section 9.09.    USA PATRIOT Act Notice. Each Lender that is subject to the USA PATRIOT Act and the Administrative Agent (for itself and not on behalf of any Lender) hereby notifies the Borrower that, pursuant to the
requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, it may be required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that will allow such
Lender or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, to identify the Borrower in accordance with the USA PATRIOT Act.

Section 9.10.    Failure or Indulgence Not Waiver; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay on the part of any Lender in the exercise of any power, right or privilege hereunder or the Loans or Letters of Credit shall impair such
power, right or privilege or be construed to be a waiver of any default or acquiescence therein, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such power, right or privilege preclude other or further exercise thereof or of any other right, power
or privilege. All rights and remedies existing under this Agreement or the Loans or the Letters of Credit are cumulative to and not exclusive of any rights or remedies otherwise available.

Section 9.11.    Severability. In case any provision in or obligation under this Agreement or Loan shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or
obligations thereof, or of such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Section 9.12.    Obligations Several; Independent Nature of Lenders’ Rights. The obligation of each Lender hereunder is several, and no Lender shall be responsible for the obligation or commitment of any other Lender hereunder.
Nothing contained in this Agreement and no action taken by the Lenders pursuant hereto shall be deemed to constitute the Lenders to be a partnership, an association, a joint venture or any other kind of entity. The amounts payable at any
time hereunder to each Lender shall be a separate and independent debt, and each Lender shall be entitled to protect and enforce its rights arising out of this Agreement and it shall not be necessary for any other Lender to be joined as an
additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.

Section 9.13.    Headings. Section and subsection headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose or be given any substantive
effect.

Section 9.14.    Applicable Law, Consent to Jurisdiction, Limitation of Liability.
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(a)    THIS AGREEMENT, THE NOTES AND THE LOANS SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
(WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES).

(b)    ALL JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT AGAINST THE BORROWER WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE NOTES MAY BE BROUGHT IN ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT OF COMPETENT
JURISDICTION IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK, BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, AND BY EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT THE BORROWER ACCEPTS FOR ITSELF AND IN CONNECTION WITH ITS
PROPERTIES, GENERALLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY, THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE AFORESAID COURTS, AND IRREVOCABLY AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ANY JUDGMENT RENDERED THEREBY IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT. THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY, AND THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION, INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS, WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF ANY
SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN SUCH RESPECTIVE JURISDICTIONS.

(c)    Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall (i) affect any right that any Agent, any Issuing Lender or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other
Loan Document against the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction, (ii) waive any statutory, regulatory, common law, or other rule, doctrine, legal restriction, provision or the like providing for the treatment of bank
branches, bank agencies, or other bank offices as if they were separate juridical entities for certain purposes, including Uniform Commercial Code Sections 4-106, 4-A-105(1)(b), and 5-116(b), UCP 600 Article 3 and ISP98 Rule 2.02, and
URDG 758 Article 3(a) or (iii) affect which courts have or do not have personal jurisdiction over the issuing bank or beneficiary of any Letter of Credit or any advising bank, nominated bank or assignee of proceeds thereunder or proper
venue with respect to any litigation arising out of or relating to such Letter of Credit with, or affecting the rights of, any Person not a party to this Agreement, whether or not such Letter of Credit contains its own jurisdiction submission
clause.

(d)    No Indemnitee shall be liable for any damages to the Borrower arising from the use by unintended recipients of any information or other materials distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information
transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except to the extent the liability of such person is found in a final ruling by a court of competent
jurisdiction to have resulted from such person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.

Section 9.15.    Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and the successors and assigns of the
Lenders. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any assignee or transferee of the Loans and in the event of such transfer or assignment, the rights and privileges herein conferred upon the Lenders shall
automatically extend to and be vested in such transferee or assignee, all subject to the terms and
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conditions hereof. The Borrower’s rights hereunder may not be assigned without the written consent of all the Lenders except pursuant to a merger, consolidation or sale, lease or transfer of assets permitted by Section 6.01 hereof. The Lenders’
rights of assignment are limited by and subject to Section 9.01 hereof. The Borrower may, in its sole discretion, upon ten (10) days’ prior written notice, replace any of the Lenders with one or more Lenders provided that (i) the Lender being
replaced has concurrently therewith been paid in full all amounts due to such Lender hereunder, (ii) the full amount of the Commitments remains unchanged and (iii) the percentages of the total Commitments allocated to each other Lender (or
any successors thereto) remains unchanged unless the prior written consent from such Lender has been obtained. Any such Lender so replaced shall, upon written request of the Borrower, execute and deliver such instruments and agreements as
are reasonably necessary to accomplish the same.

Section 9.16.    Counterparts; Effectiveness; Integration; Electronic Execution.

(a)    This Agreement and any amendments, waivers, consents or supplements may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall
be deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. This Agreement shall become effective on such date (the “Effective Date”) as (i) a counterpart hereof shall be executed by each of the
parties hereto and copies hereof shall be delivered to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent and (ii) the conditions set forth in Section 3.01 shall be satisfied. This Agreement and the Notes (and, as applicable, the fee letters entered into in
connection herewith) constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.

(b)    Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of the actual executed signature page shall be effective as delivery of a
manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “delivery,” and words of like import in or relating to any document to be signed in connection with this Agreement and the transactions
contemplated hereby (each an “Ancillary Document”) shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a
manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and
National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act; provided that nothing herein shall require the Administrative Agent to
accept electronic signatures in any form or format without its prior written consent; provided, further, without limiting the foregoing, (i) to the extent the Administrative Agent has agreed to accept any Electronic Signature, the Administrative
Agent and each of the Lenders shall be entitled to rely on such Electronic Signature purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower without further verification thereof and without any obligation to review the appearance or form of any such
Electronic Signature and (ii) upon the request of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, any Electronic Signature shall be promptly followed by a manually executed counterpart. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower
hereby (A) agrees that, for all purposes, including without
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limitation, in connection with any workout, restructuring, enforcement of remedies, bankruptcy proceedings or litigation among the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower, Electronic Signatures transmitted by telecopy, emailed
.pdf or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page and/or any electronic images of this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall have the same legal effect,
validity and enforceability as any paper original, (B) the Administrative Agent and each of the Lenders may, at its option, create one or more copies of this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document in the form of an
imaged electronic record in any format, which shall be deemed created in the ordinary course of such Person’s business, and destroy the original paper document (and all such electronic records shall be considered an original for all purposes
and shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record), (C) waives any argument, defense or right to contest the legal effect, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary
Document based solely on the lack of paper original copies of this Agreement, such other Loan Document and/or such Ancillary Document, respectively, including with respect to any signature pages thereto and (D) waives any claim against
any Agent, any Lead Arranger and any Lender, and any Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons for any Liabilities arising solely from the Administrative Agent’s and/or any Lender’s reliance on or use of Electronic Signatures and/or
transmissions by telecopy, emailed .pdf or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page, including any Liabilities arising as a result of the failure of the Borrower to use any available security
measures in connection with the execution, delivery or transmission of any Electronic Signature.

Section 9.17.    No Fiduciary Duty. The Borrower agrees that in connection with all aspects of the Loans contemplated by this Agreement and any communications in connection therewith, (i) the transactions contemplated by the Loan
Documents (including the exercise of rights and remedies hereunder and thereunder) are arm’s-length commercial transactions between the Agents, the Lenders and their respective Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries, on the other, and (ii) the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Agents, the Lenders and their Affiliates, on the other hand, will have a business relationship that does not create, by implication or otherwise, any
fiduciary duty on the part of any Agent, Lender or Affiliate, and no such duty will be deemed to have arisen in connection with any such transactions or communications. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that it has consulted its own legal
and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate and that it is responsible for making its own independent judgment with respect to such transactions and the process leading thereto.  The Borrower agrees that it will not claim that any
Agent, Lender or any of their respective Affiliates has rendered advisory services of any nature or respect, or owes a fiduciary or similar duty to the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, in connection with such transaction or the process leading thereto.

Section 9.18.    Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of Affected Financial Institutions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any Loan Document or in any other agreement, arrangement or understanding among any such
parties, each party hereto acknowledges that any liability of any Affected Financial Institution arising under any Loan Document may be subject to the write-down and conversion powers of the applicable Resolution Authority and agrees and
consents to, and acknowledges and agrees to be bound by:
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(a)    the application of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable Resolution Authority to any such liabilities arising hereunder which may be payable to it by any party hereto that is an Affected Financial Institution;
and

(b)    the effects of any Bail-In Action on any such liability, including, if applicable:

(i)    a reduction in full or in part or cancellation of any such liability;

(ii)    a conversion of all, or a portion of, such liability into shares or other instruments of ownership in such Affected Financial Institution, its parent entity, or a bridge institution that may be issued to it or otherwise conferred
on it, and that such shares or other instruments of ownership will be accepted by it in lieu of any rights with respect to any such liability under this Agreement or any other Loan Document; or

(iii)    the variation of the terms of such liability in connection with the exercise of the write-down and conversion powers of the applicable Resolution Authority.

Section 9.19.    Acknowledgement Regarding Any Supported QFCs. To the extent that the Loan Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for any swap contract or any other agreement or instrument that is a QFC
(such support, “QFC Credit Support”, and each such QFC, a “Supported QFC”), the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S. Special Resolution Regimes”) in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC
Credit Support (with the provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact be stated to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other
state of the United States):

(a)    In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party”) becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported QFC and the benefit of such
QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be
effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the
laws of the United States or a state of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan
Documents that might otherwise apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised
under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. Without limitation of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that
rights and remedies of the parties with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.
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(b)    As used in this Section 9.19, the following terms have the following meanings:

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following: (i) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b); (ii) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance
with, 12 C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or (iii) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b).

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

“QFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

[Signature pages follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

Borrower:

TEXTRON INC.

By: /s/ Eric Salander
Name: Eric Salander
Title: V.P. Investor Relations and Treasurer

Notice Address:
Textron Inc.
40 Westminster Street
Providence, RI 02903
Attention: Treasurer

Telephone No. (401) 457-6009
Telecopy No. (401) 457-3533

with a copy to:
Textron Inc.
40 Westminster Street
Providence, RI 02903
Attention: General Counsel

Website for the delivery of information pursuant to Section 5.01(b)(iv):
http://www.textron.com

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as
Administrative Agent and as an Issuing Lender and a Lender

By: /s/ Peter Predun
Name: Peter Predun
Title: Executive Director

Notice Address:
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
500 Stanton Christiana Road
NCC5, Floor 1
Newark, Delaware 19713-2107
Attention: Benjamin Outten
Telephone No. (302) 634-8712
Telecopy No. (302) 634-3301
E-mail: benjamin.outten@chase.com

with copy to:
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
500 Stanton Christiana Road
NCC5, Floor 1
Newark, Delaware 19713-2107
Attention: Marsea Medori
Telephone No. (302) 634- 1928
Telecopy No. (302) 634- 3301
E-mail: marsea.medori@chase.com

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as an Issuing Lender and a Lender

By: _/s/ Prathamesh Kshirsagar________
Name: Prathamesh Kshirsagar
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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CITIBANK, N.A., as a Lender and an Issuing Lender

By: _/s/ Susan M. Olsen____________
Name: Sarah M. Olsen
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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MUFG Bank, Ltd., as an Issuing Lender and a Lender

By: _/s/ Jorge Goergalos______________
Name: Jorge Georgalos
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, as a Lender

By: _/s/ Jonathan Dworkin____________
Name: Jonathan Dworkin
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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SUMITOMO MITSUI BANKING CORPORATION, as a Lender

By: _/s/ Minxiao Tian______________
Name: Minxiao Tian
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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U.S. Bank National Association, as a Lender

By: _/s/_Paul F. Johnson____________
Name: Paul F. Johnson
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender

By: __/s/ Adam Spreyer_____________
Name: Adam Spreyer
Title: Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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PNC Bank, National Association, as a Lender

By: _/s/ Joseph Guilmartin__________
Name: Joseph Guilmartin
Title: Managing Director

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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The Bank of New York Mellon, as a Lender

By: __/s/ Tak Cheng_________________
Name: Tak Cheng
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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Bank of China, New York Branch, as a Lender

By: __/s/ Raymond Qiao_____________
Name: Raymond Qiao
Title: Executive Vice President

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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The Northern Trust Company, as a Lender

By: _/s/ Eric Siebert__________________
Name: Eric Siebert
Title: SVP

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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COMMITMENT SCHEDULE

Lender Commitment

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. $115,000,000

Bank of America, N.A. $115,000,000

Citibank, N.A. $115,000,000

MUFG Bank, Ltd. $115,000,000

Goldman Sachs Bank USA $85,000,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation $85,000,000

U.S. Bank National Association $85,000,000

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $85,000,000

PNC Bank, National Association $57,500,000

The Bank of New York Mellon $57,500,000

Bank of China, New York Branch $42,500,000

The Northern Trust Company $42,500,000

Total $1,000,000,000
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PRICING SCHEDULE

Each of “Facility Fee Rate”, “Term Benchmark Margin”, “Base Rate Margin”, “RFR Margin” and “Letter of Credit Fee Rate” means, for any date, the rate set forth below in the row opposite such term and under the column
corresponding to the “Pricing Level” at such date:

Level I Level II Level III Level IV Level V
Facility Fee Rate 0.09% 0.10% 0.125% 0.175% 0.225%
Term Benchmark Margin and RFR Margin 0.91% 1.025% 1.125% 1.20% 1.40%
Base Rate Margin 0.00% 0.025% 0.125% 0.20% 0.40%
Letter of Credit Fee Rate 0.91% 1.025% 1.125% 1.20% 1.40%

For purposes of this Schedule, the following terms have the following meanings, subject to the concluding paragraph of this Schedule:

“Level I Pricing” applies at any date if, at such date, the Borrower’s long-term debt is rated A- or higher by S&P and A3 or higher by Moody’s.

“Level II Pricing” applies at any date if, at such date, the Borrower’s long-term debt is rated BBB+ by S&P and Baa1 by Moody’s.

“Level III Pricing” applies at any date if, at such date, the Borrower’s long-term debt is rated BBB by S&P and Baa2 by Moody’s.

“Level IV Pricing” applies at any date, if at such date, the Borrower’s long-term debt is rated BBB- by S&P and Baa3 by Moody’s.

“Level V Pricing” applies at any date if, at such date, no other Pricing Level applies.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (or any successor thereto).

“Pricing Level” refers to the determination of which of Level I, Level II, Level III, Level IV or Level V applies at any date.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business (or any successor thereto).

The credit ratings to be utilized for purposes of this Schedule are those assigned to the senior unsecured long-term debt securities of the Borrower without third-party enhancement, and any rating assigned to any other debt security
of the Borrower shall be disregarded. The rating in effect at any date is that in effect at the close of business of such date.
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If the Borrower is split-rated, then for purposes of determining the applicable Pricing Level, (a) if the ratings differential is one level, the higher of the ratings will apply and (b) if the ratings differential is more than one level, a rating that is
one notch lower than the higher rating will apply. If the Borrower has only one rating or has no rating, then Level V shall apply.

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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SCHEDULE 2.12(a)
LETTER OF CREDIT COMMITMENTS

Issuing Lender Letter of Credit Commitment
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A $25,000,000
Bank of America, N.A. $25,000,000
Citibank, N.A. $25,000,000
MUFG Bank, Ltd. $25,000,000

Total: $100,000,000
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SCHEDULE 2.12(b)
EXISTING LETTERS OF CREDIT

    Issuing Lender: Bank of America, N.A.

Applicant Beneficiary L/C No. Currency Amount Effective Date Expiration Date
Cessna Aircraft Company The Bank of New York Mellon Trust

Company N.A.
3012779 USD $8,973,589.04 10/18/2019 11/03/2023

[Signature Page to Credit Agreement – Textron 2022 Refinancing]
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EXHIBIT A to
Credit Agreement

TEXTRON INC.

FORM OF NOTE

New York, New York
$[ ] _____ __, 20__

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned TEXTRON INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to ______________ and its registered assigns (the “Payee”) for the account of its Applicable
Lending Office, on the maturity date provided for in the Credit Agreement, the unpaid principal amount of each Loan made by the Payee to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement referred to below.

The Borrower also promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof from the date hereof until paid in full at the rates and at the times which shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of the Credit
Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, “Credit Agreement”) among the Borrower, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

This Note is one of the Borrower’s “Notes” and is issued pursuant to and entitled to the benefits of the Credit Agreement to which reference is hereby made for a more complete statement of the terms and conditions under which the
Loans evidenced hereby were made and are to be repaid. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of this Note shall be made in Dollars in same day funds, in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement. Each of the Payee and any subsequent holder of this Note agrees, by its
acceptance hereof, that before disposing of this Note or any part thereof it will make a notation on Schedule I attached hereto of all principal payments previously made hereunder and of the date to which interest hereon has been paid;
provided, however, that the failure to make a notation of any payment made on this Note shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligation of the Borrower hereunder with respect to payments of principal or interest on this Note.

Whenever any payment on this Note shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in the computation
of the payment of interest on this Note; provided, however, that in the event that the day on which payment relating to a Term Benchmark Loan is due is not a Business Day but is a day of the month after which no further Business Day
occurs in such month, then the due date thereof shall be the next preceding Business Day.

This Note is subject to prepayment at the option of the Borrower as provided in Section 2.07(b) of the Credit Agreement.
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Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the unpaid balance of the principal amount of this Note, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, may become, or may be declared to be (and shall automatically become and
be declared to be, in the case of certain Events of Default relating to bankruptcy matters), due and payable in the manner, upon the conditions and with the effect provided in the Credit Agreement.

The terms of this Note are subject to amendment only in the manner provided in the Credit Agreement.

The Borrower promises to pay all costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees, all as provided in Section 9.02 of the Credit Agreement, incurred in the collection and enforcement of this Note. The Borrower hereby consents to
renewals and extensions of time at or after the maturity hereof, without notice, and hereby waives diligence, presentment, protest, demand and notice of every kind and, to the full extent permitted by law, the right to plead any statute of
limitations as a defense to any demand hereunder.

The Credit Agreement and this Note shall be governed by, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Note to be executed and delivered by its duly authorized officer, as of the day and year and at the place first above written.

TEXTRON INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

A-2
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SCHEDULE I

LOANS AND PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS SCHEDULE

Date Type of Loan Made This Date Amount of Loan Made This Date Amount of Principal Paid This Date Outstanding Principal Balance This Date Notation Made By
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EXHIBIT B to
Credit Agreement

FORM OF

OPINION OF COUNSEL

FOR THE

BORROWER

[Letterhead of Textron Inc.]

October 21, 2022

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent
383 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10179
    and
The Lenders Party to the
Credit Agreement Referenced Below

Re:     Textron Inc. – Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

I am the Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”). This opinion is rendered to you pursuant to Section 3.01(c) of the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (the
“Credit Agreement”) by and among the Company, certain lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (in such capacity the “Agent”) and a Lender. Each capitalized term
used and not defined herein has the meaning assigned to that term in the Credit Agreement.

In rendering this opinion, I have examined a copy identified to my satisfaction as being a true copy of the Credit Agreement, including the exhibits and schedules thereto, and each Note issued on the date hereof (each, a “Note”).

I have assumed without independent investigation that:

(a)    The signatures on all documents examined by me are genuine, all individuals executing such documents had all requisite legal capacity and competency and were duly authorized, the documents submitted to me as originals are
authentic and the documents submitted to me as certified or reproduction copies conform to the originals;

(b)    The Company is a validly existing corporation in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, has all requisite power to execute and deliver the Credit Agreement and to perform its obligations thereunder, the
execution and delivery of the Credit Agreement by the Company and performance
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of its obligations thereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action and except as specifically addressed in my opinions in paragraph 2 below, do not violate any law, regulation, order, judgment or decree applicable to
the Company, and the Credit Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company; and

(c)    There are no agreements or understandings between or among any of the parties to the Credit Agreement or third parties that would expand, modify or otherwise affect the terms of the Credit Agreement or the respective rights
or obligations of the parties thereunder.

In rendering this opinion, I have made such inquiries and examined, among other things, originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to my satisfaction, of such records, agreements, certificates, instruments and other documents as I
have considered necessary or appropriate for purposes of this opinion. As to certain factual matters, I have relied to the extent I deemed appropriate and without independent investigation upon the representations and warranties of the
Company in the Credit Agreement, a certificate of an officer of the Company, a copy of which is attached hereto, or certificates obtained from public officials and others.

Based upon the foregoing and in reliance thereon, and subject to the qualifications, exceptions, assumptions and limitations herein contained, I am of the opinion that:

1. Each of the Credit Agreement and each Note constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.

2. The execution and delivery by the Company of the Credit Agreement and each Note, and performance of its obligations thereunder do not and will not violate, or require any filing with or approval of any
governmental authority or regulatory body of the State of New York under, any law or regulation of the State of New York applicable to the Company that, in my experience, is generally applicable to transactions in the nature of those
contemplated by the Credit Agreement.

The opinions expressed above are subject to the following additional exceptions, qualifications, limitations and assumptions:
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(a)    I render no opinion herein as to matters involving the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of New York. This opinion is limited to the effect of the current state of the laws of the State of New York and the facts as they
currently exist. I assume no obligation to revise or supplement this opinion in the event of future changes in such laws or the interpretations thereof or such facts. I express no opinion regarding the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the
Investment Company Act of 1940 or any other federal or state securities laws or regulations.

(b)    My opinions are subject to (i) the effect of any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, arrangement or similar laws affecting the rights and remedies of creditors generally (including, without limitation, the effect of
statutory or other laws regarding fraudulent transfers or preferential transfers) and (ii) general principles of equity, including without limitation concepts of materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing and the possible
unavailability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies regardless of whether enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

(c)    I express no opinion regarding (a) the effectiveness of (i) any waiver (whether or not stated as such) under the Credit Agreement of, or any consent thereunder relating to, unknown future rights or the rights of any party thereto
existing, or duties owing to it, as a matter of law; (ii) any waiver (whether or not stated as such) contained in the Credit Agreement of rights of any party, or duties owing to it, that is broadly or vaguely stated or does not describe the right or
duty purportedly waived with reasonable specificity; (iii) provisions relating to indemnification, exculpation or contribution, to the extent such provisions may be held unenforceable as contrary to public policy or federal or state securities
laws or due to the negligence or willful misconduct of the indemnified party; (iv) any provision in the Credit Agreement waiving the right to object to venue in any court; (v) any agreement to submit to the jurisdiction of any Federal Court;
(vi) any waiver of the right to jury trial; (vii) any provision purporting to establish evidentiary standards; (viii) any provision to the effect that every right or remedy is cumulative and may be exercised in addition to any other right or
remedy or that the election of some particular remedy does not preclude recourse to one or more others; or (ix) any right of setoff to the extent asserted by a participant in the rights of a Lender under the Credit Agreement; or (b) the
availability of damages or other remedies not specified in the Credit Agreement in respect of breach of any covenants (other than covenants relating to the payment of principal, interest, indemnities and expenses). In addition, I advise you
that some of the provisions of the Credit Agreement may not be enforceable by a Lender acting individually (as opposed to the Lenders acting through the Agent).

This opinion is rendered as of the date hereof to the Lenders in connection with the Credit Agreement and may not be relied upon by any person other than the Lenders or by the Lenders in any other context. The Lenders may not
furnish this opinion or copies hereof to any other person except (i) to bank examiners and
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other regulatory authorities should they so request in connection with their normal examinations, (ii) to the independent auditors and attorneys of the Lenders, (iii) pursuant to order or legal process of any court or governmental agency, (iv)
in connection with any legal action to which any Lender is a party arising out of the transactions contemplated by the Credit Agreement, or (v) to any potential permitted assignee of or participant in the interest of any Lender under the
Credit Agreement for its information. This opinion may not be quoted without my prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, parties referred to in clause (v) of this paragraph who become Lenders after the date hereof may rely
on this opinion as if it were addressed to them (provided that such delivery shall not constitute a re-issue or reaffirmation of this opinion as of any date after the date hereof).

Very truly yours,
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Textron Inc.
Officer's Certificate

October 21, 2022

The undersigned, Eric Salander, does hereby certify pursuant to this certificate (this “Certificate”) to E. Robert Lupone, Esq., Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”),
in his capacity as an officer of the Company, in connection with the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (the “Credit Agreement”) by and among the Company, certain lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”) and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (in such capacity the “Agent”) and a Lender, as follows:

1. I am the duly elected and incumbent Vice President—Investor Relations and Treasurer of the Company and am authorized to execute this Certificate on behalf of the Company.

2. I recognize and acknowledge that this Certificate is being furnished to E. Robert Lupone in connection with the delivery of his legal opinion of even date herewith pursuant to Section 3.01(c) of the Credit Agreement
(the “Opinion”). I further understand that E. Robert Lupone is relying to a material degree on this Certificate in rendering that opinion. On behalf of the Company, I hereby authorize such reliance.

3. I have asked such questions regarding the meaning of any of the provisions of this Certificate as I have considered necessary.

4. To the best of my knowledge, each and all of the representations and warranties as to factual matters relating to the Company contained in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of the date
of such agreement and as of the date hereof.

5. To the best of my knowledge, there are no agreements or understandings between or among the Agent, the Lenders, the Company, the Company’s Subsidiaries or third parties that would expand, modify or otherwise
affect the terms of the Credit Agreement referred to in the Opinion or the respective rights or obligations of the parties thereunder.

Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein have the meanings given to such terms in the Credit Agreement. A copy of this Certificate executed and delivered by facsimile or email transmission shall be valid for all
purposes.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certificate as of the date first set forth above.

______________________________Name: Eric Salander
Title: Vice President—Investor Relations and Treasurer
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EXHIBIT C to
Credit Agreement

FORM OF

OPINION OF COUNSEL

FOR THE

BORROWER

[Letterhead of Textron Inc.]

October 21, 2022

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
    as Administrative Agent
383 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10179
    and
The Lenders Party to the
Credit Agreement Referenced Below

Re:    Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 among Textron Inc., the Lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
                                    

Ladies and Gentlemen:

I am the Senior Executive Counsel of Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”). This opinion is rendered to you pursuant to Section 3.01(c) of the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (the “Credit
Agreement”) among the Borrower, the Lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. The undersigned has prepared this opinion and delivered it to the Lenders for their
benefit at the request of the Borrower. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

In my capacity as Senior Executive Counsel I have examined originals, or copies identified to my satisfaction, of such records, documents or other instruments as in my judgment are necessary or appropriate to enable me to render
the opinions expressed below. I am familiar, either directly or by inquiry
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of other officers or employees of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries or others, and/or through examination of the Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ books and records, with the business, affairs and records of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries
requisite to giving this opinion. Where and as this opinion states conclusions based upon the absence of facts, I have received in the course of my employment no contrary information and would expect to receive such information if an
officer of the Borrower had notice thereof.

I have been furnished with, and have obtained and relied without independent investigation upon, such certificates and assurances from public officials as I have deemed necessary or appropriate. In my examinations, I have assumed
(a) the genuineness of all signatures as to all parties other than the Borrower, the conformity to original documents of all documents submitted to them as copies or drafts and the authenticity of such originals of such latter documents, (b) as
to all Persons other than the Borrower, the due completion, execution, acknowledgment as indicated thereon and delivery of documents recited herein and therein and the validity and enforceability against all parties thereto, and (c) that
each Person other than the Borrower which is a party to the Credit Agreement has full power, authority and legal right, under its charter and other governing documents, corporate legislation and the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation,
to perform its respective obligations under the Credit Agreement.

I have investigated such questions of law for the purpose of rendering this opinion as I have deemed necessary. I am opining herein only as to the United States federal laws and the corporate laws of the State of Delaware.

On the basis of the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, and subject to the limitations, qualifications and exceptions set forth herein, I am of the opinion that:

1.    The Borrower is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware. The Borrower has all requisite corporate power and authority to own and operate its properties, to carry on its
business as now conducted and proposed to be conducted, to enter into the Credit Agreement and each Note issued on the date hereof and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby.

2.    The Borrower is in good standing wherever necessary to carry on its present business and operations, except in jurisdictions in which the failure to be in good standing has not had and will not have a Material Adverse Effect.

3.    The execution, delivery and performance of the Credit Agreement and each Note issued on the date hereof and the borrowing of the Loans and the request for the issuance of each Letter of Credit have been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate action by the Borrower.
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4.    The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Credit Agreement and the issuance, delivery and performance of the Notes issued thereunder today and the borrowing of the Loans and the request for the
issuance of each Letter of Credit do not and will not (i) violate any provision of law applicable to the Borrower, except to the extent such violation would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) violate the
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Amended and Restated By-laws of the Borrower, each, as amended, (iii) to my knowledge (after inquiry), violate any order, judgment or decree of any court or other agency of government binding on
the Borrower, except to the extent such violation would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (iv) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any
Contractual Obligation of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is filed as an exhibit to the most recent Form 10-K filed by the Borrower with the Securities and Exchange Commission, except to the extent such violation would not
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, (v) result in or require the creation or imposition of any material Lien upon any of the material properties or assets of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries under any such
Contractual Obligation or (vi) require any approval of stockholders or any approval or consent of any Person under any such Contractual Obligation.

5.    The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Credit Agreement and the issuance, delivery and performance by the Borrower of any Notes to be issued by the Borrower today will not require any registration
with, consent or approval of, or notice to, or other action to, with or by, any federal, state or other Governmental Authority or regulatory body other than any such registration, consent, approval, notice or other action which (i) has been or,
with respect to filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, will be duly made, given or taken or (ii) the failure to make, obtain, give or take would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

6.    Except as disclosed in the Financial Statements delivered to the Lenders pursuant to Section 4.03 of the Credit Agreement or as otherwise disclosed to the Lenders prior to the date hereof, to my knowledge (after inquiry), there is
no action, suit, proceeding, governmental investigation or arbitration (whether or not purportedly on behalf of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) at law or in equity or before or by any federal, state, municipal or other governmental
department, commission, board, bureau, agency, court or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, pending or, to my knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any property of the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries which is probable of being successful and which would have a Material Adverse Effect.

7.    The Borrower is not subject to any federal or state statute or regulation limiting its ability to incur Indebtedness for money borrowed as contemplated by the Credit Agreement.
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8.    Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock.

I am furnishing this opinion to you solely in connection with the entry by the Borrower into the Credit Agreement; the opinion is solely for your benefit and is not to be used, circulated, quoted or otherwise referred to for any other
purpose without my express permission, except that this opinion may be furnished (i) to bank examiners and other regulatory authorities should they so request in connection with their normal examinations, (ii) to the independent auditors
and attorneys of the Lenders, (iii) pursuant to order or legal process of any court or governmental agency, (iv) in connection with any legal action to which any Lender is a party arising out of the transactions contemplated by the Credit
Agreement, or (v) to any potential permitted assignee of or participant in the interest of any Lender under the Credit Agreement for its information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, parties referred to in clause (v) of this paragraph who
become Lenders after the date hereof may rely on this opinion as if it were addressed to them (provided that such delivery shall not constitute a re-issue or reaffirmation of this opinion as of any date after the date hereof).

Very truly yours,
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EXHIBIT D to
Credit Agreement

[Letterhead of
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP]

October 21, 2022

To the Lenders and Administrative Agent referred to below
c/o JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
    as Administrative Agent
383 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10179
Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have participated in the preparation of the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (the “Credit Agreement”) among Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”), and have acted as special counsel for the Administrative Agent for the purpose of rendering this opinion pursuant to Section 3.01(d) of the Credit Agreement. Terms defined in the Credit
Agreement are used herein as therein defined.

We have reviewed executed copies of the Credit Agreement and each Note issued on the date hereof (each, a “Note”).

We have also examined originals or copies, certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction, of such documents, corporate records, certificates of public officials and officers or representatives of the Borrower and other instruments and
have conducted such other investigations of fact and law as we have deemed necessary or advisable for purposes of this opinion letter. In rendering the opinions expressed herein, we have, without independent inquiry or investigation, assumed that
(i) all documents submitted to us as originals are authentic and complete, (ii) all documents submitted to us as copies conform to authentic, complete originals, (iii) all signatures on all documents that we reviewed are genuine, (iv) all natural persons
executing documents had and have the legal capacity to do so, (v) all statements in certificates of public officials and officers or representatives of the Borrower that we reviewed were and are accurate and (vi) all representations made by the
Borrower as to matters of fact in the documents that we reviewed were and are accurate.

Based on the foregoing, and subject to the additional assumptions and qualifications set forth below, we are of the opinion that:

1.    The execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Credit Agreement and each Note are within the Borrower’s corporate powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action.
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2.    The Credit Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Borrower and each Note to be issued thereunder today constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, in each case enforceable in accordance with its
terms.

The foregoing opinions are subject to the following assumptions and qualifications:

(a)    Our opinion in paragraph 2 above is subject to (x) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally (and the validity and the enforceability of indemnification provisions may be limited by federal or
state laws or policies underlying such laws), (y) concepts of reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing and (z) equitable principles of general applicability.

(b)    We express no opinion as to any provision in the Credit Agreement that purports to indemnify any Person for its own gross negligence or willful misconduct.

(c)    We express no opinion as to any provision in the Credit Agreement that purports to create rights of set-off in favor of participants or that provides for set-off to be made otherwise than in accordance with applicable laws.

(d)    We express no opinion as to any provision in the Credit Agreement that purports to waive objections to venue, claims that a particular jurisdiction is an inconvenient forum or the like.

(e)    We express no opinion as to whether a New York State or United States federal court would enforce the exclusivity of the jurisdiction of any New York State or United States federal court provided for in the Credit Agreement or any Note.

(f)    We express no opinion as to whether a United States federal court would have subject-matter or personal jurisdiction over a controversy arising under the Credit Agreement or any Note.

(g)    We express no opinion as to United States federal or any state securities laws.

(h)    We have assumed, without any independent verification, that (i) the Borrower is a corporation validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and (ii) the execution, delivery and performance by the
Borrower of the Credit Agreement and any Note do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any law, rule or regulation or any order, injunction, decree, agreement, contract or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or its
property is bound.

(i)    We express no opinion as to the effect (if any) of any law of any jurisdiction (except the State of New York) in which any Lender is located which may limit the rate of interest that such Lender may charge or collect.
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(j)    As to various provisions in the Credit Agreement that grant the Administrative Agent or the Lenders certain rights to make determinations or take actions in their discretion, we assume that such discretion will be exercised in good faith
and in a commercially reasonable manner.

(k)    We express no opinion with respect to Section 9.18 of the Credit Agreement.

The foregoing opinion is limited to the laws of the State of New York, the federal laws of the United States of America and, with respect to paragraph 1 above only, the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, except that we
express no opinion as to any law, rule or regulation that is applicable to the Borrower, the Credit Agreement or any Note or the transactions contemplated thereby solely because such law, rule or regulation is part of a regulatory regime applicable to
any party to the Credit Agreement or any Note or any of its affiliates due to the specific assets or business of such party or such affiliate.

This opinion is delivered to you in connection with the above matter. This opinion may not be relied upon by you for any other purpose or relied upon by or delivered to any other person without our prior written consent.

Very truly yours,
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EXHIBIT E-1 to
Credit Agreement

FORM OF NOTICE OF BORROWING

Pursuant to Section 2.01(b) of that certain Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 among Textron Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), the Lenders from time to time party thereto (the “Lenders”) and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (the “Agent”) (as amended to the date hereof being the “Credit Agreement”), this notice represents the undersigned Borrower’s request to borrow on __________, 20__  from the Lenders in
accordance with each Lender’s Pro Rata Share $__________ as [Base Rate/Term Benchmark/[RFR] ] Loans. [The initial Interest Period for such Loans is requested to be a __________ period.]  The proceeds of such Loans are to be
deposited in the Borrower’s account designated below. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

Dated :

TEXTRON INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

Account Designation
Name of Bank:
Account Number:

 To be a Business Day.

 Solely to the extent applicable pursuant to Section 2.09(b)(ii).

 Include bracketed text for borrowings of Term Benchmark Loans.

 To be delivered no later than (x) in the case of Base Rate Loans, 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the proposed Funding Date, (y) in the case of a Term Benchmark Loan, 10:30 a.m. (New York City time) three U.S. Government Securities Business Days in advance of the proposed
Funding Date and (z) in the case of an RFR Borrowing, 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) five U.S. Government Securities Business Days in advance of the proposed Funding Date.

1
2 3

4

1

2

3

4
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EXHIBIT E-2 to
Credit Agreement

FORM OF NOTICE OF CONVERSION/CONTINUATION

Pursuant to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (as amended to the date hereof, the “Credit Agreement”) among Textron Inc. (the “Borrower”), the Lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, this notice represents the undersigned Borrower’s request [A: to convert $_________ in principal amount of presently outstanding Base Rate Loans with an Interest Payment Date of __________,
20__ to Term Benchmark Loans on __________, 20__. The Interest Period for such Term Benchmark Loans commencing on such Interest Payment Date is requested to be a __________ period.] [B: to continue as Term Benchmark Loans
$__________ in principal amount of presently outstanding Term Benchmark Loans with an Interest Payment Date of __________, 20__. The Interest Period for such Term Benchmark Loans commencing on such Interest Payment Date is
requested to be a __________ period.]

Dated:

TEXTRON INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

 Insert A or B with appropriate insertions.

5

5
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EXHIBIT F to
Credit Agreement

TEXTRON INC.

Compliance Certificate

With reference to the provisions of Section 5.01 of the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Agreement”) among
Textron Inc. (the “Borrower”), the Lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, the undersigned, being the [Vice President and Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)] of the
Borrower, hereby certifies that:

(a)    the consolidated balance sheet at [insert date] and the related consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the [quarter] [year] then ended which were included in the accompanying [Quarterly] [Annual] Report on Form
10-K/10-Q for the [year/quarter] ended [insert date], present fairly the consolidated financial position of Textron Inc. at [insert date] and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the [quarter] [year] then
ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles which have been applied on a consistent basis during the period except as noted in such report;

(b)    with respect to Section 6.03 of the Agreement, the Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing did not at any time exceed an amount equal to 65% of Consolidated Capitalization (as such terms are defined in the
Agreement) as at [insert date] (see Schedule A attached hereto);

(c)    with respect to Section 6.05(b) of the Agreement, the Finance Company Leverage Ratio did not at any time exceed 9 to 1 as at [insert date] (see Schedule A attached hereto); and

(d)    the undersigned has reviewed the terms of the Agreement and has made, or caused to be made under the undersigned’s supervision, a review in reasonable detail of the transactions and condition of the Borrower and its
consolidated subsidiaries during the accounting period covered by the above-referenced financial statements and the undersigned has no knowledge of the existence as at the date of this certificate of any condition or event
which constitutes an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default (as such terms are defined in the Agreement).
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his hand this ___ day of _________, ____.

______________________________
[Vice President and Controller]

F-2
#96195808v6



Schedule A

TEXTRON INC.
Financial Covenant

(in millions)

[Insert Date]
Section 6.03 -

Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing (defined in the Credit Agreement as the sum of short-term and long-term indebtedness for borrowed money that is shown
on a balance sheet of Textron Manufacturing (or would be if a balance sheet were prepared on such date))

$

Maximum permitted:
Consolidated Capitalization, i.e., the sum of (without duplication):
  (a) Consolidated Indebtedness of Textron Manufacturing $
  (b) Plus Consolidated Net Worth (defined in the Credit Agreement as the stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (but excluding
the effects of the Borrower’s accumulated other comprehensive income/loss) calculated in conformity with GAAP)
  (b) Plus preferred stock of the Borrower
(c) Plus other securities of the Borrower convertible (whether mandatorily or at the option of the holder) into capital stock of the Borrower

Equals: Consolidated Capitalization $

X 65% equals maximum permitted as of [Insert Date] $
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[Insert Date]
Section 6.05(b) -

Finance Company Leverage Ratio
  (i) Finance Group debt (determined in a manner consistent with “Finance group debt” on the Borrower’s consolidated balance sheet included in the Financial Statements) $
  (ii) Minus Finance Group securitized debt (determined in a manner consistent with “Note 7. Debt and Credit Facilities” in the notes to the Financial Statements”)
(A) Equals: $

(iii) Total Finance Group assets $
  (iv) Minus Total Finance Group liabilities
(B) Equals: $

Ratio of (A) to (B): _____:1.00
Maximum Permitted 9.00:1.00
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EXHIBIT G to
Credit Agreement

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

This Assignment and Assumption (the “Assignment and Assumption”) is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below and is entered into by and between [the][each]  Assignor identified in item 1 below ([the][each, an]
“Assignor”) and [the][each] Assignee identified in item 2 below ([the][each, an] “Assignee”). [It is understood and agreed that the rights and obligations of [the Assignors][the Assignees]  hereunder are several and not joint.]  Capitalized
terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”), receipt of a copy of which is hereby acknowledged by [the][each] Assignee. The
Standard Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Assumption as if set forth herein in full.

For an agreed consideration, [the][each] Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to [the Assignee][the respective Assignees], and [the][each] Assignee hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from [the Assignor][the
respective Assignors], subject to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the Administrative Agent as contemplated below (i) all of [the Assignor’s][the
respective Assignors’] rights and obligations in [its capacity as a Lender][their respective capacities as Lenders] under the Credit Agreement and any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the
amount and percentage interest identified below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of [the Assignor][the respective Assignors] under the respective facilities identified below (including without limitation any letters of credit
and guarantees included in such facilities), and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes of action and any other right of [the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender)][the respective Assignors (in
their respective capacities as Lenders)] against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan transactions
governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including, but not limited to,

 For bracketed language here and elsewhere in this form relating to the Assignor(s), if the assignment is from a single Assignor, choose the first bracketed language. If the assignment is from multiple Assignors, choose the second bracketed language.

 Select as appropriate.

 Include bracketed language if there are either multiple Assignors or multiple Assignees.
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contract claims, tort claims, malpractice claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations sold and assigned by [the]
[any] Assignor to [the][any] Assignee pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above being referred to herein collectively as [the][an] “Assigned Interest”). Each such sale and assignment is without recourse to [the][any] Assignor and, except as
expressly provided in this Assignment and Assumption, without representation or warranty by [the][any] Assignor.

1.    Assignor[s]:        ________________________________

                ______________________________
    

2.    Assignee[s]:        ______________________________

                ______________________________
    [Assignee is an [Affiliate][Approved Fund] of [identify Lender]

3.    Borrower:        Textron Inc.

4.    Administrative Agent:    JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent under the Credit Agreement

5.    Credit Agreement:    The $1,000,000,000 Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 by and among Textron Inc., as borrower, the Lenders parties thereto, and the Administrative Agent referred to above
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6.     Assigned Interest[s]:

Assignor[s] Assignee[s] Aggregate Amount of Commitment/Loans for all Lenders Amount of Commitment/Loans Assigned
Percentage Assigned of Commitment/

Loans CUSIP Number
$ $ %
$ $ %
$ $ %

[7.    Trade Date:        ______________]

[Page break]

 List each Assignor, as appropriate.

 List each Assignee, as appropriate.

 Amount to be adjusted by the counterparties to take into account any payments or prepayments made between the Trade Date and the Effective Date.

 Set forth, to at least 9 decimals, as a percentage of the Commitment/Loans of all Lenders thereunder.

 To be completed if the Assignor(s) and the Assignee(s) intend that the minimum assignment amount is to be determined as of the Trade Date.
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Effective Date: _____________ ___, 20___ [TO BE INSERTED BY ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND WHICH SHALL BE THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF RECORDATION OF TRANSFER IN THE REGISTER THEREFOR.]

The terms set forth in this Assignment and Assumption are hereby agreed to:

ASSIGNOR[S]
[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]

By:_____________________
Name:
Title:

[NAME OF ASSIGNOR]

By:_____________________
Name:
Title:

ASSIGNEE[S]
[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]

By:_____________________
Name:
Title:

[NAME OF ASSIGNEE]

By:_____________________
Name:
Title:

 Add additional signature blocks as needed. Include both Fund/Pension Plan and manager making the trade (if applicable).

 Add additional signature blocks as needed. Include both Fund/Pension Plan and manager making the trade (if applicable).
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[Consented to and]  Accepted:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as
Administrative Agent

By: _________________________________
Name:
Title:

[Consented to:]

TEXTRON INC., as Borrower

By: ________________________________
Name:
Title:

 To be added only if the consent of the Administrative Agent is required by the terms of Section 9.01 of the Credit Agreement.

 To be added only if the consent of the Borrower is required by the terms of Section 9.01 of the Credit Agreement.
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Consented to and Accepted:

[NAME OF ISSUING BANKS]

By: _________________________________
Name:
Title:
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ANNEX 1

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR
ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

        1.    Representations and Warranties.

        1.1    Assignor[s]. [The][Each] Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of [the][the relevant] Assigned Interest, (ii) [the][such] Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other
adverse claim, (iii) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and (iv) it is not a Defaulting Lender;
and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (ii) the execution, legality, validity, enforceability,
genuineness, sufficiency or value of the Loan Documents or any collateral thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person obligated in respect of any Loan Document, (iv) any
requirements under applicable law for the Assignee to become a lender under the Credit Agreement or to charge interest at the rate set forth therein from time to time or (v) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any of its
Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their respective obligations under any Loan Document.

        1.2.    Assignee[s]. [The][Each] Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Assumption and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and to become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it meets all the requirements to be an assignee under Section 9.01(c) of the Credit Agreement (subject to such consents, if any, as may be required thereunder),
(iii) from and after the Effective Date, it shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of [the][the relevant] Assigned Interest, shall have the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it is
sophisticated with respect to decisions to acquire assets of the type represented by the Assigned Interest and either it, or the Person exercising discretion in making its decision to acquire the Assigned Interest, is experienced in acquiring
assets of such type, (v) it has received a copy of the Credit Agreement, and has received or has been accorded the opportunity to receive copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 thereof, as applicable,
and such other documents and information as it deems appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption and to purchase [the][such] Assigned Interest, (vi) it has, independently and
without reliance upon the Administrative Agent, any Lead Arranger, any Syndication Agent, any Documentation Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit
analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Assumption and to purchase [the][such] Assigned Interest, and (vii) if it is a Lender organized under the laws of a jurisdiction outside of the United States, attached to the Assignment
and Assumption is any documentation required to be delivered by it pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and executed by
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[the][such] Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will, independently and without reliance on the Administrative Agent, [the][any] Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the
time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Loan Documents, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations which by the terms of the Loan Documents are required to
be performed by it as a Lender.

        2.    Payments. From and after the Effective Date, the Administrative Agent shall make all payments in respect of [the][each] Assigned Interest (including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to [the][the relevant]
Assignor for amounts which have accrued to but excluding the Effective Date and to [the][the relevant] Assignee for amounts which have accrued from and after the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrative Agent
shall make all payments of interest, fees or other amounts paid or payable in kind from and after the Effective Date to [the][the relevant] Assignee.

        3.    General Provisions. This Assignment and Assumption shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. This Assignment and Assumption may be executed in any
number of counterparts, which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Assignment and Assumption by telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Assignment and Assumption. This Assignment and Assumption shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York (without regard to conflicts of laws principles).
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EXHIBIT H to
Credit Agreement

_____ __, 20__

EXTENSION AGREEMENT

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent
under the Credit Agreement referred to below

383 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10179

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Effective as of [insert pre-effectiveness Termination Date], the undersigned hereby agrees to extend its Commitment and the Termination Date under the Credit Agreement dated as of October 21, 2022 (as amended, restated,

amended and restated, supplement or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”) among Textron Inc., the Lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, for one year
to [date to which the Termination Date is to be extended] pursuant to Section 2.01(d) of the Credit Agreement. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement are used herein as therein defined.

This Extension Agreement shall be governed by, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York (without regard to conflicts of law principles). This Extension Agreement may be signed in
any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts together shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

[NAME OF LENDER]

By:
Name:
Title:

[for Lenders requiring two signature blocks]

By:
Name:
Title:
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Agreed and Accepted:

TEXTRON INC.,
as Borrower
By:

Name:
Title:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent
By:

Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Scott C. Donnelly, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Textron Inc. certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Textron Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 27, 2022 /s/ Scott C. Donnelly
Scott C. Donnelly
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Frank T. Connor, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Textron Inc. certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Textron Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: October 27, 2022 /s/ Frank T. Connor
Frank T. Connor Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

TEXTRON INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Textron Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended October 1, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Scott C. Donnelly, Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 27, 2022 /s/ Scott C. Donnelly
Scott C. Donnelly
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

TEXTRON INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Textron Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended October 1, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Frank T. Connor, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: October 27, 2022 /s/ Frank T. Connor
Frank T. Connor
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


